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Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement

On December 7, 2021, Xometry, Inc. (the “Company”) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) by and among the
Company, Thomas Publishing Company, a New York corporation (“Thomas”), NAASOM Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, as the shareholders’ representative thereunder. Pursuant to
the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will be merged with and into Thomas, with Thomas continuing as the surviving company and becoming a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Acquisition”).

The aggregate consideration payable in exchange for all of the outstanding equity interests of Thomas is $300 million subject to customary adjustments
as set forth in the Merger Agreement, payable in cash and shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. The Company expects to pay approximately
$198.5 million of cash and to issue approximately 2,073,422 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock to holders of Thomas shares. Holders of
Thomas shares that are not accredited investors will receive all-cash consideration.

The Acquisition has been approved by the board of directors of each of the Company and Thomas, and more than 90% of the shareholders of Thomas
have entered into agreements to support the transaction.

The Merger Agreement contains representations, warranties and covenants of the Company, Thomas and Merger Sub that are customary for a
transaction of this nature.

The Merger Agreement also contains customary indemnification provisions whereby the shareholders of Thomas will indemnify the Company for
certain losses arising out of inaccuracies in, or breaches of, the representations, warranties and covenants of Thomas, pre-closing taxes of Thomas, and
certain other matters, subject to certain caps and thresholds.

The Acquisition is expected to close on or about December 10, 2021. The obligation of each party to consummate the Acquisition is also conditioned on
the other party’s representations and warranties being true and correct (subject to certain materiality exceptions) and the other party having performed in
all material respects its obligations under the Merger Agreement.

The foregoing description of the Merger Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the Merger
Agreement, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 hereto and is incorporated by reference herein. The Merger Agreement has been attached to provide
investors with information regarding its terms. It is not intended to provide any other factual information about the Company, Thomas or Merger Sub. In
particular, the assertions embodied in the representations and warranties contained in the Merger Agreement are qualified by information in a
confidential disclosure schedule provided by Thomas to the Company in connection with the signing of the Merger Agreement. This confidential
disclosure schedule contains information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the representations and warranties and certain covenants set
forth in the Merger Agreement. Moreover, certain representations and warranties in the Merger Agreement were used for the purposes of allocating risk
between the Company and Thomas rather than establishing matters of fact. Accordingly, the representations and warranties in the Merger Agreement
should not be relied on as characterization of the actual state of facts about the Company, Thomas or Merger Sub.



Item 3.02. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

The issuance of the shares of the Company’s Class A common stock in connection with the Acquisition is exempt from registration under
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or Regulation D thereunder, as a transaction by an issuer not involving a
public offering.

Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K contains a more detailed description of the Merger Agreement, and is incorporated into this Item 3.02 by
reference.

 
Item 7.01. Regulation FD Disclosure

On December 8, 2021, the Company and Thomas issued a joint press release relating to the Acquisition. A copy of the press release is attached hereto as
Exhibit 99.1.

As provided in General Instruction B.2 of Form 8-K, the information in this Item 7.01 and Exhibit 99.1 incorporated herein shall not be deemed to be
“filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, nor shall they be deemed to be incorporated by reference in any
filing under the Securities Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such a filing

 
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits

(a) Financial Statements of Business Acquired.

The audited financial statements of Thomas Publishing Company as of and for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, including the notes
related thereto, are filed as Exhibit 99.3 to this report and incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Pro Forma Financial Information.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements as of September 30, 2021 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and the
year ended December 31, 2020, including the notes related thereto, are filed as Exhibit 99.4 to this report and incorporated herein by reference.

(d) Exhibits.
 
Exhibit

No.   Description

2.1†

  

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated December 7, 2021, by and among the Xometry, Inc., Thomas Publishing Company, NAASOM
Merger Sub Inc., and wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, as the
shareholders’ representative

99.1   Press release, dated December 8, 2021

99.2   Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

99.3   Audited financial statements of Thomas Publishing Company as of September 30, 2021 and 2020

99.4
  

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements as of September 30, 2021 and for the nine months ended September 30,
2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020

104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
 
† We have omitted the schedules to this Exhibit in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(2). A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will

be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon its request.



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

   XOMETRY, INC.

Date: December 8, 2021   By:  /s/ Randolph Altschuler
   Randolph Altschuler
   Chief Executive Officer
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY,

XOMETRY, INC.,

NAASOM MERGER SUB INC.,

and

SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE SERVICES LLC,
as the Shareholders’ Representative

Dated as of December 7, 2021
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, is entered into as of December 7, 2021 (this “Agreement”), by and among Thomas Publishing
Company, a New York corporation (the “Company”), Xometry, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Buyer”), NAASOM Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware
corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Buyer (“Merger Sub”) and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability company,
solely in its capacity as the representative of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders’ Representative”).

RECITALS

A. The respective boards of directors of the Company and Merger Sub have (i) determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated
hereby, including the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company (the “Merger”), upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement
and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the New York Business Corporation Law (the “BCL”) and the Delaware General Corporation Law
(the “DGCL”), are in the best interests of their respective companies and shareholders; (ii) approved this Agreement and the transactions contemplated
hereby, including the Merger, in accordance with the applicable provisions of the BCL and the DGCL; and (iii) submitted this Agreement to the
respective shareholders for their consideration in accordance with Section 903 of the BCL and Section 251 of the DGCL, as applicable.

B. The board of directors of the Buyer has (i) determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger, are
in the best interests of the Buyer and its stockholders and (ii) approved this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger.

C. Contemporaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, and as a condition and inducement to Buyer’s and Merger Sub’s
willingness to enter into this Agreement, Shareholders holding at least ninety percent (90%) of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company
Capital Stock (and holding a number of shares of Company Capital Stock that are sufficient to meet the Requisite Shareholder Approval) are delivering
support agreements (the “Support Agreements”) in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A and written shareholders’ consents (the “Shareholders’
Consents”) in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.

AGREEMENT

In consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties
agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 Certain Defined Terms. For purposes of this Agreement:

“Account Receivable” means any accounts or notes receivable of any of the Group Companies.



“Acquisition Proposal” means any offer or proposal (other than an offer or proposal by Buyer or any of its Affiliates) to engage in an any
transaction or series of related transactions (other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) involving: (i) any direct or indirect purchase or
other acquisition by any Person or “group” (as defined in or under Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”)), whether from the Company and/or any other Person(s), any equity interests of the Group Companies; (ii) any direct or indirect purchase or other
acquisition by any Person or “group” (as defined in or under Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) of any material assets of the Group Companies (other
than the sale or license of products in the ordinary course of business); or (iii) any merger, consolidation, business combination or other similar
transaction involving the Group Companies which would result in any Person or “group” who does not currently own a majority of the outstanding
equity interest of the Group Companies owning a majority of the equity interests of the resulting entity.

“Action” means any claim, action, suit, arbitration, proceeding, investigation, audit, complaint, charge, assessment, interference,
opposition, reexamination or inquiry by or before any Governmental Authority.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with, such first Person.

“Ancillary Agreements” means the Restrictive Covenants Agreements, the Escrow Agreement, the Exchange Agent Agreement and the
Support Agreements.

“BIS” means the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security.

“Business” means the business of developing, marketing, selling or licensing information technology products (including digital marketing
services) that connect buyers and suppliers in any industrial sector.

“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which banks are required or authorized by Law to be
closed in the City of New York.

“Buyer Common Stock” means shares of Xometry, Inc. Class A common stock of Buyer, par value $0.000001.

“Buyer Material Adverse Effect” means any event, change, occurrence or effect that would reasonably be expected to prevent, materially
delay or materially impede the performance by the Buyer of its obligations under this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby.

“Buyer Stock Price” means $48.95.

“Capital Stock” means, with respect to any Person, all of the shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such
Person, all of the warrants, options or other rights for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or
profit interests in) such Person, all of the securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests
in) such Person or warrants, rights or options for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of such shares (or such other interests), and all of the
other ownership or profit interests in such Person (including partnership, member or trust interests therein), whether voting or nonvoting.
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“CARES Act” means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020, as amended, and any administrative or other
guidance published with respect thereto by any Governmental Entity or any other Law or executive order or executive memorandum (including the
Memorandum on Deferring Payroll Tax Obligations in Light of the Ongoing COVID-19 Disaster, dated August 8, 2020) intended to address the
consequences of COVID-19 (in each case, including any comparable provisions of state, local or non-U.S. Law and including any related or similar
orders or declarations from any Governmental Entity).

“Cash” means an aggregate amount equal to all cash and cash equivalents (only to the extent convertible to cash within 30 days) of the
Group Companies, including any uncleared checks and drafts or wire transfers received or deposited or available for deposit for the account of the
Group Companies that are not yet credited to the account of the Group Companies, but net of (a) checks, drafts or wire transfers issued by the Group
Companies but not yet cleared, (b) Restricted Cash, and (c) all overdrafts and issued and uncleared checks in excess of bank balances that would be
reported as accounts payable under GAAP. For purposes of determining Cash in or expressed with reference to a currency other than U.S. Dollars, such
amount will be determined in U.S. Dollars using the “In US$” rate shown in the Wall Street Journal’s “New York Closing Snapshot” for the close of
business in the United States on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date.

“Cash Merger Consideration” means an amount, in cash, equal to (i) 61.8549075% of (ii) the Estimated Merger Consideration less the
Preferred Stock Cash Consideration.

“Class A Common Stock” means the Company’s Class A Common Stock, par value $0.10 per share.

“Class B Common Stock” means the Company’s Class B Common Stock, par value $0.10 per share.

“Closing Bonuses” means the bonus payments set forth on Schedule 1.1(a) of the Disclosure Schedules.

“COBRA” means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, and as codified in Section 4980B of the
Code and Section 601 et seq. of ERISA.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended through the date hereof.

“Common Stock” means the Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock.

“Contract” or “Contracts” means all written contracts, subcontracts, agreements, open sales or purchase orders, leases, subleases, licenses,
instruments and other legally binding commitments, undertaking, arrangements or understandings of any kind.
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“control,” including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with,” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power
to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, as trustee or executor, as
general partner or managing member, by contract or otherwise.

“Conveyance Taxes” means sales, use, commercial activity, value-added, transfer, stamp, stock transfer, property transfer and similar
Taxes.

“COVID-19” means the novel coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2 or COVID-19 (and all related strains and sequences), including any
intensification, resurgence or any evolutions or mutations thereof or related or associate epidemics, pandemic or disease outbreaks.

“COVID-19 Measures” means any applicable quarantine, “shelter in place,” “stay at home,” workforce reduction, social distancing,
shutdown, closure, sequester or any other Laws, orders, regulations, directives, guidelines or recommendations by any Governmental Authority with
jurisdiction over the Company or its Subsidiaries, in response to COVID-19, including the CARES Act.

“COVID-19 Response” means any action reasonably taken, or reasonably omitted to be taken, by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
in response to, or to mitigate the adverse effects of, COVID-19 or any COVID-19 Measure.

“Data Security Requirements” means, collectively, all of the following to the extent relating to data treatment (including the collection,
processing, use, transfer, disposition, or protection of data) or otherwise relating to privacy, security, or security breach notification requirements, and in
each case applicable to any Group Company, to the conduct of the business of the Group Companies, or to any of the Group Company Systems: (a) each
Group Company’s own written statements, rules, policies and procedures (whether internal or external facing); (b) all applicable Laws; and (c) industry
and self-regulatory standards applicable to any Group Company that are contractually or legally binding to the Group Company (including, if applicable,
the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS)).

“Dissolved Subsidiary” or “Dissolved Subsidiaries” means (i) Thomas (Beijing) International Advertisement Co., Ltd., which was
officially deregistered on July 8, 2015; (ii) Thomas Industrial Network Germany GmbH, which was officially dissolved in August 2019; and
(iii) Thomas Industrial Publishing Company India Private Limited, which was dissolved on August 17, 2021.

“Encumbrance” means any charge, claim, mortgage, lien, option, pledge, security interest, easement, lease, sublease, covenant, right of
way, restriction, licenses or other encumbrance of any kind (other than those created under applicable securities laws and under the Governing
Documents of any Group Company).

“Enterprise Value” means $300,000,000.

“ERISA Affiliate” means, with respect to any entity, trade or business, any other entity, trade or business that is a member of a group
described in Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code or Section 4001(b)(1) of ERISA that includes the first entity, trade or business, or that is or was a
member of the same “controlled group” as the first entity, trade or business pursuant to Section 4001(a)(14) of ERISA.
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“Escrow Account” means an account established with the Escrow Agent under the Escrow Agreement into which the respective Escrow
Amounts are deposited.

“Escrow Agent” means Wilmington Trust, N.A.

“Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Agreement among the Shareholders’ Representative, the Buyer and the Escrow Agent, in
substantially the form of Exhibit C attached hereto, with such revisions as are required by the Escrow Agent and are mutually satisfactory to the Buyer
and the Shareholders’ Representative on behalf of the Shareholders.

“Escrow Amount” means $10,000,000.

“Escrow Funds” means, at any time, the portion of the Escrow Amount then remaining in the Escrow Accounts.

“Estimated Merger Consideration” means (i) the Enterprise Value, plus (ii) the Estimated Cash, plus (iii) the Working Capital Overage, if
any, minus (iv) the Estimated Indebtedness, minus (v) the Working Capital Underage, if any, minus (vi) the Estimated Transaction Expenses, minus
(vii) the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Holdback Amount; minus (viii) the Escrow Amount.

“Exchange Agent Agreement” means that certain Agreement, by and among the Exchange Agent, the Company and Buyer, in a form to be
mutually agreed upon by the Buyer and the Company.

“Excluded Assets” means (i) all securities held by the Company (other than its ownership interest Thomas Publishing Company LLC) and
(ii) the assets, properties, rights and interests of the Company listed on Schedule 1.1(b) of the Disclosure Schedules.

“Fraud” means, with respect to any party, fraud with the intent to deceive committed by such Person in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement (and not, for the avoidance of doubt, negligent, reckless, constructive or implied fraud).

“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles as in effect on the date hereof.

“Governing Documents” means, with respect to any Person (other than an individual, trust or estate), the certificate of incorporation,
by-laws, limited partnership agreement, certificate of limited partnership, operating agreement, certificate of formation and other equivalent
organizational documents of such Person.

“Governmental Authority” means any United States or non-United States national, federal, state, provincial, local or supranational
governmental, regulatory, self-regulatory or administrative authority, agency or commission or any judicial or arbitral body.
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“Group Companies” means the Company and its Subsidiaries.

“Group Company Employee” means any current or former employee, director or officer of any of the Group Companies.

“Group Company Systems” means the computer firmware, hardware and software and other similar items of automated, computerized or
software systems used, owned or relied upon by the Group Companies in the conduct of their business.

“Hazardous Material” means any hazardous material, substance, pollutant, toxic chemical or agent, contaminant, solid waste, hazardous
waste, oil, petroleum and petroleum constituents and products, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, and any other substance regulated under any
Environmental Law.

“Indebtedness” means, as at a specified date, without duplication (i) the amount of all Liabilities for borrowed money of the Group
Companies (including any unpaid principal, premium, accrued and unpaid interest, prepayment penalties, commitment and other fees, reimbursements,
indemnities and all other amounts payable in connection therewith); (ii) Liabilities of the Group Companies evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, or
other similar instruments or debt securities; (iii) all Liabilities, contingent or otherwise, of the Group Companies in respect of any letters of credit to the
extent drawn (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any obligations under letters of credit to the extent they remain open or undrawn) or bankers’
acceptances; (iv) Liabilities of the Group Companies under any interest rate swap, forward contract or other hedging arrangement of the Group
Companies; (v) all Liabilities of the Group Companies (including accrued interest) without duplication under a lease agreement that would be
capitalized pursuant to GAAP but excluding any breakage costs, prepayment penalties or fees or other similar amounts payable in connection with any
capitalized leases unless such breakage costs, prepayment penalties, fees or other similar amounts are due and will be paid at the Closing; (vi) all
Liabilities for the deferred purchase price for the purchase of property of the Group Companies that are not trade accounts payable, including earn-outs;
(vii) all Liabilities for off-balance sheet financing, including synthetic leases and project financing; (viii) any payroll or other employment Taxes of the
Group Companies deferred pursuant to the CARES Act; (ix) all unpaid Taxes of the Group Companies for any Pre-Closing Tax Period (for the
avoidance of doubt, after giving effect to Pre-Closing NOLs, and not including any Conveyance Taxes); (x) all Liabilities for guarantees of any liability
of a third party of the type described in the foregoing clauses (i) through (ix); (xi) all interest, principal, prepayment penalties, fees or expenses to the
extent payable in respect of those items listed in clauses (i) through (xi) of this definition; and (xii) all contribution expenses for the Company’s 401(k)
plan accrued or required by GAAP to be accrued by the Company as of the Closing Date.

“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property rights arising under the laws of the United States or any other worldwide jurisdiction
with respect to the following: (i) trade names, trademarks and service marks (registered and unregistered), domain names, URL addresses, logos,
slogans, trade dress and similar rights and applications to register any of the foregoing, together with all of the goodwill associated therewith
(collectively, “Marks”); (ii) patents and patent applications and rights in respect of utility models or industrial designs, patent disclosures and inventions,
including any continuations, divisionals, continuations-in-part,
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substitutions, renewals and reissues for any of the foregoing (collectively, “Patents”); (iii) copyrights (registered or unregistered), in both published and
unpublished works and copyrightable works (including Internet websites and content thereof and computer software, data bases and documentation
thereof), and registrations and applications therefor (collectively, “Copyrights”); and (iv) trade secrets and other confidential information, including
know-how, inventions (whether patentable or not reduced to practice), compositions, discoveries, methods, processes, technical data, business
information, financial and marketing plans, specifications, research and development information, drawings, specifications, procedures, software, source
code, designs, business plans, technology and other proprietary or confidential information, including customer and supplier lists, in each case that
derives economic value from not being generally known to other Persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure, but excluding any
registered Patents that cover or protect any of the foregoing (collectively, “Trade Secrets”).

“IRS” means the Internal Revenue Service of the United States.

“Judgment” means any judgment, injunction, writ, order, decree, ruling, charge, stipulation, determination or binding award of any
Governmental Authority or arbitrator.

“Knowledge” means, (i) with respect to the Company, the actual knowledge, of any of the persons listed on Schedule 1.1(d) of the
Disclosure Schedules, after reasonable investigation and inquiry, and (ii), with respect to the Buyer, the actual knowledge of any of the persons listed on
Schedule 1.1(e) of the Disclosure Schedules, after reasonable investigation and inquiry.

“Law” means any statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, rule of common law, code, treaty or other legally enforceable requirement of
any Governmental Authority or any Judgment.

“Leased Real Property” means the real property leased by the Group Companies as tenant, together with, to the extent leased by the Group
Companies, all buildings and other structures, facilities or improvements currently or as of the Closing Date located thereon and all easements, licenses,
permits, rights and appurtenances of the Group Companies relating to the foregoing.

“Liability” means any debt, liability, obligation, loss, damage, cost or expense of any kind, character or description, whether asserted or
unasserted, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, disputed or undisputed, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, joint or several and
due or to become due, vested or unvested, executory, determined, determinable or otherwise, including any liability for Taxes.

“Losses” means shall mean the amount of any damages, Liability, and other out-of-pocket cost or expense (including reasonable
attorneys’, accountants’, consultants’ and experts’ fees and expenses, in each case, directly or indirectly paid, sustained or incurred by the Indemnified
Parties (or any of them) in connection with any matter (including investigation) for which an Indemnifying Party is required to provide indemnification
herein, excluding punitive, special or exemplary damages unless such damages are awarded to a third party.
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“Material Adverse Effect” means any change, effect, event, occurrence, state of facts or development (each, an “Effect”) that, individually
or in the aggregate, is or would reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the assets, liabilities, business, condition (financial or otherwise) or
results of operations of the Group Companies, taken as a whole; provided, however, that no Effect caused by or resulting from any of the following,
either alone or in combination, shall constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be, a “Material Adverse Effect”
(unless, with respect to any matter described in the following clauses (i) and (ix), such matter has a disproportionate effect on the Company relative to
other comparable businesses operating in the industry in which the Company operates): (i) any Effect affecting the Company’s industry generally;
(ii) global, national or regional political conditions, including hostilities, political instability, pandemics (including COVID-19 or any COVID-19
Measure or COVID-19 Responses), acts of terrorism or war; (iii) any Effect affecting the economy of the United States generally, including changes in
the credit, debt, capital or financial markets (including changes in interest or exchange rates) or the economy of any region in which the Company
conducts business; (iv) any failure, in and of itself, by the Company to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts, or revenue or earnings
predictions for any period (it being understood that the underlying performance, facts or occurrences giving rise to such failure may be deemed to
constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be, a Material Adverse Effect); (v) any action taken by the Company
which is required by this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement (including any Effect that results from the Buyer’s unreasonable refusal to permit the
Company to take any of the actions set forth clauses in (d), (h), (j), (m), (n) or (o) of Section 5.1); (vi) any breach by the Buyer of its obligations under
this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement; (vii) the announcement or pendency of this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby; (viii) natural disasters or calamities other than damage or destruction to any of the assets or properties of the Company;
or (ix) changes in any applicable Laws or applicable accounting regulations or principles or interpretations thereof.

“Merger Consideration” means the Estimated Merger Consideration, as it may be adjusted in accordance with Section 2.10.

“Net Working Capital” means, as at a specified date and without duplication, an amount (which may be positive or negative) equal to
(i) the current assets of the Group Companies (other than Excluded Assets) that are included in the line item categories of current assets specifically
identified on Exhibit D, minus (ii) the current liabilities of the Group Companies that are included in the line item categories of current liabilities
specifically identified on Exhibit D. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in no event shall “Net Working Capital” include any amounts
included in Closing Cash, Closing Indebtedness, or Transaction Expenses.

“OFAC” means the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control.

“Per Common Share Cash Merger Consideration” means the (i) Cash Merger Consideration, divided by (ii) the aggregate amount of all
shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than shares of Common Stock owned by the Company
to be cancelled in accordance with Section 2.7(c)).
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“Per Common Share Merger Consideration” means the Per Common Share Cash Merger Consideration plus the Per Common Share Stock
Merger Consideration.

“Per Common Share Stock Merger Consideration” means the (i) Stock Merger Consideration, divided by (ii) the aggregate amount of all
shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time other than shares of Common Stock owned by the Company to
be cancelled in accordance with Section 2.7(c)).

“Per Preferred Share Merger Consideration” means the (i) Preferred Stock Cash Consideration, divided by (ii) the aggregate amount of all
shares of Preferred Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time other than shares of Preferred Stock owned by the Company to
be cancelled in accordance with Section 2.7(c)).

“Permit” means any permits (including any occupancy permit), licenses, franchises, approvals, certificates, consents, waivers, exemptions,
registrations, or other authorizations of any Governmental Authority.

“Permitted Encumbrance” means (i) statutory liens for current Taxes not yet due or delinquent or the validity or amount of which is being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which appropriate reserves have been accrued, (ii) mechanics’, carriers’, workers’, repairers’
and other similar liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice relating to obligations as to which there is no
default on the part of the Company or the validity or amount of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which
appropriate reserves have been accrued, (iii) liens securing the performance of bids, trade contracts or leases listed on Schedule 3.11(c) of the Disclosure
Schedules, (iv) liens incurred or deposits made in the ordinary course of business and on a basis consistent with past practice in connection with
workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance or other social security legislation, (v) zoning, entitlement, conservation restriction and other land use
and environmental regulations promulgated by Governmental Authorities and that are not materially violated by the current use or occupancy of such
real property or the Company’s operations thereon, (vi) any right, interest, lien, title or other Encumbrance of a lessor or sublessor under any lease or
other similar agreement or in the property being leased listed on Schedule 3.11(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, as well as any Encumbrance of any
mortgagee of any such lessor or sublessor with respect to the property being leased listed on Schedule 3.11(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, and
(vii) non-exclusive outbound licenses of Intellectual Property granted under Contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business with customers of
any Group Company.

“Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, syndicate, person, trust,
association, joint stock company, joint venture, organization or other entity, including any Governmental Authority, and including any successor, by
merger or otherwise, of any of the foregoing.
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“Personal Information” means any data or information that, alone or in combination with other data or information, allows the
identification of or can be linked to or associated with an individual, including name, street address, telephone number, e-mail address, photograph,
social security number, customer or account number, IP address, any persistent device identifier, session logs or similar online or in-platform activity
information, or any information that is otherwise considered personal information, personal data, protected health information, payment card data, or
personally identifiable information under applicable Law. For the avoidance of doubt, Personal Information refers both to Personal Information held or
processed by any Group Company as well as Personal Information held or processed by data processors on such Group Company’s behalf.

“PPP Loan” means any “Paycheck Protection Program” loans or payments or other loans, grants or similar financial assistance under or
pursuant to with the CARES Act.

“Pre-Closing NOLs” means any available net operating loss carryforwards of the Group Companies, in each case to the extent actually
utilized in a Pre-Closing Tax Period, in an amount not to exceed $20,000,000 in total for the tax years ending (i) September 30, 2021, and (ii) the
Closing Date.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax Period ending on or before the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle Period ending on the
Closing Date.

“Pre-Closing Taxes” means (i) any obligation of or with respect to the Group Companies for any Taxes for any Pre-Closing Tax Period;
(ii) any Taxes of any Person for which a Group Company becomes liable as a result of being or having been, at any time before Closing, part of any
consolidated, combined, affiliated, aggregated, unitary or similar group for Tax purposes (including as a result of Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6
or any comparable provision of any applicable Tax Law); (iii) any and all Taxes of any Person imposed on a Group Company as a transferee or
successor, by Contract or assumption or pursuant to any Law, which Taxes relate to an event or transaction occurring on or before the Closing Date; and
(iv) any Conveyance Taxes for which Sellers are liable pursuant to Section 6.4, in each case, for the avoidance of doubt, after giving effect to the
Pre-Closing NOLs and except to the extent included in Indebtedness or Net Working Capital to reduce the Purchase Price.

“Preferred Stock” means the Company’s Second Preferred Stock, par value $100 per share.

“Preferred Stock Cash Consideration” means $148,400, which represents the par value of the Preferred Stock, plus any accrued dividends
on the Preferred Stock.

“Property Taxes” means any real, personal and intangible property Taxes.

“Release” means any releasing, spilling, leaking, pumping, emitting, pouring, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, disposing,
dumping (including the abandonment or discarding of barrels, containers or closed receptacles containing any Hazardous Material) into the environment
(including, without limitation, indoor and ambient air, water, soil vapor, surface water, groundwater, surface land, subsurface land and natural resources).

“Representatives” means, with respect to any Person, the officers, directors, principals, employees, agents, auditors, advisors, bankers and
other representatives of such Person.
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“Restricted Cash” means, any cash or cash equivalents (a) designated as restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheet of the Company
and its Subsidiaries, (b) that is not freely usable by the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the Closing because it is subject to restrictions or limitations
to use or distribution by Law, Contract or otherwise, (c) held in escrow accounts or security deposits, or (d) located outside of the United States and for
which its repatriation to the United States would be subject to restrictions or limitations by Law.

“Restricted Party” means any Person that is (i) listed on OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List or on other
sanctions lists administered by OFAC, (ii) listed on BIS’s Denied Persons List, Entity List, and other lists administered and enforced by BIS, (iii) listed
on any other applicable proscribed parties list, (iv) located in or organized under the Laws of any Sanctioned Country, or (v) in the aggregate, 50% or
greater owned, directly or indirectly, or otherwise controlled by any of the foregoing.

“Restrictive Covenants Agreement” means the Restrictive Covenants Agreement executed by each Person set forth on Schedule 1.1(f) of
the Disclosure Schedules, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.

“Retained Liabilities” means collectively, (i) any Liabilities arising out of or related to the Excluded Assets and (ii) any Liabilities arising
out of or related to the conduct of the business on or prior to the Closing Date.

“Return” means any return, declaration, report, statement, information statement and other document required to be filed with respect to
Taxes.

“Sanctioned Country” means any country or region that is or has in the last five (5) years been the subject or target of a comprehensive
embargo under U.S. or other relevant jurisdiction’s trade or economic sanctions (including, without limitation, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Syria, and the
Crimea region of Ukraine).

“Sanctions” means all economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, administered or enforced from time to time by the
U.S. government, including but not limited to, OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List and other regulations and sanctions
lists administered and enforced by OFAC; BIS’s Denied Persons List, Entity List, and other lists administered and enforced by BIS; and any other
applicable proscribed parties list.

“Security Incident” means any actual occurrence that has resulted in an adverse effect to any Group Company Systems or Personal
Information, including an actual occurrence that compromises the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of any Group Company System or Personal
Information. For the avoidance of doubt, “Security Incident” includes: (a) any act to gain unauthorized access to, disrupt or misuse a Group Company
System or Personal Information; (b) any actual breach of security that led to the accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorized
disclosure of, or access to, Personal Information; and (c) any actual denial of service, or unauthorized entry, access, collection, use, processing, storage,
sharing, distribution, transfer, disclosure, or destruction of, any Group Company Systems or Personal Information.

“Shareholder” means a holder of Company Capital Stock.
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“Shareholders’ Representative Expense Holdback Amount” means $100,000.

“Stock Merger Consideration” means that number of shares of Buyer Common Stock equal to (i) (A) 38.1450925% of (B) the Estimated
Merger Consideration less the Preferred Stock Cash Consideration, divided by (ii) the Buyer Stock Price.

“Straddle Period” means any Tax Period beginning before the Closing Date and ending after the Closing Date.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person of which at least 50% of the outstanding voting securities or other voting
equity interests are owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such first Person, and with respect to the Company, such term also includes, without
limitation, any of the entities listed in Schedule 3.1(b) of the Disclosure Schedules.

“Target Net Working Capital” means $3,142,234.

“Tax” or “Taxes” means (i) all taxes, charges, fees, duties, levies or other assessments, including income Taxes, gross receipts, capital
stock, net proceeds, ad valorem, turnover, real, personal and other property (tangible and intangible), sales, use, franchise, excise, value-added, stamp,
leasing, lease, user, transfer, fuel, excess profits, occupational, interest equalization, unitary, severance and employees’ income withholding, escheat,
unclaimed property obligations, unemployment and Social Security taxes, duties, assessments and charges (including the recapture of any tax items such
as investment tax credits), which are imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, penalties or additions to tax related thereto,
(ii) any and all liability for amounts described in clause (i) of any member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group of which the
Company (or any predecessor of any of the foregoing) is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date, including pursuant to Treasury Regulations
section 1.1502-6 or any analogous or similar state, local or foreign Law or regulation, and (iii) any and all liability for amounts described in clause (i) or
(ii) of any Person (other than the Company) imposed on the Company as a transferee or successor, by Contract (other than any commercial agreement
entered into in the ordinary course of business that is not primarily related to Taxes) or pursuant to any Law, rule or regulation, which Taxes relate to an
event or transaction occurring before the Closing.

“Tax Period” means any period prescribed by any Governmental Authority for which a Return is required to be filed or a Tax is required to
be paid.

“Transaction Expenses” means, (i) to the extent not paid by the Shareholders, the Company or otherwise prior to the Closing Date, the
fees, costs and expenses (including legal, accounting, investment banking and financial advisory expenses) incurred by the Company on or prior to the
Closing Date in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (ii) all bonuses, change-of-control, success, retention, severance,
perquisites grants or cash buyouts thereof (including vehicle, drivers’ insurance and COBRA related payments) or other similar compensatory payments,
whether payable by the Company at or following Closing and whether alone or in connection with any other event, including the additional passage of
the time, to any current or former Representative of the Company upon consummation of the transactions
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contemplated hereunder, including the Closing Bonuses (including, in each case, the employer portion of any payroll, social security, unemployment or
similar taxes), all of which shall be calculated without any offset for any consulting, salary, wage or other similar compensation paid by Buyer or its
Affiliates that are not related to the Transaction Expenses following the Closing Date; provided, however, that Buyer shall be responsible for, and shall
pay when owed (and not reduce Merger Consideration for), any retention or stay payment made or to be made to any Group Company Employee to the
extent such payments are established by Buyer or requested and approved by Buyer in writing prior to the Closing.

“Transaction Percentage” means, with respect to any holder of Common Stock, the pro rata portion of the Estimated Merger Consideration
paid to such Person at Closing relative to the Estimated Merger Consideration paid to all holders of Common Stock at the Closing.

“Working Capital Overage” shall exist when (and shall be equal to the amount by which) the Estimated Net Working Capital exceeds the
Target Net Working Capital.

“Working Capital Underage” shall exist when (and shall be equal to the amount by which) the Target Net Working Capital exceeds the
Estimated Net Working Capital.

Section 1.2 Table of Definitions. The following terms have the meanings set forth in the Sections referenced below:
 

Definitions   Location

ACA   3.10(b)
Agreement   Preamble
Applicable Accounting Principles   2.10(a)
Balance Sheet   3.5(a)
Basket Amount   8.5(a)(ii)
BCL   Recitals
Buyer   Preamble
Buyer Benefit Plans   5.11(b)
Buyer Bring-Down Certificate   7.2(b)
Buyer Indemnified Parties   8.2(a)
Certificates of Merger   2.3
Charges   10.20(d)
Claim Information   8.4(a)
Closing   2.2(a)
Closing Cash   2.10(b)
Closing Date   2.2(a)
Closing Indebtedness   2.10(b)
Closing Net Working Capital   2.10(b)
Closing Transaction Expenses   2.10(b)
Company   Preamble
Company Bring-Down Certificate   7.3(d)
Company Capital Stock   3.3
Company Continuing Employees   5.11
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Company Intellectual Property   3.13(b)
Company Patents   3.13(a)
Company Personnel   3.13(g)
Company Registered Copyrights   3.13(a)
Company Registered IP   3.13(a)
Company Registered Marks   3.13(a)
Company Software   3.13(d)
Confidential Information   5.8(b)
Confidentiality Agreement   5.8(a)
Consulting Agreements   2.2(b)(i)(G)
Copyrights   1.1
DE Certificate of Merger   2.3
DGCL   Recitals
Disclosure Schedules   Article III
Dissenting Shares   2.9
Effect   1.1
Effective Time   2.3
Employee Plans   3.10(a)
Employment Laws   3.11(c)
Environmental Laws   3.16(h)(i)
Environmental Permits   3.16(h)(ii)
ERISA   3.10(a)
Estimated Cash   2.10(a)
Estimated Indebtedness   2.10(a)
Estimated Net Working Capital   2.10(a)
Estimated Transaction Expenses   2.10(a)
Exchange Act   1.1
Exchange Agent   2.8(a)
Exchange Fund   2.8(a)
Final Closing Statement   2.10(b)
Financial Statements   3.5(a)
Fundamental Representations   8.1(a)(i)
Government Contract   3.17(a)(xii)
Indemnified Party   8.4(a)
Indemnifying Party   8.4(a)
Independent Accounting Firm   2.10(d)
Interim Financial Statements   3.5(a)
IP Contracts   3.13(e)
Letter of Transmittal   2.8(b)
Major Customers   3.18(a)
Major Suppliers   3.18(b)
Marks   1.1
Material Contracts   3.17(a)
Merger   Recitals
Merger Sub   Preamble
Net Adjustment Amount   2.10(g)(i)
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Notice of Disagreement   2.10(c)
NY Certificate of Merger   2.3
Patents   1.1
Preliminary Closing Statement   2.10(a)
Privacy Requirements   3.14(a)
Released Parties   5.15
Requisite Shareholder Approval   3.1(e)
Securities Act   2.2(e)
Shareholder Controlled Proceeding   6.2(b)
Shareholder Indemnified Parties   8.3
Shareholders’ Consents   Recitals
Shareholders’ Representative   Preamble
Subsidiary Interests   3.4(a)
Support Agreements   Recitals
Surviving Company   2.1
Tax Benefit   8.5(b)
Tax Claim   6.2(a)
Termination Date   9.1(c)
Third Party Claim   8.4(a)
Trade Secrets   1.1
Winston   10.21

ARTICLE II

THE MERGER

Section 2.1 The Merger. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and in accordance with the BCL and DGCL, at the Effective Time,
Merger Sub shall merge with and into the Company, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company shall continue as the
Surviving Company in the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Buyer. The Company, in its capacity as the corporation surviving the Merger, is
hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “Surviving Company.”

Section 2.2 Closing.

(a) The closing of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby (the “Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Baker
Hostetler LLP, One North Wacker Drive, Suite 4500, Chicago, IL 60606 or remotely via the exchange of documents and signatures (including by email
or facsimile), on the third Business Day following the date on which the last conditions to the obligations of the parties set forth in Article VII (other
than such conditions as may, by their terms, only be satisfied at the Closing or on the Closing Date but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such
conditions at the Closing) have been satisfied (or, to the extent permitted, waived by the Parties entitled to the benefits thereof), or at such other place or
at such other time or on such other date as the Company and the Buyer mutually may agree in writing. The day on which the Closing takes place is
referred to as the “Closing Date.” All proceedings to be taken and all documents to be executed and delivered by all Persons at the Closing will be
deemed to have been taken and executed simultaneously and no proceedings will be deemed to have been taken nor documents executed or delivered
until all have been taken, executed and delivered. For accounting and financial reporting purposes, the effective time of the Closing shall be at
12:01 a.m., Eastern time, on the Closing Date.
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(b) At or prior to the Closing:

(i) the Buyer shall:

(A) deposit with the Exchange Agent (i) an amount equal to the Cash Merger Consideration plus the amount necessary to
make any payments in lieu of fractional shares of Buyer Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.2(f) and (ii) the Stock Merger Consideration, in each case
to be held by the Exchange Agent and disbursed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Exchange Agent Agreement;

(B) deliver or cause to be delivered the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Holdback Amount to the Shareholders’
Representative;

(C) deliver to the Escrow Agent the Escrow Amount to be held and disbursed pursuant to this Agreement and the Escrow
Agreement;

(D) pay, on behalf of the Company and to the extent unpaid as of immediately prior to the Closing, an amount equal to the
Estimated Transaction Expenses, to each Person who is owed a portion thereof;

(E) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Company the Buyer Bring-Down Certificate;

(F) deliver a duly executed certificate of the secretary (or equivalent officer) of the Buyer and Merger Sub certifying (a) as to
the incumbency and specimen signatures of the officers of the Buyer and Merger Sub executing this Agreement or any other Ancillary Agreement,
(b) the resolutions of the board of directors of the Buyer and Merger Sub authorizing the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (c) the
Governing Documents of the Buyer and Merger Sub;

(G) execute a counterpart to the consulting agreements entered into between the Buyer or its Affiliate and each Person listed
on Schedule 2.2(b)(i)(G) of the Disclosure Schedules, in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer (the “Consulting Agreements”);

(H) deliver to the Company an executed counterpart of each of the Ancillary Agreements, duly executed by the Buyer; and

(ii) The Company shall:

(A) deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer the Company Bring-Down Certificate;

(B) deliver certificates of good standing, or their equivalent, as of a date no earlier than ten (10) days prior to Closing with
respect to each Group Company organized in the United States from the applicable jurisdictions of formation and jurisdictions where such Persons are
qualified to do business, issued by the applicable Governmental Authority, except in the case of any jurisdiction that does not recognize such concept of
good standing or its equivalent;
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(C) deliver to the Buyer the resignation of all of the directors of the Company pursuant to Section 5.6;

(D) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Buyer an executed counterpart of each of the Consulting Agreements duly
executed by each party thereto other than Buyer;

(E) deliver a duly executed certificate of the secretary (or equivalent officer) of the Company certifying (a) as to the
incumbency and specimen signatures of the officers of the Company executing this Agreement or any other Ancillary Agreement, (b) the resolutions of
the board of directors of the Company authorizing the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (c) the Governing Documents of the Company;

(F) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Buyer an executed counterpart of each of the Ancillary Agreements, duly executed
by each party thereto other than Buyer; and

(G) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Buyer the consents set forth on Schedule 8.3(f) of the Disclosure Schedules.

(H) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Buyer a certificate pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(c)(3) stating
that the Company is not nor has it been a U.S. real property holding corporation (as defined in section 897(c)(2) of the Code) during the applicable
period specified in section 897(c) of the Code.

(c) All payments hereunder shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds in United States dollars to such account as may
be designated to the payor by or on behalf of the payee at least two Business Days prior to the applicable payment date.

(d) Subject to Section 2.2(e), if any portion of the Merger Consideration is to be paid to a Person other than the Person in whose name the
surrendered certificate is registered, it shall be a condition to such payment that (i) such certificate shall be properly endorsed or otherwise be in proper
form for transfer and (ii) the Person requesting such payment shall pay to Buyer or any agent designated thereby any transfer or other Taxes required by
reason of the payment to a Person other than the registered holder of such certificate or establish to the satisfaction of the Buyer that such Tax has been
paid or is not applicable.

(e) Prior to the Closing, the Company provided each Shareholder (i) a questionnaire in a form approved by Buyer and (ii) requested each
Shareholder to deliver or cause to be delivered to the Company, at least two Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the questionnaire completed by
such Shareholder, indicating whether such Shareholder is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D and otherwise
providing such customary information with respect to such Shareholder as is necessary for the Buyer to issue the Stock Merger Consideration to such
Shareholder. If Buyer determines after review of the
 

17



accredited investor questionnaire provided by any Shareholder that such Shareholder is not an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501 of
Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or is otherwise unsuitable to receive Buyer Common Stock pursuant
to this Agreement or no questionnaire was provided to the Company at least two Business Days prior to the Closing Date, then Buyer shall be entitled,
in its sole discretion, to pay to such Shareholder, an amount of cash consideration equal to the product of (A) the number of shares of Buyer Common
Stock that such Shareholder would otherwise be entitled to receive pursuant to this Agreement multiplied by (B) the Buyer Stock Price, and payment of
such amount shall be in full satisfaction of such Shareholder’s right to receive any Stock Merger Consideration.

(f) No certificates or scrip representing fractional share interests of Buyer Common Stock shall be issued as Stock Merger Consideration
and any such fractional share interests shall not entitle the owner thereof to vote or to any other rights of a holder of Buyer Common Stock. Any
fractional shares and calculations shall be rounded to two decimal places (1/100th). In lieu of any such fractional shares, each holder of shares of
Company Capital Stock shall be entitled to an amount in cash, without interest, rounded down to the nearest cent $0.01, equal to the product of (i) the
amount of the fractional share interest in a share of Buyer Common Stock to which the holder of shares of Company Capital Stock is entitled to under
this Section 2.2 and (ii) the Buyer Stock Price.

Section 2.3 Effective Time. On the Closing Date, the Company and the Buyer shall (a) cause (i) a certificate of merger (the “NY Certificate of
Merger”) to be executed and filed with the Department of State of the State of New York in accordance with the relevant provisions of the BCL and
(ii) a certificate of merger (the “DE Certificate of Merger” and together with the NY Certificate of Merger, the “Certificates of Merger”)) to be executed
and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in accordance with the relevant provisions of the DGCL; and (b) make all other filings or
recordings required under the BCL and the DGCL to effect the Merger. For purposes of this Agreement, the Merger will become effective at the time
that the Certificates of Merger has been duly filed or at such later date as may be agreed by Company and Buyer in writing and specified in the
Certificates of Merger in accordance with the BCL and DGCL (the “Effective Time”).

Section 2.4 Effects of the Merger. The Merger will have the effects set forth herein, in the Certificates of Merger and in the applicable provisions
of the BCL and the DGCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject thereto, from and after the Effective Time: (a) all property,
rights, privileges, immunities, powers, franchises, licenses and authority of Company and Merger Sub will vest in the Surviving Company; and (b) all
debts, liabilities, obligations, restrictions and duties of each of Company and Merger Sub will become the debts, liabilities, obligations, restrictions and
duties of the Surviving Company.

Section 2.5 Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of the Surviving Company. At and after the Effective Time, (a) the certificate of
incorporation of the Surviving Company shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Company in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, until
thereafter amended as provided therein or by applicable Law, and (b) the by-laws of the Surviving Company shall be amended and restated as of the
Effective Time in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F, until thereafter amended as provided therein or by applicable Law.
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Section 2.6 Directors and Officers. Subject to applicable Law, at the Effective Time, the directors and officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to
the Effective Time shall be the directors and officers of the Surviving Company, to serve until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed
and qualified or until their resignation or removal.

Section 2.7 Conversion and Cancellation of Stock. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the
Company, Buyer, Merger Sub or any Shareholder:

(a) Common Stock. Each share of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Common
Stock cancelled pursuant to Section 2.7(c) and Dissenting Shares pursuant to Section 2.9) shall be converted into the right to receive the Per Common
Share Merger Consideration and any cash in lieu of fractional shares of Buyer Common Stock payable pursuant to Section 2.2(f) together with any
amounts that may become payable in respect of such share of Common Stock in the future from the Escrow Funds as provided in this Agreement and
the Escrow Agreement or the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Holdback Amount as provided in this Agreement or in respect of the Net
Adjustment Amount, at the respective times and subject to the contingencies specified herein and therein. From and after the Effective Time, all such
Common Stock shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled and retired and shall cease to exist, and each holder of such
Common Stock shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the Per Common Share Merger Consideration pursuant to
this Section 2.7(a).

(b) Preferred Stock. Each share of Preferred Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Preferred
Stock cancelled pursuant to Section 2.7(c) and Dissenting Shares pursuant to Section 2.9) shall be converted into the right to receive the Per Preferred
Share Merger Consideration. From and after the Effective Time, all such Preferred Stock shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be
cancelled and retired and shall cease to exist, and each holder of such Preferred Stock shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right
to receive the Per Preferred Share Merger Consideration pursuant to this Section 2.7(b).

(c) Cancellation of Treasury Stock and Buyer-Owned Stock. All shares of Company Capital Stock, if any, that are (i) held by the Company
as treasury stock or (ii) owned or held, directly or indirectly, by the Company or its Subsidiaries or by Buyer, Merger Sub or any of their respective
Subsidiaries, in each case immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be cancelled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be
delivered in exchange therefor.

(d) Merger Sub. At the Effective Time, each share of common stock of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the
Effective Time shall be converted into one share of Class B Common Stock of the Surviving Company.
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Section 2.8 Exchange Procedures for Capital Stock.

(a) Exchange Agent. Prior to the Effective Time, Buyer shall engage Computershare Inc., a Delaware corporation or a similar bank or trust
company to act as a stock exchange and paying agent (the “Exchange Agent”). At the Effective Time, Buyer shall deposit with the Exchange Agent, for
the benefit of the Shareholders, (i) the shares of Buyer Common Stock to be issued as Stock Merger Consideration (which shall be in uncertificated
book-entry form with restrictive notations customary for shares issued in a transaction not registered under the Securities Act); and (ii) cash sufficient to
pay the Cash Merger Consideration and the Preferred Stock Cash Consideration and to make any payments in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to
Section 2.2(f) (such cash and shares of Buyer Common Stock, the “Exchange Fund”). The Company and Buyer shall provide the Exchange Agent with
irrevocable instructions to deliver the Estimated Merger Consideration contemplated to be delivered as set forth in Section 2.8(b) out of the Exchange
Fund and that the Exchange Fund shall not be used for any other purpose.

(b) Exchange Procedures. Promptly following the date hereof, the Exchange Agent shall deliver to each holder of record of shares of
Company Capital Stock that are to be converted pursuant to Section 2.7(a) and Section 2.7(b) into the right to receive the Per Common Share Merger
Consideration or Per Preferred Share Merger Consideration, as applicable, a letter of transmittal, in substantially the form of Exhibit G attached hereto
(each, a “Letter of Transmittal”), together with instructions for use in effecting the surrender of such shares of Company Capital Stock in exchange for
the Per Common Share Merger Consideration or the Per Preferred Share Merger Consideration, as applicable, payable in respect of each such share of
Company Capital Stock. Upon delivery of such Letter of Transmittal to the Exchange Agent, including, if applicable, an appropriate IRS Form W-8 or
W-9, duly executed, and such other customary documents as may be required pursuant to such instructions, the holder shall be entitled to receive an
amount equal to the product obtained by multiplying (i) the number of shares of Company Capital Stock covered by such holder’s Letter of Transmittal
by (ii) the Per Common Share Merger Consideration or the Per Preferred Stock Merger Consideration. The Exchange Agent shall deliver, from the
Exchange Fund, the applicable portion of the Estimated Merger Consideration (as calculated as of the Effective Time based on the Preliminary Closing
Statement) payable in respect of such shares of Company Capital Stock as promptly as practicable after receipt the Exchange Agent of the Letter of
Transmittal, including such other required documents as provided in this Section 2.8(b), in accordance with the foregoing. Until a Letter of Transmittal
is so delivered with respect to any such share of Company Capital Stock, such Company Capital Stock (other than Company Capital Stock to be
cancelled in accordance with Section 2.7(c) and Dissenting Shares pursuant to Section 2.9) will be deemed, from and after the Effective Time, for all
purposes, to represent only the right to receive, upon delivery of the Letter of Transmittal to the Exchange Agent, including such other required
documents as provided in this Section 2.8(b), the Per Common Share Merger Consideration or the Per Preferred Share Merger Consideration, as
applicable, payable in respect of each such share of Company Capital Stock.

(c) No Further Ownership Rights in Capital Stock. At the Effective Time, the transfer books of the Company shall be closed and thereafter
there shall be no further registration of transfers on the transfer books of the Company or the Surviving Company of the Company Capital Stock which
were outstanding immediately prior to such time. If, after such time, any Company Capital Stock is presented to the Surviving Company for any reason,
it shall be cancelled and exchanged as provided in this Article II.
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(d) Commencing six (6) months after the Closing Date, if Rule 144 is then available for the sale of shares of Buyer Common Stock
without volume or manner-of-sale requirements, upon receipt of a customary seller representation letter from any Shareholder in a form reasonably
acceptable to the Buyer, the Buyer will promptly cause the Exchange Agent or its transfer agent, as applicable to remove any restrictive legend or
similar transfer restrictions (or notation if in book form) from shares of Buyer Common Stock received by such Shareholder. Unless such restrictive
legend or similar transfer restriction (or notation if in book form) is already removed pursuant to the previous sentence, effective as of the date which is
12 months after the Closing Date, the Buyer shall cause the Exchange Agent or its transfer agent, as applicable to remove any restrictive legend or
similar transfer restrictions (or notation if in book form) to be removed from shares of Buyer Common Stock received pursuant to this Agreement. With
a view to making available to Shareholders the benefits of Rule 144, for a period of twelve (12) months from the Closing Date, the Buyer agrees to use
commercially reasonable efforts to comply with the conditions of Rule 144(c)(1) to permit Shareholders to sell its shares of Buyer Common Stock
pursuant to Rule 144 without registration.

Section 2.9 Dissenting Shares. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, shares of Company Capital Stock issued and
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Company Capital Stock to be cancelled in accordance with Section 2.7(c)) and held by a
holder who has not voted in favor of adoption of this Agreement or consented thereto in writing and who has properly exercised appraisal rights with
respect to such shares of Company Capital Stock in accordance with Section 623 of the BCL (such shares of Company Capital Stock being referred to
collectively as “Dissenting Shares” until such time as such holder fails to perfect or otherwise loses such holder’s appraisal rights under the BCL with
respect to such Dissenting Shares) will not be converted into a right to receive a portion of the Merger Consideration, but instead will entitle such holder
holding such Dissenting Shares only to such relief as is provided by Section 623 of the BCL; provided, however, that if, after the Effective Time, such
holder fails to perfect, withdraws or loses such holder’s right to appraisal pursuant to Section 623 of the BCL or if a court of competent jurisdiction
determines that such shareholder is not entitled to the relief provided by Section 623 of the BCL, then, in either case, such Dissenting Shares will be
treated as if they had been converted as of the Effective Time into the right to receive the portion of the Merger Consideration, if any, to which such
holder is entitled pursuant to this Article II and elsewhere in this Agreement, without any interest thereon. The Company shall serve prompt notice to
Buyer of any demands, whether written or unwritten, received by the Company for appraisal of any shares of Company Capital Stock, and Buyer shall
have the right to participate in all negotiations and actions with respect to such demands. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall not, without the
prior written consent of Buyer, (A) make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any such demands, (B) engage in any communication
with the holder of any Dissenting Shares with respect to such Person’s demand for appraisal of shares of Company Capital Stock, (C) waive any failure
to timely deliver a written demand for appraisal or timely take any other action to perfect dissenters’ or appraisal rights in accordance with the BCL, or
(D) agree to do any of the foregoing (A), (B) or (C).

Section 2.10 Merger Consideration Adjustments.

(a) At least three Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, and deliver to the Buyer a
statement (the “Preliminary Closing Statement”) setting forth a good-faith estimate of the Company’s (i) Closing Net Working Capital (the “Estimated
Net Working Capital”), (ii) Closing Indebtedness (the “Estimated Indebtedness”),
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(iii) Closing Cash (the “Estimated Cash”), and (iv) Transaction Expenses (the “Estimated Transaction Expenses”) (and, except for Estimated Transaction
Expenses, without giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereby), based on the Company’s books and records and other available information,
and calculated in accordance with GAAP on a basis consistent with Exhibit D (the “Applicable Accounting Principles”). Prior to the Closing, the
Company and the Buyer in good faith shall seek to resolve any differences that they may have with respect to the computation of any of the items in the
Preliminary Closing Statement; provided, that if the Company and the Buyer are unable to resolve all such differences prior to the Closing, the amounts
of the Estimated Net Working Capital, Estimated Indebtedness, Estimated Cash and Estimated Transaction Expenses as reflected in the Preliminary
Closing Statement shall be used for purposes of calculating the Estimated Merger Consideration on the Closing Date.

(b) Within 90 days after the Closing Date, the Buyer shall cause to be prepared and delivered to the Shareholders’ Representative a written
statement (the “Final Closing Statement”) that shall include and set forth a calculation in reasonable detail and in accordance with the Applicable
Accounting Principles of the actual (i) Net Working Capital as of 12:01 a.m., Eastern time, on the Closing Date (“Closing Net Working Capital”),
(ii) Indebtedness (“Closing Indebtedness”), (iii) Cash as of (“Closing Cash”) and (iv) Transaction Expenses (“Closing Transaction Expenses”), each of
Closing Indebtedness, Closing Cash and Closing Transaction Expenses to be determined as of immediately prior to the Closing.

(c) The Final Closing Statement shall become final and binding on the 45th day following delivery thereof, unless prior to the end of such
period, the Shareholders’ Representative delivers to the Buyer written notice of his disagreement (a “Notice of Disagreement”) specifying in reasonable
detail the basis and nature and amount of any dispute as to the Closing Net Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness, Closing Cash and/or Closing
Transaction Expenses, as set forth in the Final Closing Statement; provided, that the Shareholders’ Representative may deliver only one Notice of
Disagreement and may not amend the Notice of Disagreement once it has been delivered to the Buyer. The Shareholders’ Representative shall be
deemed to have agreed with all items and amounts of Closing Net Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness, Closing Cash and/or Closing Transaction
Expenses not specifically referenced in the Notice of Disagreement, and such items and amounts shall not be subject to review in accordance with
Section 2.10(d).

(d) During the 30-day period following delivery of a Notice of Disagreement by the Shareholders’ Representative to the Buyer, the
Shareholders’ Representative and the Buyer in good faith shall seek to resolve in writing any differences that they may have with respect to the
calculation of the Closing Net Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness, Closing Cash and/or Closing Transaction Expenses as specified therein. Any
disputed items resolved in writing between the Shareholders’ Representative and the Buyer within such 30-day period shall be final and binding with
respect to such items, and if the Shareholders’ Representative and the Buyer agree in writing on the resolution of each disputed item specified by the
Shareholders’ Representative in the Notice of Disagreement and the amount of the Closing Net Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness, Closing Cash
and Closing Transaction Expenses, the amounts so determined shall be final and binding on the parties for all purposes hereunder. If the Shareholders’
Representative and the Buyer have not resolved all such differences by the end of such 30-day period, the Shareholders’ Representative and the Buyer
shall submit, in writing, to an independent public accounting firm (the “Independent Accounting Firm”), their briefs detailing their views as
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to the correct nature and amount of each item remaining in dispute and the amounts of the Closing Net Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness, Closing
Cash and/or Closing Transaction Expenses, and the Independent Accounting Firm shall make a written determination as to each such disputed item and
the amount of the Closing Net Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness, Closing Cash and/or Closing Transaction Expenses. The Independent Accounting
Firm shall be BDO USA, LLP or, if such firm is unable or unwilling to act, such other independent public accounting firm as shall be agreed in writing
by the Shareholders’ Representative and the Buyer. The Buyer and the Shareholders’ Representative shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to
cause the Independent Accounting Firm to render a written decision resolving the matters submitted to it, and describing in reasonable detail its
determination of each matter submitted to it, within 30 days following the submission thereof. The Independent Accounting Firm shall consider only
those items and amounts in the Buyer’s and the Shareholders’ Representative’s respective calculations of the Closing Net Working Capital, Closing
Indebtedness, Closing Cash and/or Closing Transaction Expenses that are identified as being items and amounts to which the Buyer and the
Shareholders’ Representative have been unable to agree. The scope of the disputes to be resolved by the Independent Accounting Firm shall be limited
to correcting mathematical errors and determining whether the items and amounts in dispute were determined in accordance with the Applicable
Accounting Principles, and the Independent Accounting Firm is not to make any other determination, including any determination as to whether the
Target Net Working Capital or any estimates on the Preliminary Closing Statement are correct, adequate or sufficient. In resolving any disputed item, the
Independent Accounting Firm may not assign a value to any item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by either party in the Final
Closing Statement or the Notice of Disagreement or less than the smallest value for such item claimed by either party in the Final Closing Statement or
the Notice of Disagreement. The Independent Accounting Firm’s determination of the Closing Net Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness, Closing
Cash and Closing Transaction Expenses shall be based solely on written materials submitted by the Buyer and the Shareholders’ Representative (i.e., not
on independent review). The determination of the Independent Accounting Firm shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties hereto and shall not be
subject to appeal or further review. Judgment may be entered upon the written determination of the Independent Accounting Firm in accordance with
Section 10.9. In acting under this Agreement, the Independent Accounting Firm will be entitled to the privileges and immunities of an arbitrator.

(e) The fees and expenses of the Independent Accounting Firm pursuant to this Section 2.10 shall be borne by the Shareholders’
Representative, on behalf of the Shareholders, and the Buyer in inverse proportion as they may prevail on the matters resolved by the Independent
Accounting Firm, which proportionate allocation shall be calculated on an aggregate basis based on the relative dollar values of the amounts in dispute
and shall be determined by the Independent Accounting Firm at the time the determination of such firm is rendered on the merits of the matters
submitted. The fees and disbursements of the respective Representatives of the Shareholders’ Representative and the Buyer incurred in connection with
the preparation or review of the Final Closing Statement and preparation or review of any Notice of Disagreement, as applicable, shall be borne by the
Shareholders’ Representative, on behalf of the Shareholders, and the Buyer, respectively.
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(f) The Buyer, the Shareholders’ Representative and the Company will provide information in its possession pertaining to this
Section 2.10, upon another party’s reasonable request. The Company will afford the Buyer, the Shareholders’ Representative and their respective
Representatives reasonable access, during normal business hours and upon reasonable prior notice, to the personnel, properties, books and records of the
Company and to any other information reasonably requested for purposes of preparing and reviewing the calculations contemplated by this
Section 2.10. The Company and the Buyer shall authorize their respective accountants to disclose work papers generated by such accountants in
connection with preparing and reviewing the calculations specified in this Section 2.10; provided, that such accountants shall not be obligated to make
any work papers available except in accordance with such accountants’ disclosure procedures and then only after the non-client party has signed an
agreement relating to access to such work papers in form and substance acceptable to such accountants.

(g) The Estimated Merger Consideration shall be adjusted, upwards or downwards, as follows:

(i) For the purposes of this Agreement, the “Net Adjustment Amount” means an amount, which may be positive or negative, equal to
(A) the Closing Net Working Capital as finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.10 minus the Estimated Net Working Capital, minus (B) the
Closing Indebtedness as finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.10 minus the Estimated Indebtedness, plus (C) the Closing Cash as finally
determined pursuant to this Section 2.10 minus the Estimated Cash, minus (D) the Closing Transaction Expenses as finally determined pursuant to this
Section 2.10 minus the Estimated Transaction Expenses;

(ii) If the Net Adjustment Amount is positive, (A) the Estimated Merger Consideration shall be adjusted upwards in an amount equal
to the Net Adjustment Amount and (B) the Buyer shall pay, or cause to be paid, to each Shareholder of Common Stock such Shareholder’s Transaction
Percentage of the Net Adjustment Amount, which amount shall be payable in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account
designated in such Shareholder’s Letter of Transmittal; and

(iii) If the Net Adjustment Amount is negative (in which case the “Net Adjustment Amount” for purposes of this clause (iii) shall be
deemed to be equal to the absolute value of such amount), (A) the Estimated Merger Consideration shall be adjusted downwards in an amount equal to
the Net Adjustment Amount and (B) the Buyer and the Shareholders’ Representative shall issue a joint written instruction that directs a portion of the
Escrow Funds equal to the Net Adjustment Amount to be released and paid to the Buyer.

(h) Amounts to be paid pursuant to Section 2.10(g) shall be made within 10 Business Days of final determination of the Net Adjustment
Amount pursuant to the provisions of this Section 2.10 by wire transfer of immediately available funds, and in the case of Buyer, to such account or
accounts as may be designated in writing by Buyer at least two Business Days prior to such payment date.
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ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

REGARDING THE COMPANY

Except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedules attached hereto (collectively, the “Disclosure Schedules”), the Company hereby represents and
warrants to the Buyer as follows:

Section 3.1 Organization; Qualification and Authority.

(a) The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of New York, and has all necessary
corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted. The Company is duly
qualified as a foreign corporation to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of the properties owned, leased or
operated by it or the nature of its business makes such qualification necessary, except, in each case, for any such failures that would not, individually or
in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Each Subsidiary of the Company (except for the Dissolved Subsidiaries) is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under
the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, formation or organization (except, in the case of good standing, for entities organized under the Laws of
any jurisdiction that does not recognize such concept) as set forth on Schedule 3.1(b) of the Disclosure Schedules and has all requisite corporate or other
organizational power and authority to own, lease, use and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as now being conducted. Each
Subsidiary of the Company (except for the Dissolved Subsidiaries) is qualified to do business and is in good standing as a foreign entity in each
jurisdiction where conduct of its business as presently contemplated to be conducted requires such qualification, except, in each case, for any such
failures that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Each Dissolved Subsidiary was duly and officially liquidated and dissolved without any outstanding, ongoing, pending or threatened
liability, debt, claim, demand or dispute arising from, in connection with, or relating to the liquidation and/or dissolution of such Dissolved Subsidiary.

(d) A complete and correct copy of the Governing Documents, as amended to date, of each Group Company has heretofore been furnished
to the Buyer by the Company. Such Governing Documents are in full force and effect.

(e) The Company has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the consummation
by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action of the Company,
subject only to the Requisite Shareholder Approval. The affirmative vote of Shareholders who hold at least two thirds of the outstanding shares of the
Company’s Class B Common Stock (the “Requisite Shareholder Approval”) is the only vote or approval of Shareholders required under Law or the
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Company’s Governing Documents. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming due execution and delivery by
each of the other parties hereto, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in
accordance with its terms, except as enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws
affecting creditors’ rights generally and by general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity
or at law).

Section 3.2 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

(a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.2(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this
Agreement, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, do not and will not:

(i) conflict with or violate the Governing Documents of any Group Company or similar agreement governing the voting or transfer
of the Company Capital Stock;

(ii) conflict with or violate any Law applicable to any Group Company or by which any property or asset of any Group Company is
bound or affected; or

(iii) conflict with, result in any breach of, constitute a default (or an event that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would become a
default) under, require any consent of, or notice to, any Person pursuant to, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, cancellation or
acceleration of any obligation under, or loss of material benefit under, any Material Contract, or result in the creation of any Encumbrance (other than a
Permitted Encumbrance) on any material asset of any Group Company.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.2(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Company is not required to file, seek or obtain any notice,
authorization, approval, order, permit or consent of or with any Governmental Authority in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by
the Company of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or in order to prevent the termination of any right,
privilege, license or qualification of the Company, except (i) for such filings as may be required by any applicable federal or state securities or “blue
sky” Laws, (ii) where failure to obtain such consent, approval, authorization or action, or to make such filing or notification, would not prevent or
materially delay the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, (iii) as may be
necessary as a result of any facts or circumstances relating to the Buyer or any of its Affiliates (as opposed to any third party) and their participation in
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements or (iv) as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.3 Capitalization. The Company’s authorized and issued and outstanding Capital Stock is as set forth on Schedule 3.3 of the Disclosure
Schedules (the “Company Capital Stock”), including the holders of record and beneficially of each such issued and outstanding Capital Stock and the
number and class of Capital Stock held by each such holder. All of the Company’s issued and outstanding Capital Stock is duly authorized, validly
issued, fully paid and nonassessable and is not subject to, nor was it issued in violation of, any preemptive or similar
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rights. The Company Capital Stock constitutes all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company. There are no outstanding obligations,
options, warrants, calls, convertible securities, stock appreciation rights, phantom stock, profit interests or participation or other rights, agreements,
arrangements or commitments of any kind relating to the Company Capital Stock or obligating or which may obligate the Company to issue, transfer,
sell or deliver any shares of capital stock of, or any other interest in, the Company. There are no outstanding contractual obligations of the Company to
repurchase, dispose, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of capital stock of the Company or to provide funds to, or make any investment in, any
other Person. There are no declared but unpaid dividends or distributions with respect to any of the Company Capital Stock. There is no Contract
(i) which obligates any Group Company to purchase, redeem, or otherwise acquire, or make any payment (including any dividend or distribution) in
respect of any Company Capital Stock or (ii) which restricts the Company from purchasing, redeeming, or otherwise acquiring, or making any payment
(including any dividend or distribution) in respect of any Company Capital Stock. There are no agreements or understandings, including, without
limitation, stockholder agreements, voting trusts or proxies, in each case either (i) to which the Company is a party, or (ii) to the Company’s Knowledge,
any two or more shareholders are parties, in effect with respect to the voting or transfer of any of the Company Capital Stock. The Company does not
have any outstanding bonds, debentures, notes or other obligations, the holders of which have the right to vote (or are convertible or exchangeable into
or exercisable for securities having the right to vote) with the Shareholders on any matter.

Section 3.4 Equity Interests.

(a) Schedule 3.4(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, sets forth the authorized and issued and outstanding Capital Stock of each Subsidiary
(other than the Dissolved Subsidiaries) of the Company, including the holders of record and beneficially of each such issued and outstanding Capital
Stock and the number and class of Capital Stock held by each such holder (such Capital Stock set forth on Schedule 3.4(a) of the Disclosure Schedule,
the (“Subsidiary Interests”). All of the Subsidiary Interests are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and are not subject to, nor
was it issued in violation of, any preemptive or similar rights. The Subsidiary Interests constitute all of the issued and outstanding Capital Stock of the
Subsidiaries of the Company. There are no outstanding obligations, options, warrants, calls, convertible securities, stock appreciation rights, phantom
stock, profit interests or participation or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any kind relating to the Subsidiary Interests or
obligating or which may obligate any Subsidiary of the Company to issue, transfer, sell or deliver any shares of Capital Stock of such Subsidiary. There
are no outstanding contractual obligations of any Subsidiary of the Company to repurchase, dispose, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of Capital
Stock of such Subsidiary or to provide funds to, or make any investment in, any other Person. There are no declared but unpaid dividends or
distributions with respect to any of the Subsidiary Interests. There is no Contract (i) which obligates any Group Company to purchase, redeem, or
otherwise acquire, or make any payment (including any dividend or distribution) in respect of any Subsidiary Interest or (ii) which restricts any Group
Company from purchasing, redeeming, or otherwise acquiring, or making any payment (including any dividend or distribution) in respect of any
Subsidiary Interest. There are no agreements or understandings, including, without limitation, stockholder agreements, voting trusts or proxies, in effect
with respect to the voting or transfer of any of the Subsidiary Interests. No Subsidiary of the Company has any outstanding bonds, debentures, notes or
other obligations, the holders of which have the right to vote (or are convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for securities having the right to
vote) with any other holder of Capital Stock of such Subsidiary.
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(b) Except for the Subsidiary Interests and as set forth on Schedule 3.4(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, no Group Company owns any
Capital Stock (contingent or otherwise) in any Person. All such Capital Stock listed on Schedule 3.4(b) of the Disclosure Schedules are duly authorized,
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and are not subject to, nor was it issued in violation of, any preemptive or similar rights.

Section 3.5 Financial Statements; No Undisclosed Liabilities.

(a) Copies of the audited balance sheet of the Group Companies as at September 30, 2020 and 2019, and the related audited statements of
income, retained earnings, stockholders’ equity and changes in financial position of the Company, together with all related notes and schedules thereto,
(collectively referred to as the “Financial Statements”) and the balance sheet of the Company as at August 31, 2021 (the “Balance Sheet”), and the
related statement of income, retained earnings, stockholders’ equity and changes in financial position of the Company (collectively referred to as the
“Interim Financial Statements”), have been made available to the Buyer by the Company. Each of the Financial Statements and the Interim Financial
Statements (i) has been prepared based on and is consistent with the books and records of the Group Companies (except as may be indicated in the notes
thereto), which records are correct and complete in all material respects, (ii) has been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis
throughout the periods indicated (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and (iii) fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial position,
results of operations and cash flows of the Group Companies as at the respective dates thereof and for the respective periods indicated therein, except as
otherwise noted therein and subject, in the case of the Interim Financial Statements, to normal and recurring year-end adjustments and the absence of
notes that will not, individually or in the aggregate, be material. The Group Companies have established and maintains a system of internal controls over
financial reporting sufficient to provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Financial
Statements in accordance with GAAP. There are no internal investigations or internal inquiries that, during the past five (5) years, have been conducted
by or at the direction of the board of directors of the Company (or any committee thereof) concerning any financial accounting or other misfeasance or
malfeasance issues or that could reasonably be expected to lead to a voluntary disclosure or enforcement action.

(b) There are no Liabilities, whether known or unknown, of the Group Companies of a nature that would be required to be reflected on a
balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, other than any Liabilities that (i) are reflected or reserved against on the Interim Financial Statements
or the Financial Statements or (ii) were incurred since the date of the Balance Sheet in the ordinary course of business of the Group Companies.
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Section 3.6 Accounts Receivable; Accounts Payable.

(a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.6 of the Disclosure Schedules, all of the material Accounts Receivable (i) are valid obligations that
have arisen from bona fide transactions reflecting the sales actually made or services actually performed by the Group Companies, (ii) are properly
reflected in all material respects on the Group Companies’ books and records and balance sheets in accordance with GAAP (applied in a manner
consistent with the Company’s past practices) and (iii) are not subject to any material contest, claim or right of set off, or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened contest, claim or right of set off. All reserves, allowances and discounts with respect to the Accounts Receivable reflected in the
Interim Financial Statements were established in accordance with GAAP in all material respects (applied in a manner consistent with the Company’s
past practices) consistent with the reserves, allowances and discounts previously maintained by the Group Companies with respect to Accounts
Receivable in the ordinary course of business. There is (x) no material account debtor who has refused or threatened in writing (or, to the Company’s
Knowledge, threatened orally) to refuse to pay its obligations or who has threatened in writing (or, to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened orally) to
set-off such obligations for any reason, (y) to the Company’s Knowledge, no material account debtor who is insolvent or bankrupt, and (z) no Accounts
Receivable of the Group Companies that is pledged to any third party, except with respect to Indebtedness that will be paid off in connection with the
Closing. To the Company’s Knowledge, there is no material contest, claim defense, or right of setoff relating to the amount or validity of any Accounts
Receivable.

(b) All material accounts payable of the Group Companies are reflected properly on their books and records, are valid, have arisen from
bona fide transactions in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, are subject to no setoff or counterclaim and are current. Since the
date of the Balance Sheet, the Group Companies have paid their accounts payable in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice. The
Group Companies have no accounts payable to any Shareholder or any other Person who is an officer, director or employee of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, or any immediate family member of such individual.

Section 3.7 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.7 of the Disclosure Schedules, since June 30, 2021 (a) the
business of the Group Companies has been conducted, and its properties have been operated, in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice, (b) there has not occurred any Material Adverse Effect and (c) the Group Companies have not taken any action or agreed or committed to any
action that, if taken after the date of this Agreement, would constitute a breach of any of the covenants set forth in Section 5.1.

Section 3.8 Compliance with Law; Permits.

(a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, each Group Company is, and for the three years prior to the date
hereof has been, in compliance in all material respects with all Laws applicable to it.

(b) Each Group Company is in possession of all material Permits necessary for such Group Company to own, lease and operate its
properties and to carry on its business as currently conducted, which Permits are in full force and effect and set forth on Schedule 3.8(b) of the
Disclosure Schedules. Such Group Company is in compliance with such Permits in all material respects, and no suspension or cancellation of any
material Permit is pending or, to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened. No Group Company has received any written notice of any material violation
or default under any such Permit that is unresolved.
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Section 3.9 Litigation. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9 of the Disclosure Schedules, there is, and during the three years preceding the date of
this Agreement there has been, no Action by or against any Group Company pending, or to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened in writing with
respect to any Group Company or its assets. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9 of the Disclosure Schedules, the Group Companies and their respective
assets are not, and for the three years prior to the date hereof have not been, subject to any material Judgment. To the Company’s Knowledge, there are
no material Judgments threatened to be imposed on any Group Company or any of their respective assets by any Governmental Authority.

Section 3.10 Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Schedule 3.10(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth (i) a list of all material “employee benefit plans” (as defined in Section 3(3) of
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”)) and all bonus, stock option, stock purchase, restricted stock, incentive,
deferred compensation, retiree medical or life insurance, severance, fringe benefit or other material benefit plans, programs or arrangements, whether
funded or unfunded, that are maintained, contributed to or sponsored by the Group Companies for the benefit of any current or former employee, officer
or director of the Group Companies; (ii) each material voluntary employees’ beneficiary association within the meaning of Section 501(c)(9) of the
Code, whether or not tax-qualified or subject to ERISA to which any Group Company has contributed or does contribute; and (iii) a list of all
employment, termination, severance or other material contracts, agreements or arrangements, pursuant to which the Company currently has any
obligation with respect to any current or former employee, officer or director of the Group Companies (collectively, the “Employee Plans”). The Group
Companies have made available to the Buyer copies of the following, as applicable, with respect to the Employee Plans: (i) a true and complete copy of
each Employee Plan (including a written summary of the material terms of any unwritten Employee Plan), (ii) all current summary plan descriptions,
(iii) any trust agreements or other funding arrangements, insurance policies and contracts, (iv) the two most recent Forms 5500, (v) compliance and
testing results prepared on behalf of any Employee Plan for the prior two years, (vi) any material communications or filings within the last three years
with any Governmental Authority regarding the Employee Plans, and (vii) the most recent determination or opinion letter from the IRS with respect to
any Employee Plan.

(b) (i) Each Employee Plan has been maintained and operated in accordance with its terms and applicable Law in all material respects,
including the requirements of ERISA and the Code, (ii) all contributions required to have been made under any of the Employee Plans have been
properly and timely made or as of Closing will have been properly accrued on the books and records of the Group Companies, (iii) the Group
Companies have not attempted to maintain the grandfathered health plan status under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the “ACA”) of
any Employee Plan, and have complied in all material respects with the ACA (and guidance thereunder), and the Consolidated Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, and (iv) no Action (other than claims for benefits in the ordinary course) is pending or, to the Company’s
Knowledge, threatened in writing with respect to any Employee Plan by any current or former employee, officer or director of the Group Companies
that would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
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(c) Each Employee Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a determination or opinion letter
from the IRS that it is so qualified (or the deadline for obtaining such a letter has not expired as of the date of this Agreement) and, to the Company’s
Knowledge, no fact or event has occurred since the date of such letter or letters from the IRS that would reasonably be expected to result in the loss of
the qualified status of any such Employee Plan.

(d) None of the Employee Plans is a multiemployer plan (within the meaning of Section 3(37) or 4001(a)(3) of ERISA) or a single
employer plan (within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(15) of ERISA) for which any Group Company would reasonably be expected to incur liability
under Section 4063 or 4064 of ERISA.

(e) No Group Company nor any other employer that is together with such Group Company treated as an ERISA Affiliate, has incurred any
liability under Section 4062, 4063, 4064 or 4069 of ERISA that, to the Company’s Knowledge, could subject the Buyer or the Group Companies to such
liability. No Group Company, nor any ERISA Affiliate, while an ERISA Affiliate, has any currently outstanding material withdrawal liability, within the
meaning of Section 4201 of ERISA, to any multiemployer pension plan, which liability could reasonably be expected to become a liability of the Buyer.

(f) Each contract, arrangement, or plan of the Group Companies that is a “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” (as defined for
purposes of Code Section 409A(d)(1)) is in documentary and operational compliance in all material respects with Code Section 409A and the applicable
guidance issued thereunder. The Group Companies do not have any obligations to gross up, indemnify or otherwise reimburse any individual for any
excise taxes, interest or penalties incurred under Section 409A of the Code.

(g) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.10(g) of the Disclosure Schedules, no amount that could be received (whether in the form of cash or
property or the vesting of property) in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby (individually or considered collectively with any other
events, agreements, plans, arrangements or other contracts) by any employee, officer, director, stockholder or other service provider of the Group
Companies would not be deductible by reason of Section 280G of the Code.

Section 3.11 Labor and Employment Matters.

(a) The Group Companies are not a party to or bound by any labor or collective bargaining contract and no Group Company Employees
are represented by any labor union, works council, or other labor-related organization with respect to their employment with the Group Companies. To
the Company’s Knowledge, within the past three years, (a) there have been no organizing activities or collective bargaining arrangements that affect the
Group Companies, (b) there have been no written threats of organization activities by any labor organization or group of employees of the Group
Companies that affect the Group Companies and (c) there have been no material lockouts, strikes, slowdowns or work stoppages implemented, pending
or threatened in writing by or with respect to any employees of the Group Companies.
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(b) Schedule 3.11(b) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all persons who are employees, independent contractors or consultants of
the Group Companies working in the United States or abroad as of the date hereof, including any employee who is on a leave of absence of any nature,
paid or unpaid, authorized or unauthorized, and sets forth for each such individual the following: (i) name; (ii) title or position (including whether full-
time or part-time); (iii) hire or retention date; (iv) current annual base compensation rate or contract fee; (v) commission, bonus or other cash incentive-
based compensation; (vi) Group Company employer; (vii) exemption status; and (viii) location (country, city and state). As of the date hereof, all
compensation, including wages, commissions, bonuses, fees and other compensation, payable to all employees, independent contractors or consultants
of the Company for services performed on or prior to the date hereof have been paid in full (or accrued in full on the audited balance sheet contained in
the Preliminary Closing Statement).

(c) Each Group Company is and has been in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws pertaining to employment and
employment practices to the extent they relate to employees, consultants and independent contractors of a Group Company, including, without
limitation, all Laws relating to labor relations, equal employment opportunities, fair employment practices, employment discrimination, harassment,
retaliation, reasonable accommodation, disability rights or benefits, immigration, wages, hours, overtime compensation, child labor, hiring, promotion
and termination of employees, working conditions, meal and break periods, the maintenance and handling of personnel records, health and safety,
workers’ compensation, leaves of absence, paid time off, paid sick leave and unemployment insurance (the “Employment Laws”). All individuals
characterized and treated by the Group Companies as independent contractors or consultants are properly treated as independent contractors under all
applicable Laws and for purposes of participant and benefit accrual under each Employee Plan. Each Group Company is in compliance in all material
respects with all immigration laws, including Form I-9 requirements and any applicable mandatory E-Verify obligations. There are no Actions against
any Group Company pending, or to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing to be brought or filed, by or with any Governmental Authority
or arbitrator in connection with the employment or engagement of any current or former applicant, employee, consultant or independent contractor of a
Group Company, including, without limitation, any charge, investigation or claim relating to the Employment Laws.

(d) Each Group Company has complied with the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act.

Section 3.12 Real and Personal Property.

(a) No Group Company owns any real property.

(b) Schedule 3.12(b) of the Disclosure Schedules lists the street address of each parcel of Leased Real Property and the identity of the
lessor, lessee and current occupant (if different from lessee) of each such parcel of Leased Real Property. The Group Companies have a valid leasehold
estate in all Leased Real Property, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances. All leases in respect of the Leased Real
Property are in full force and effect, no Group Company is in default under any lease for any Leased Real Property, and to the Company’s Knowledge,
no event has occurred that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would
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constitute a breach or default thereunder by the applicable Group Company or the applicable landlord. To the Company’s Knowledge, there is no
pending or written threat of condemnation or similar proceeding affecting the Leased Real Property or any portion thereof. True and complete copies of
the leases and each related material lease document (including all amendments, extensions, renewals, guaranties and other agreements with respect
thereto) in effect at the date hereof relating to the Leased Real Property have been made available to the Buyer and, other than as set forth on Schedule
3.12(b) of the Disclosure Schedules there has not been any sublease or assignment or collateral assignment entered into by any Group Company in
respect of the leases relating to the Leased Real Property.

(c) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.12(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, the applicable Group Company has good, marketable and
indefeasible title to, or a valid leasehold interest in, the assets and personal property used by it, including all tangible personal property reflected as
owned on the Balance Sheet (other than inventory sold since the date of the Balance Sheet in the ordinary course of business), free and clear of all
Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.12(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, all the tangible personal
property purchased or otherwise acquired by the Company since the date of the Balance Sheet (other than inventory acquired and sold since the date of
the Balance Sheet in the ordinary course of business) is owned by the applicable Group Company free and clear of all Encumbrances other than
Permitted Encumbrances. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.12(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, no Shareholder or any Affiliate of any Shareholder owns
or has any rights to use any assets used in or related to any Group Company’s business. The Group Companies’ tangible personal property is free from
material defects, is in satisfactory operating condition (subject to normal wear and tear), has been maintained in accordance with customary industry
practice and is located at the Leased Real Property.

Section 3.13 Intellectual Property.

(a) Schedule 3.13(a)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth an accurate and complete list of all active registered Marks and applications
for registration of Marks owned by the Group Companies (collectively, the “Company Registered Marks”), Schedule 3.13(a)(ii) of the Disclosure
Schedules sets forth an accurate and complete list of all active issued Patents and applications for Patents owned by the Group Companies (collectively,
the “Company Patents”) and Schedule 3.13(a)(iii) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth an accurate and complete list of all active registered Copyrights
and all pending applications for registration of Copyrights owned by the Group Companies (collectively, the “Company Registered Copyrights” and,
together with the Company Registered Marks and the Company Patents, the “Company Registered IP”). No Company Registered IP is involved in any
interference, reissue, reexamination, opposition or cancellation proceeding. To the Company’s Knowledge, the Company Registered IP is in effect and
subsisting, and the one of the Group Company’s is the sole owner of such applications and registrations.

(b) None of the Intellectual Property owned, or purported to be owned, by the Group Companies (the “Company Intellectual Property”),
nor any products or services distributed, sold or offered in connection with the business of the Group Companies as currently conducted, nor any
technology or materials used in connection therewith infringes upon or misappropriates any Intellectual Property of any third party. No Group Company
has received within the prior five
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(5) years any written notice asserting that any such infringement or misappropriation has occurred. The Company Intellectual Property is not subject to
any outstanding Judgment to which any Group Company is a party or by which it is bound and the Company Intellectual Property was directly and
specifically at issue in such Judgment. No Judgment is pending or, to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened in writing, to which any Group Company is
a party or by which it is bound and the Company Intellectual Property is directly and specifically at issue, that challenges the validity, enforceability,
ownership, use or licensing of any Company Intellectual Property. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, to the
Company’s Knowledge, no third party is misappropriating or infringing any material Company Intellectual Property in any material manner. This
Section 3.13(b) constitutes the sole and exclusive representation and warranty regarding the Group Companies’ infringement, misappropriation or other
violation of any Intellectual Property of any third party.

(c) The Company Intellectual Property and the Intellectual Property licensed by the Group Companies constitute all Intellectual Property
necessary to conduct the Group Companies’ business in the manner currently conducted.

(d) Schedule 3.13(d) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a true and complete list of all proprietary software developed by or on behalf of
the Group Companies that is Company Intellectual Property and that is material to the business of any Group Company as currently conducted
(collectively the “Company Software”). To the Company’s Knowledge, the Company Software does not contain any back door, time bomb, drop dead
device, or other software routine designed to disable a computer program automatically with the passage of time or under the positive control of any
unauthorized Person or any virus, Trojan horse, worm, or other software routines or hardware components designed to permit unauthorized access,
disable, erase, or otherwise harm software, hardware, or data or to perform any other such actions (other than such mechanisms intentionally included in
any Company Software for the Company to monitor and control access and use of such Company Software).

(e) Schedule 3.13(e) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth (i) all agreements to which any Group Company is a party for the development
of any Intellectual Property that is material to the business of any Group Company, as currently conducted, by any third party for or on behalf of any
Group Company (excluding non-disclosure and invention assignment agreements entered into with employees of any Group Company in the ordinary
course of business in the form(s) made available to Buyer prior to the date hereof), (ii) all licenses, sublicenses and other agreements to which any
Group Company is a party whereby (A) such Group Company is authorized to use any Intellectual Property that is material to the business of any Group
Company (other than (1) for off-the-shelf commercially available software, freeware or open source software, in each case, that do not require payment
of any recurring license fees, subscriptions fees, and/or recurring support and maintenance in amounts in excess of $100,000 per year, and
(2) non-disclosure agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business) and (B) such Group Company licenses or otherwise authorizes a third
party to use any Company Intellectual Property (excluding non-exclusive outbound licenses of Intellectual Property granted under Contracts entered into
in the ordinary course of business with customers of any Group Company or with service providers of any Group Company for the purpose of providing
services to a Group Company) (collectively , the “IP Contracts”).
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(f) Each Group Company has taken reasonable and customary precautions to protect the proprietary nature of each item of Company
Intellectual Property that is material to the business of such Group Company, and to maintain in confidence all material Trade Secrets owned by such
Group Company.

(g) All current and former executives, employees, contractors and consultants of the Group Companies (collectively, “Company
Personnel”) who have participated in the creation or development of any Intellectual Property by or on behalf of any Group Company have executed and
delivered to the Group Companies a valid and enforceable agreement (A) providing for the non-disclosure by such Person of any confidential
information of the Group Companies, and (B) under which such Person presently assigns to the Group Companies all of such Person’s right, title and
interest in and to such Intellectual Property, in each case, in the form(s) made available to Buyer prior to the date hereof and without modification. To
the Knowledge of the Company, no current and former Company Personnel is in material violation of any term of any such proprietary information and
assignment agreement between such Person and a Group Company. To the Company’s Knowledge (without conducting any patent search or
investigation), none of the former or current Company Personnel or other Person who has contributed to the creation or development of any Company
Intellectual Property or Company Software has any Patents issued or applications pending for any device, process, design, or invention of any kind now
used or needed by any Group Company in the furtherance of the Group Companies’ business.

Section 3.14 Data Privacy and Security.

(a) The Group Companies and its products and services for the previous four (4) years have been, and currently are, in material compliance
with (i) all applicable Data Security Requirements, and (ii) the requirements of any Contract relating to the processing of Personal Information by which
any Group Company is bound (together the “Privacy Requirements”). The Group Companies have provided consumers and employees with all notices
and disclosures to the extent required by applicable Privacy Requirements. In the previous four (4) years, no Group Company has been subject to any
written claim, inquiry, proceeding, audit, or investigation, or has been required to provide any notice to any Person, and has not received any notice from
any Person, in each case in connection with any actual or alleged violation of the Privacy Requirements. To the Company’s Knowledge, the
consummation of this transaction will not cause the Group Companies to violate or breach any Privacy Requirements.

(b) No materials published or distributed by the Group Companies constitute obscene material, contain defamatory statements or material,
constitute false advertising, are in violation of the right of publicity, or otherwise violate applicable Law.

(c) The Group Companies maintain, and for the previous four (4) years have maintained, commercially reasonable administrative, physical
and technical security measures, safeguards and policies reasonably designed to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of all Personal
Information owned, stored, used, maintained or controlled by or on behalf of each Group Company designed to prevent and avoid (i) any material loss,
failure, and corruption of Personal Information, (ii) any unauthorized access or use of Personal Information, and (iii) any code, software, or computer
instruction of an unwanted or malicious nature (including computer viruses, worms, Trojan Horses, malware, adware, and self-destruction or termination
 

35



mechanisms). Commercially reasonable disaster recovery plans, which includes the collection of regular back-up copies of data and information critical
to the business, are in place to ensure that the core Group Company Systems can be replaced without material disruption to the business in the event of a
failure of Group Company Systems. The software, hardware, networks and other Group Company Systems owned, licensed or leased by the Group
Companies are in good working order and sufficient for the business of the Group Companies as currently conducted, and as presently contemplated to
be conducted. The Group Company Systems have not been subject to any outages, failures, breakdowns or continued substandard performance which
have caused any material disruption or interruption in the business of the Group Companies or the use of the Group Company Systems.

(d) In the previous four (4) years, there have not been any Security Incidents that require or required any Group Company to notify
government authorities, affected individuals, or other parties of such occurrence, nor have there been any material unauthorized access, use, or
disclosure of any Personal Information stored on Group Company Systems or required any Group Company to notify Governmental Authorities,
affected individuals, or other parties of such occurrence.

Section 3.15 Taxes. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.15 of the Disclosure Schedules::

(a) The Group Companies have accurately prepared and timely filed all Returns required to be filed. Such Returns are accurate and correct
in all material respects and do not contain a disclosure statement under Section 6662 of the Code or any predecessor provision or comparable provision
of state, local or foreign Law. No Group Company has requested any extension of time within which to file any Return, which Return has since not been
filed. The Group Companies are and have been in compliance with all applicable Laws pertaining to Taxes in all material respects, including all
applicable Laws relating to record retention.

(b) The Group Companies have timely paid all material Taxes owed by them (whether or not shown on any Return) and have adequately
provided for all material Taxes for which they are required to provide.

(c) The Group Companies have timely withheld and paid to the appropriate Governmental Authority all amounts required to be withheld
and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to, or required to be shown on any information return provided to, employees, agents, contractors,
creditors, nonresidents and any other third parties, and all required information returns with respect to any such amounts have been correctly prepared
and filed.

(d) No claim has been made in writing by any taxing authority in any jurisdiction where a Group Company does not file Returns that it is
or may be subject to Tax by that jurisdiction. No extensions or waivers of statutes of limitations with respect to any Returns have been given by or
requested from a Group Company.

(e) No Group Company is a party to any Action by any taxing authority, nor is there any pending or threatened Action by any taxing
authority.
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(f) All deficiencies asserted or assessments made against the Group Companies as a result of any examinations by any taxing authority
have been fully paid and no rationale underlying a claim for Taxes has been asserted previously, in writing, by any taxing authority that reasonably could
be expected to be asserted in any other period.

(g) There are no Encumbrances for Taxes upon the assets of a Group Company, other than Encumbrances for current Taxes not yet due and
payable or the amount or validity of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings.

(h) No Group Company is a party to or bound by any closing agreement or offer in compromise with any taxing authority.

(i) No Group Company (i) has been a member of an affiliated group filing a consolidated, combined, unitary or similar group for federal,
state, local or foreign Tax purposes (other than a group the common parent of which was the Company), (ii) has any liability for the Taxes of any Person
under any state, local or foreign analogue of Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 as a transferee or successor, by Contract or otherwise and (iii) is a
party to any Tax indemnity, allocation or sharing agreement, other than any commercial agreement entered into in the ordinary course of business that is
not primarily related to Taxes.

(j) No Group Company (i) has been a “United States real property holding corporation” (as defined in Code Section 897(c)(2)) during the
five (5) year period ending on the Closing Date, (ii) is a party to or has engaged in any transaction that is a “listed transaction” under
Section 1.6011-4(b)(2) of the Treasury Regulations, (iii) has a permanent establishment (within the meaning of an applicable Tax treaty) or otherwise
has an office or fixed place of business in a country other than the country in which it is organized, and (iv) is not and has not been subject to adjustment
under section 482 of the Code (including any similar provision of state, local, or foreign Tax law).

(k) No Group Company will be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for any
taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of (i) any change in method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or
prior to the Closing Date, (ii) any “closing agreement” as described in section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local
or foreign Tax Law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date, (iii) any installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing
Date, (iv) any use of an improper method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date, (v) any prepaid amounts received on
or prior to the Closing Date, or (vi) intercompany transaction or excess loss account described in Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code
(or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local, or non-U.S. income Tax law).

(l) During the past three (3) years, no Group Company has been a party to a transaction that is reported to qualify as a reorganization
within the meaning of Code Section 368 or constituted either a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation” within the meaning of Code
Section 355 in a distribution of stock intended to qualify for tax-free treatment under Code Section 355.

(m) No power of attorney has been executed by or on behalf of the Company with respect to any matters relating to Taxes that is currently
in force.
 

37



Section 3.16 Environmental Matters.

(a) The Group Companies are, and at all times in the past three years have been, in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws in
all material respects.

(b) The Group Companies have obtained all Environmental Permits, and the Group Companies are, and at all times in the past three years
have been, in compliance with all Environmental Permits in all material respects. All Environmental Permits held by the Group Companies are valid and
in full force and effect and disclosed on Schedule 3.16(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, and no Group Company has received any notice of any
revocation, termination, or modification of any Environmental Permit, the subject of which remains unresolved.

(c) There has been no Release or disposal of any Hazardous Materials by the Group Companies at any property currently or formerly
owned, leased, or otherwise operated by the Group Companies that would reasonably be expected to result in a material liability under Environmental
Laws.

(d) No Group Company has received written notice of any violation of, or liability under, or to the Company’s Knowledge, any threatened
notice of violation or investigation under any Environmental Law, the subject of which remains unresolved.

(e) No Group Company has received any pending written request for information under any Environmental Laws from any Governmental
Authority.

(f) No Group Company has assumed, by contract, operation of law, or otherwise, any liability of any other Person pursuant to
Environmental Laws.

(g) The Group Companies have provided or made available to the Buyer complete copies of any Phase I Environmental Site Assessment
reports, Phase II investigation reports, or environmental audit reports in its possession or related to the environmental condition of any property
currently or formerly owned, leased or operated by the Group Companies or related to compliance with Environmental Laws.

(h) For purposes of this Agreement:

(i) “Environmental Laws” means any Law of any Governmental Authority, relating to the (A) protection, preservation, or restoration
of the environment (including, without limitation, indoor and ambient air, water, vapor, surface water, groundwater, surface land, subsurface land, and
natural resources), (B) the use, storage, recycling, treatment, generation, transportation, processing, handling, labeling, registration, production,
emission, Release, disposal, management, regulation or exposure to Hazardous Materials, or (C) the health and safety of workers or persons to the extent
related to exposure to Hazardous Materials.

(ii) “Environmental Permits” means all Permits required under any Environmental Laws.
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Section 3.17 Material Contracts.

(a) Schedule 3.17(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a true and complete list (arranged in accordance with this Section 3.17(a)) of
the following Contracts to which any Group Company is a party or by which any Group Company or any of its assets are bound (such contracts and
agreements as described in this Section 3.17(a), together with all IP Contracts and any Contracts that should be set forth on Schedule 3.17(a), being
“Material Contracts”):

(i) all Contracts that provide for payment or receipt by the Company, including any such contracts and agreements with customers or
clients, of more than $100,000 per year;

(ii) all Contracts for the lease of any personal property to or from any Person, which have future required scheduled payments in
excess of $50,000 in any calendar year;

(iii) all Contracts relating to Indebtedness or under which an Encumbrance has been imposed on the Company (other than a
Permitted Encumbrance);

(iv) all Contracts that limit or purport to limit the ability of any Group Company or any of its Affiliates to compete (A) in any line of
business or market, (B) with any Person, (C) in any geographic area or (D) during any period of time;

(v) all Contracts that require any Group Company to deal exclusively with the counterparty or under which any Group Company
grants exclusive rights to another Person;

(vi) all Contracts with any Material Customer or Material Supplier.

(vii) all Contracts listed on Schedule 3.19 of the Disclosure Schedules;

(viii) all joint venture, partnership or similar agreements or arrangements;

(ix) all Contracts containing any capital expenditure obligations after the date of this Agreement in excess of $100,000, individually;

(x) all Contracts relating to the acquisition or disposition of any business or Person (or all or any substantial portion of the assets of
any business, business unit, facility or Person) whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise, under which, after the Closing, any Group
Company will have any remaining obligations;

(xi) all Contracts relating to any employment, individual independent contractor, or individual consulting agreement requiring
payment by any Group Company of base annual fees or annual salary in excess of $150,000;

(xii) (A) all Contracts with any Governmental Authority and (B) all Contracts under which any Group Company is a subcontractor
to a Person which, to the Company’s Knowledge, is a party to a Contract with any Governmental Authority with respect to which such Contract relates
(each, a “Government Contract”);
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(xiii) all Contracts granting any right of first refusal, right of first offer or similar preferential rights or that limit the ability of any
Group Company to own, operate, sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of any material amount of assets or business;

(xiv) all Contracts relating to any sales representative or distributor who (A) is not a natural person or (B) in the immediately
preceding fiscal year received, or in the current fiscal year is reasonably anticipated to receive, fees in excess of $150,000; and

(xv) all Contracts providing for fixed pricing for the products or services of the Company for a period of longer than one year from
the Closing Date.

(b) True, correct and complete copies of all written Material Contracts have been made available to the Buyer. No Group Company is a
party to any oral contracts, agreements or commitments that, if in written form, would be a Material Contract. Each Material Contract (i) is a legally
valid, binding and enforceable obligation of the Company and, to the Company’s Knowledge, the counterparties thereto, and is in full force and effect
and (ii) shall continue in full force and effect on identical terms upon consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the
Ancillary Agreements, except to the extent that any consents set forth on Schedule 3.2(a) of the Disclosure Schedules are not obtained. The Companies
are not, and to the Company’s Knowledge, no other party to any Material Contract is, in material breach of, or in material default under, any Material
Contract and, to the Company’s Knowledge, no event has occurred which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both, would constitute such
a breach or default.

Section 3.18 Customers and Suppliers.

(a) Schedule 3.18(a) of the Disclosure Schedules lists the fifteen (15) largest customers of the Group Companies on a consolidated basis
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, measured by dollar value of products and services sold, together with the approximate aggregate dollar
volume of sales made to each such customer during such period (collectively, such customers listed on Schedule 3.18(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, the
“Major Customers”).

(b) Schedule 3.18(b) of the Disclosure Schedules lists the fifteen (15) largest suppliers or vendors of the Group Companies on a
consolidated basis for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, measured by dollar value of products and services sold, together with the approximate
aggregate dollar volume of purchases made to each such supplier or vendor during such period (collectively, such customers listed on Schedule 3.18(b)
of the Disclosure Schedules, the “Major Suppliers”).

(c) Since January 1, 2021, no Major Customer or Major Supplier has (i) cancelled, terminated, stopped or notified the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries in writing that it intends to cancel, terminate or stop acquiring or selling products or services from or to the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, (ii) substantially reduced or notified the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in writing that it intends to substantially reduce the volume of
products and services that it acquires from or sells to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (iii) materially changed or notified the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries in writing that it intends to materially change the economic terms on which it acquires or sells products and services from or to the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
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Section 3.19 Related Party Arrangements. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.19 of the Disclosure Schedules, no Shareholder nor the current or
former employees, directors, managers, or officers of any Group Company, or any family member of such Person or any Affiliate of such Person thereof
or the Group Companies is a party to any Contract or other arrangement with any Group Company. To the Company’s Knowledge, no officer, director,
manager or employee of the Company has (a) an interest in any Contract or other commitment of any Group Company (excluding Contracts relating to
such employee’s employment with the Group Companies) or any of its assets or (b) any ownership or interest in a customer listed on Schedule 3.18(a) of
the Disclosure Schedules or any supplier listed on Schedule 3.18(b) of the Disclosure Schedules.

Section 3.20 Insurance. Schedule 3.20 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a true and complete list of all insurance policies maintained by,
carried by or maintained on behalf of the Group Companies as of the date of this Agreement (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Employee Benefit
Plans). All such insurance policies are in full force and effect, except as may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and by general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is
considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) and no Group Company is in breach or default of any such insurance policies in any material respect
(including any such breach or default with respect to the payment of premiums or the giving of notice of claims) and, to the Company’s Knowledge, no
event has occurred which, with notice or the lapse of time or both, would constitute such a breach or default, or permit termination, under any such
policy. No written notice of cancellation or termination of any such insurance policies has been received by the Group Companies other than in
connection with ordinary renewals with respect to each such insurance policy. There is no claim pending, nor have there been any material claims in the
last five (5) years, under any such insurance policies or binders with respect to which coverage has been questioned, denied or disputed by the
underwriters of such policies or binders or which is reasonably likely to exhaust the applicable limit of liability. Such insurance policies do not provide
for any retrospective premium adjustment or other experience-based liability on the part of any Group Company. All such insurance policies have not
been subject to any lapse in coverage since the date of the Balance Sheet. All insurance policies required to be listed on Schedule 3.20 of the Disclosure
Schedule are in amounts and have coverage required by any Material Contract (whether written or oral) to which any Group Company is a party or by
which any of its assets or properties is bound and such policies are sufficient for compliance with all applicable Laws and Material Contracts (whether
written or oral). The Company has made available to Buyer true, correct and complete copies of each of the insurance policies listed or required to be
listed on Schedule 3.20 of the Disclosure Schedules.

Section 3.21 Indebtedness; PPP Loan.

(a) Indebtedness. Schedule 3.21(a) of the Disclosure schedule lists of Indebtedness of the Group Companies outstanding as of the date of
this Agreement.
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(b) PPP Loan. All statements, representations and documentation submitted by the Group Companies or any of their respective
representatives to apply for or obtain the PPP Loan or to apply for any subsequent draws under the Paycheck Protection Program, and all statements,
representations and certifications made in the PPP Loan documents and related applications for the PPP Loan or any subsequent draws, were true and
accurate in all material respects when made, including with respect to eligibility to receive the PPP Loan or any subsequent draws under the Paycheck
Protection Program. The Group Companies have used its applicable PPP Loan solely for the allowable uses set forth in the PPP Loan and the CARES
Act. The Group Companies have (i) maintained all records in connection with the PPP Loan and any subsequent draw applications under the Paycheck
Protection Program and (ii) made available to Buyer copy of the Group Companies applications for forgiveness, all supporting documentation required
in connection with forgiveness of the PPP Loan, and copies of all applications and other material correspondence related to the PPP Loan and any
subsequent draw applications under the Paycheck Protection Program. The Group Companies have received confirmation from JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A. of the forgiveness of the PPP Loan by the Small Business Administration. To the extent applicable to the Group Companies, the Group Companies
have complied in all material respects with the CARES Act and Applicable Laws implemented in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Except for the
PPP Loan, no Group Company has received any financial assistance under the CARES Act or the Paycheck Protection Program and Health Care
Enhancement Act (P.L. 116-139).

Section 3.22 Sanctions. To the Company’s Knowledge of the Group Companies, since January 1, 2016, neither the Group Companies nor any
Group Company Employee, officer, director, or any agent of any Group Company thereof: (a) has been a Restricted Party; (b) has directly or indirectly
transacted business with or for the benefit of a Restricted Party in violation of Sanctions; (c) has been organized, ordinarily resident, or located in a
Sanctioned Country; (d) has engaged in any dealings or transactions in any Sanctioned Country in violation of Sanctions; or (e) has made any voluntary
or involuntary disclosure to a Governmental Authority, or received any written inquiry or been notified in writing that it was subject to an investigation,
concerning any actual or potential violation of Sanctions.

Section 3.23 Prohibited Payments. No Group Company has, directly or indirectly, (a) made or agreed to make any contribution, payment or gift to
any government official, employee or agent where either the contribution, payment or gift or the purpose thereof was illegal under any Law,
(b) established or maintained any unrecorded fund or asset for any purpose or made any false entries on its books and records for any reason, (c) made
or agreed to make any contribution, or reimbursed any political gift or contribution made by any other Persons, to any candidate for federal, state, local
or foreign public office other than in accordance with applicable Law, or (d) paid or delivered any fee, commission or any other sum of money or item of
property, however characterized, to any finder, agent, government official or other party, in the United States or any other country, that in any manner
relates to such Group Company’s business, for the purpose of or that the Company knows or has reason to believe to have been intended to (i) influence
any action or decision of such Person, in such Person’s official capacity, including a decision to fail to perform such Person’s official function,
(ii) induce such Person to use such Person’s influence with any Governmental Authority to affect or influence any act or decision of such Governmental
Authority to assist any Group Company in obtaining or retaining business for, or with, or directing business to, any Person or (iii) where such payment
would constitute a bribe, illegal kickback or other improper payment to assist such Group Company in obtaining or retaining business for, or with, or
directing business to, any Person or would be considered illegal under any Laws of the United States or any other country having jurisdiction.
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Section 3.24 Brokers. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.24 of the Disclosure Schedules, the fees, commissions and expenses of which will
constitute Transaction Expenses and be paid as specified herein, no broker, finder, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any
brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby based upon arrangements made by or on behalf
of the Company.

Section 3.25 Exclusivity of Representations and Warranties. Except as to those matters expressly covered by the representations and warranties in
this Agreement and the other agreements, certificates, and instruments to be executed by the Company in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement
(including the Ancillary Agreements), (I) NONE OF THE COMPANY, ANY COMPANY SHAREHOLDER, ANY GROUP COMPANY OR ANY
REPRESENTATIVE OF AFFILIATES THEREOF MAKES ANY OTHER REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER (INCLUDING
ANY IMPLIED OR EXPRESS WARRANTY AS TO THE CONDITION, VALUE OR QUALITY OF THE BUSINESS OR IMPLIED OR EXPRESS
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR CONFORMITY TO MODELS OR SAMPLES OF
MATERIALS OF ANY ASSETS OR PROPERTY OF ANY GROUP COMPANY) TO BUYER, (II) THE ASSETS OF THE COMPANY GROUP
ARE BEING CONVEYED ON AN “AS-IS, WHERE-IS” AND “WITH ALL FAULTS” BASIS, AND (III) THE COMPANY, EACH COPMANY
SHAREHOLDER , AND EACH GROUP COMPANY HEREBY DISCLAIMS ALL LIABILITY AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY
REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, STATEMENT, OR INFORMATION NOT INCLUDED HEREIN THAT WAS MADE, COMMUNICATED, OR
FURNISHED (ORALLY OR IN WRITING) TO BUYER OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES (INCLUDING ANY OPINION, INFORMATION,
PROJECTION, OR ADVICE THAT MAY HAVE BEEN OR MAY BE PROVIDED TO BUYER BY ANY DIRECTOR, OFFICER, EMPLOYEE,
AGENT, CONSULTANT, OR REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY GROUP COMPANY). Without limiting the foregoing, except as to those matters
specifically covered by the representations and warranties in this Agreement and the other agreements, certificates, and instruments to be executed by
the Company in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement (including the Ancillary Agreements), no representation or warranty of any kind or
nature whatsoever, oral or written, express or implied (including, but not limited to, any relating to financial condition, results of operations, assets or
liabilities of the Company), except as expressly set forth in this Article III and the other agreements, certificates, and instruments to be executed by the
Company in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement (including the Ancillary Agreements), and the Company hereby disclaims any such other
representations or warranties is made with respect to (a) the information provided by any Group Company or its Representatives to Buyer or its
Representatives, or any supplement or amendment thereof or other information provided in connection with the negotiations related to this Agreement,
such information being provided for Buyer’s convenience only, (b) any projections, estimates or budgets delivered to or made available to Buyer of
future revenues, future results of operations (or any component thereof), future cash flows or future financial condition (or any component thereof) of
the Business or the future business and operations of the Business or (c) any other information or documents made available to Buyer or its Affiliates,
counsel, accountants or other representatives or advisors with respect to the Business, in each case except as expressly set forth in the representations
and warranties included in this Agreement.
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ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BUYER AND MERGER SUB

The Buyer and Merger Sub, jointly and severally, hereby represent and warrant to the Company and the Shareholders’ Representative (on behalf
of the Shareholders) as follows:

Section 4.1 Organization and Qualification. The Buyer is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of
Delaware. Merger Sub is a corporation duly organized, validly incorporated and in good standing under the Laws of Delaware. Each of the Buyer and
Merger Sub has all necessary corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as it is now being
conducted.

Section 4.2 Ownership of Merger Sub; No Prior Activities. Merger Sub is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Buyer, was formed solely for the
purpose of engaging in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and has engaged in no business activity other than as contemplated by this
Agreement. Except for obligations or liabilities incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Merger Sub has not and
will not have incurred, directly or indirectly, through any Subsidiary or Affiliate, any obligations or liabilities or engaged in any business activities of
any type or kind whatsoever or entered into any agreements or arrangements with any Person.

Section 4.3 Authority. Each of the Buyer and Merger Sub has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each
of the Ancillary Agreements to which it will be a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance by each of the Buyer and Merger Sub of this Agreement and each of the
Ancillary Agreements to which the Buyer or Merger Sub will be a party and the consummation by the Buyer and Merger Sub of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action of the Buyer and Merger Sub. This Agreement
has been, and upon their execution each of the Ancillary Agreements to which the Buyer or Merger Sub will be a party will have been, duly executed
and delivered by the Buyer and Merger Sub, assuming due execution and delivery by each of the other parties hereto and thereto, this Agreement
constitutes, and upon their execution each of the Ancillary Agreements to which the Buyer or Merger Sub will be a party will constitute, the legal, valid
and binding obligations of the Buyer and Merger Sub, enforceable against the Buyer and Merger Sub in accordance with their respective terms, except
as enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and
by general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
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Section 4.4 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

(a) The execution, delivery and performance by each of the Buyer and Merger Sub of this Agreement and each of the Ancillary
Agreements to which the Buyer or Merger Sub will be a party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, do not and
will not:

(i) conflict with or violate the Governing Documents of the Buyer or Merger Sub; or

(ii) conflict with or violate any Law applicable to the Buyer or Merger Sub or by which any property or asset of the Buyer or Merger
Sub is bound or affected.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.4(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, neither the Buyer nor Merger Sub is required to file, seek or obtain
any notice, authorization, approval, order, permit or consent of or with any Governmental Authority in connection with the execution, delivery and
performance by the Buyer and Merger Sub of this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Agreements to which it will be party or the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or in order to prevent the termination of any right, privilege, license or qualification of the Buyer or Merger
Sub, except (i) for such filings as may be required by any applicable federal or state securities or “blue sky” laws, (ii) where failure to obtain such
consent, approval, authorization or action, or to make such filing or notification, would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to
have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect or (iii) as may be necessary as a result of any facts or circumstances relating to the Company.

Section 4.5 Financing. The Buyer has sufficient funds available to it to permit the Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, and to pay all related fees and expenses. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the
Buyer acknowledges and agrees that its obligations to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby are not contingent upon its ability to obtain any
third party financing.

Section 4.6 Solvency. Upon consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the Buyer will not (x) be insolvent or left with unreasonably
small capital, (y) have incurred debts beyond their ability to pay such debts as they mature, or (z) have liabilities in excess of the reasonable market
value of their assets.

Section 4.7 Litigation. As of the date hereof, there is no Action by or against the Buyer or Merger Sub pending, or to the Knowledge of the Buyer,
threatened in writing that, if adversely determined or concluded, would, individually or in the aggregate, restrict or limit the ability of the Buyer or
Merger Sub to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

Section 4.8 Brokers. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.8 of the Disclosure Schedules, the fees, commissions and expenses of which will be paid by
the Buyer or Merger Sub, no broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Buyer or Merger Sub.

Section 4.9 Buyer’s Investigation and Reliance. The Buyer is a sophisticated purchaser and each of the Buyer and Merger Sub has made its own
independent investigation, review and analysis regarding the Group Companies and the transactions contemplated hereby, which investigation, review
and analysis were conducted by each of the Buyer and Merger Sub together with advisors, including legal counsel, that it has engaged for such purpose.
Neither the Company nor any of its respective Affiliates or Representatives has made any representation or warranty,
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express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of any information concerning the Group Companies made available in connection with the
Buyer’s and Merger Sub’s investigation of the Group Companies, except as expressly set forth in the representations and warranties set forth in Article
III of this Agreement and the other agreements, documents, instruments and certificates to be executed in connection with or pursuant to this
Agreement, and the Company, the Shareholders and their respective Affiliates and Representatives expressly disclaim any and all liability that may be
based on such information or errors therein or omissions therefrom. The Buyer and Merger Sub have not relied and are not relying on any statement,
representation or warranty, oral or written, express or implied, made by the Company, any Shareholder or any of their respective Affiliates or
Representatives, except as set expressly set forth in Article III of this Agreement and the other agreements, documents, instruments to be executed in
connection with or pursuant to this Agreement (including the Ancillary Agreements). Neither the Company nor any of its respective Affiliates or
Representatives shall have any liability to the Buyer or Merger Sub or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives resulting from the use of any
information, documents or materials made available to the Buyer or Merger Sub, whether orally or in writing, in any confidential information
memoranda, “data rooms,” management presentations, due diligence discussions or in any other form in expectation of the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement. Neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates or Representatives is making, directly or indirectly, any representation or warranty with
respect to any estimates, projections or forecasts involving the Company. The Buyer and Merger Sub acknowledge that there are inherent uncertainties
in attempting to make such estimates, projections and forecasts and that it takes full responsibility for making its own evaluation of the adequacy and
accuracy of any such estimates, projections or forecasts (including the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying any such estimates, projections and
forecasts). The Buyer and Merger Sub acknowledge and agree that the representations and warranties in Article III are the result of arms’ length
negotiations between sophisticated parties. Nothing in this Section 4.9 is intended to modify or limit any of the representations or warranties of the
Company set forth in Article III.

ARTICLE V
COVENANTS

Section 5.1 Conduct of Business Prior to the Closing. Except as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement or as set forth on Schedule 5.1 of the
Disclosure Schedules, between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, unless the Buyer shall otherwise provide its prior written consent, the
business of the Company shall be conducted only in the ordinary course of business in all material respects. The Company shall use its commercially
reasonable efforts to, and to cause its Subsidiaries to, preserve intact in all material respects its business organization, properties and assets and to
preserve in all material respects the present employment relationships with officers and key employees and commercial relationships with key Persons
with whom it does business. Except as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement or as set forth on Schedule 5.1 of the Disclosure Schedules or as
required by applicable Law, between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, without the prior consent of the Buyer (which consent, only in the
case of clauses (d), (h), (j), (m), (n) or (o), shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Company will not and will cause its
Subsidiaries to not:

(a) amend its Governing Documents;
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(b) issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber any shares of capital stock, or any options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights of
any kind to acquire any such shares or equity interests;

(c) reclassify, combine, split, subdivide or redeem, or purchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any of its capital stock (or other
equity equivalents) or make any other change with respect to its capital structure;

(d) at any time after the delivery of the Preliminary Closing Statement, declare or pay a dividend on, or make any other distribution in
respect of any Capital Stock of any Group Company;

(e) authorize, propose or announce an intention to authorize or propose, or enter into agreements with respect to, any mergers,
consolidations or business combinations or material acquisitions of assets (other than purchase of inventory in the ordinary course of business) or
securities;

(f) adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation or recapitalization;

(g) sell, lease, license, transfer or exchange or otherwise dispose of, any of the assets, except (i) for fair consideration in the ordinary
course of business or (ii) pursuant to existing Contracts in effect prior to the date of this Agreement;

(h) create any Encumbrance (other than a Permitted Encumbrance) on any of its assets, incur any Indebtedness or make any loans,
advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person (other than trade credit extensions in the ordinary course of business);

(i) enter into any contract, agreement or arrangement that would be a Material Contract if entered into prior to the date hereof, or modify,
amend, renew, cancel, terminate, transfer, assign or waive any rights under any Material Contract, in each case, other than in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice or, with respect to any Material Contract relating to employment or the engagement of any independent contractor
or consultant, a termination for “cause” under such Material Contract;

(j) authorize, make any commitment or increase any previous commitment with respect to, any single capital expenditure that is in excess
of $50,000 or capital expenditures that are, in the aggregate, in excess of $100,000 for the Company;

(k) grant or announce any material increase in the salaries, bonuses, severance or other benefits payable to any of its officers, employees or
directors, other than (i) as required by Law, (ii) as required by any plans, programs or agreements existing on the date hereof or (iii) other ordinary
increases not inconsistent with the past practices of any Group Company;

(l) adopt or enter into any new Employee Plan, or modify, amend or terminate any existing Employee Plan, other than as required by Law
or existing employment agreements or outside the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
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(m) make any change in any method of accounting or accounting practice or policy or in any system of internal accounting controls or any
of its methods of reporting income, deductions or other material items for income Tax purposes, except as required by applicable Law or the Applicable
Accounting Principles;

(n) form or cause to be formed any Subsidiary;

(o) settle, waive or release any Action or claim (or series thereof), other than (i) in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice and (ii) involving solely money damages of less than $500,000;

(p) take any action to terminate or impair any current or former occurrence-based insurance policies; or

(q) authorize, commit to or enter into any contract, agreement, commitment or arrangement with respect to any of the foregoing.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may use all available Cash to pay any Transaction Expenses or Indebtedness prior the Closing, to make
distributions or dividends prior to the date of the delivery of the Preliminary Closing Statement or for any other purpose not expressly prohibited by this
Section 5.1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, at any time and from time to time prior to the Closing, the Company
and its Subsidiaries shall be permitted (but not obligated) to take or refrain from taking any COVID-19 Response or any other action that the Company
reasonably believes is necessary for the Company or its Subsidiaries to (x) respond to or mitigate the adverse effects of COVID-19 on the business of
the Company and its Subsidiaries, or (y) comply with any COVID-19 Measures or any applicable Laws or Orders of any Governmental Entity, including
applicable Laws or orders issued in response to COVID-19, and any such action taken or omitted to be taken shall in no event be deemed to result in a
breach of Section 5.1.

Section 5.2 Covenants Regarding Information.

(a) From the date hereof until the Closing Date, upon reasonable notice, the Company shall afford the Buyer and its Representatives
reasonable access to the Representatives, properties, offices, plants and other facilities, books and records of the Company, and shall furnish the Buyer
with such financial, operating and other data and information as the Buyer may reasonably request; provided, however, that any such access or
furnishing of information shall be conducted at the Buyer’s expense, during normal business hours, under the supervision of the Group Companies’
personnel and in such a manner as not unreasonably to interfere with the normal operations of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in
this Agreement, the Company shall not be required to disclose any information to the Buyer or its Representatives if, in the sole discretion of the
Company, (i) such disclosure would jeopardize any attorney-client or other legal privilege (provided that the Company will inform the Buyer of and
describe the nature of such information being withheld pursuant to this clause (i) and the Company will provide the information pursuant to an
appropriate joint defense agreement with the Buyer effective following the Closing if disclosure thereunder would not jeopardize any such privilege),
(ii) such disclosure would contravene any applicable Laws, (iii) such information is pertinent to any
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litigation in which any Shareholder, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Buyer or any of its Affiliates, on the
other hand, are adverse parties, or (iv) such information should not be disclosed due to its competitively sensitive nature (provided that any such
information contemplated by this clause (iv) shall be provided to the Buyer’s counsel on an “attorneys eyes only” basis). Under no circumstances shall
Buyer nor any of its Affiliates or Representatives contact any customers of the Group Companies in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby, whether in person or by telephone, mail or other means of communication, without the specific prior authorization of the Company.

(b) In order to facilitate the resolution of any claims made against or incurred by the Shareholders (as they relate to the Group Companies),
for a period of seven years after the Closing or, if shorter, the applicable period specified in the Buyer’s document retention policy, the Buyer shall
(i) retain the books and records relating to the Company relating to periods prior to the Closing and (ii) afford the Representatives of the Shareholders
reasonable access (including the right to make, at the Shareholder’s expense, photocopies), during normal business hours and in such a manner as not
unreasonably to interfere with the normal operations of the Buyer and its Affiliates, to such books and records; provided, however, that the Buyer shall
notify the Shareholders’ Representative in writing at least 30 days in advance of destroying any such books and records prior to the seventh anniversary
of the Closing Date in order to provide the Shareholder the opportunity to copy such books and records in accordance with this Section 5.2(b).

Section 5.3 Exclusivity. Until the earlier of Closing and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article VIII, the Company shall not (and
shall cause its Representatives and Affiliates not to), directly or indirectly, (a) solicit, initiate or knowingly encourage, facilitate or assist, an Acquisition
Proposal, (b) furnish to any Person (other than Buyer or its Representatives) any non-public information relating to the Group Companies, or afford to
any Person (other than Buyer and their Representatives) access to the business, properties, assets, books, records or other non-public information, or to
any personnel, of the Group Companies, in any such case with the intent to induce the making, submission or announcement of, or the intent to
encourage, facilitate or assist, an Acquisition Proposal or any inquiries that would reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal,
(c) participate or engage in discussions or negotiations with any Person (other than Buyer or its Representatives) with respect to an Acquisition
Proposal, or (d) enter into any Contract relating to an Acquisition Proposal or (e) transfer of any equity interests of the Group Companies. To the extent
permitted by applicable Law or confidentiality obligations, the Company shall notify Buyer if the Company (or any of its Representatives or Affiliates)
receives any Acquisition Proposal or any written inquiry that would reasonably be expected to lead to any Acquisition Proposal.

Section 5.4 Notification of Certain Matters. Until the Closing, each party hereto shall promptly notify the other party in writing of any fact,
change, condition, circumstance or occurrence or nonoccurrence of any event of which it is aware that will or is reasonably likely to result in any of the
conditions set forth in Article VII of this Agreement becoming incapable of being satisfied; provided that the failure of the Company to give such notice
with respect to the condition set forth in Section 7.3(a) shall not be deemed to be a breach of a covenant hereunder but instead shall only constitute a
breach of the underlying representation or warranty that was the subject of such failure to give such notice.
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Section 5.5 Intercompany Arrangements. All intercompany and intracompany accounts or contracts between the Company, on the one hand, and
the Shareholders and their respective Affiliates (other than the Company), on the other hand, shall be cancelled without any consideration or further
liability to any party and without the need for any further documentation, immediately prior to the Closing.

Section 5.6 Resignations. The Company will deliver at the Closing the resignation of all of directors, officers, managers or other Group Company
Employees set forth on Schedule 5.6 of the Disclosure Schedules, effective as of the Closing.

Section 5.7 Payoff and Cancellation Letters. At least two Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall deliver to the Buyer debt
payoff letters reflecting all outstanding Closing Indebtedness for borrowed money, or termination or cancellation letters relating to any existing credit
facilities of the Group Companies, and containing a commitment to deliver UCC termination statements or other Encumbrance releases as may be
reasonably required to evidence the release of any Encumbrances related to such Indebtedness.

Section 5.8 Confidentiality.

(a) Each of the parties (excluding the Shareholders’ Representative) shall hold, and shall cause its Representatives to hold, in confidence
all documents and information furnished to it by or on behalf of the other party in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby pursuant to the
terms of the confidentiality agreement dated August 12, 2021 between the Buyer and the Company (the “Confidentiality Agreement”), which shall
continue in full force and effect until the Closing Date, at which time such Confidentiality Agreement and the obligations of the parties under this
Section 5.8 shall terminate; provided, however, that the Buyer acknowledges that its obligations of confidentiality and non-disclosure with respect to
any and all other information provided to it by or on behalf of the Company (other than solely with respect to the Company or its business) shall
continue to remain subject to the terms and conditions of the Confidentiality Agreement, any termination of the Confidentiality Agreement that occurs
as a result of this sentence notwithstanding. If for any reason this Agreement is terminated prior to the Closing Date, the Confidentiality Agreement shall
nonetheless continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. The Shareholders’ Representative shall hold in confidence all documents and
information furnished to it by or on behalf of the other parties, provided however that notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary,
following Closing, the Shareholders’ Representative shall be permitted to disclose information as required by Law or to advisors and representatives of
the Shareholders’ Representative and to the Shareholders, in each case who have a need to know such information, provided that such persons are
subject to confidentiality obligations with respect thereto.

(b) From and after the Closing, the Company will, and will cause its Affiliates, agents and other Representatives to, treat and hold as
strictly confidential all of the Confidential Information, refrain from using any of the Confidential Information except in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereunder, and deliver promptly to the Buyer or destroy, at the Buyer’s request and option, all tangible embodiments (and all
copies) of the Confidential Information that are in the Company’s or any of its Affiliates’ or other Representatives’ possession. If the Company is
requested or legally required to disclose any Confidential Information, the Company will notify
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the Buyer promptly of the request or requirement so that the Buyer or its Affiliates may seek an appropriate protective order or waive compliance with
the provisions hereof. If, in the absence of a protective order or the receipt of a waiver hereunder, the Company is, on the advice of counsel, compelled
to disclose any Confidential Information to any tribunal or else stand liable for contempt, the Company may disclose the Confidential Information to the
tribunal, but the Company shall use reasonable efforts to obtain, at the Buyer’s or its Affiliate’s request and expense, an order or other assurance that
confidential treatment will be accorded to such portion of the Confidential Information required to be disclosed as the Buyer or its Affiliate designates.
As used in this Section 5.8(b), “Confidential Information” means any information concerning the businesses and affairs of the Company that is not, as of
the date of this Agreement, already generally available to the public.

Section 5.9 Consents and Filings; Further Assurances.

(a) Each of the parties shall use all commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action to do, or cause to be
done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Law or otherwise to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements as promptly as practicable, including to obtain from Governmental Authorities all consents, approvals,
authorizations, qualifications and orders as are necessary for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary
Agreements.

(b) The Company and the Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to resolve any objections that may be asserted by any
Governmental Authority with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby. In connection therewith, if any administrative or judicial action or
proceeding is instituted (or threatened to be instituted) challenging such transactions, and if, by mutual agreement, the Company and the Buyer decide
that litigation is in their best interests, each party shall cooperate and use commercially reasonable efforts vigorously to contest and resist any such
action or proceeding and to have vacated, lifted, reversed, or overturned any order that is in effect and that prohibits, prevents, or restricts consummation
of such transactions.

(c) To the extent permitted by applicable Law, each of the parties shall promptly notify the other parties of any communication it or any of
its Affiliates receives from any Governmental Authority relating to the matters that are the subject of this Agreement and permit the other party to
review in advance any proposed communication by such party to any Governmental Authority. To the extent permitted by applicable Law, none of the
parties to this Agreement shall agree to participate in any meeting with any Governmental Authority in respect of any filings, investigation or other
inquiry unless it consults with the other parties in advance and, to the extent permitted by such Governmental Authority, gives the other parties the
opportunity to attend and participate at such meeting. Subject to the Confidentiality Agreement, the parties will coordinate and cooperate fully with each
other in exchanging such information and providing such assistance as the other parties may reasonably request in connection with the foregoing.
Subject to the Confidentiality Agreement and applicable Law, the parties will provide each other with copies of all correspondence or communications
between them or any of their Representatives, on the one hand, and any Governmental Authority or members of its staff, on the other hand, with respect
to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.
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Section 5.10 Public Announcements. On and after the date hereof and through the Closing Date, (i) the Buyer and the Company shall consult with
each other before issuing any press release or otherwise making any public statements with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated
hereby, and (ii) neither the Buyer nor the Company shall issue any press release or make any public statement prior to obtaining the written approval of
the Company or the Buyer, as the case may be, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, except that no such approval shall be necessary to
the extent disclosure may be required by applicable Law or any listing agreement of or standards applicable to any party hereto.

Section 5.11 Employee Benefits.

(a) During the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the 12-month anniversary thereof (or if earlier, the date of the
employee’s termination of employment with the Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries), the Buyer shall cause the Company to provide the employees of the
Company who remain employed (in each case whether such employee is active or on approved leave) by the Group Companies immediately after the
Closing (collectively, the “Company Continuing Employees), other than in the case of the Company executives listed on Schedule 5.11(a)(i) of the
Disclosure Schedules, with base salary or hourly wages, as applicable, that are at least equal to the base salary or hourly wages provided by the
Company on the date of this Agreement. The Buyer will also cause the Company (i) to pay the Company Continuing Employees (including Company
executives listed on Schedule 5.11(a)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules that are Company Continuing Employees) and Certified Thomas Partners (CTPs)
the amount of any annual cash bonuses and sales commissions for fiscal year 2021, to the extent such bonuses and sales commissions are earned, due
and become payable in accordance with the applicable terms, and (ii) to pay to those Company Continuing Employees and Certified Thomas Partners
(CTPs) set forth on Schedule 5.11(a)(ii), within 15 days following the Closing, special bonuses in the amounts set forth on Schedule 5.11(a)(ii). During
the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the 12-month anniversary thereof (or if earlier, the date of the employee’s termination of
employment with the Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries), the Buyer shall cause the Group Companies to provide the Company Continuing Employees,
other than in the case of the Company executives listed on Schedule 5.11(a)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules, with employee health and welfare benefits
that are, in the aggregate, substantially comparable to the employee benefits provided by the Company to such employees on the date of this Agreement.
The employees covered by this provision will remain at-will employees in all respects. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall confer upon any
employee any right with respect to continued employment by the Buyer, the Company or any of their Affiliates, nor shall anything herein interfere with
the right of the Buyer, the Company or any of their Affiliates to terminate the employment of any employee (including any Company Continuing
Employee) at any time, with or without cause.

(b) With respect to any employee benefit plan, program, policy or arrangement that is sponsored, maintained or contributed to by Buyer or
any of its Subsidiaries (collectively, “Buyer Benefit Plans”) in which any Company Continuing Employees are or may become eligible to participate in
on or following the Closing, the Buyer and its Subsidiaries shall recognize all service of the Company Continuing Employees with the Company as to
the extent that such service was credited for purposes of any Employee Plan, for purposes of eligibility to participate, vesting and benefit levels;
provided, that such service shall not be recognized (i) for benefit accrual
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purposes under any Buyer Benefit Plan that is a defined benefit pension plan, or (ii) to the extent that such recognition would result in a duplication of
benefits. The Buyer shall, or shall cause the Company to, use commercially reasonable efforts to, (i) require any third party insurance providers or third
party administrators to waive all limitations as to any pre-existing condition or waiting periods under the applicable Buyer Benefit Plan with respect to
participation and coverage requirements applicable to each Company Continuing Employee under any such Buyer Benefit Plans that such Company
Continuing Employee may be eligible to participate in as of and after the Closing, other than limitations or waiting periods that are already in effect with
respect to such Company Continuing Employee and that have not been satisfied as of the Closing under any comparable Employee Plan, and (ii) require
any third party insurance providers or third party administrators to recognize the dollar amount of all co-payments, deductibles and similar expenses
incurred by each Company Continuing Employee (and their eligible dependents) during the calendar year in which the Closing occurs for purposes of
satisfying such year’s deductible and co-payment limitations under the relevant Buyer Benefit Plans that are health and welfare benefit plans in which
such Company Continuing Employee (and dependents) will be eligible to participate as of and after the Closing. The Buyer and its Subsidiaries shall
honor and recognize all unused paid vacation and other paid time off accrued by each Company Continuing Employee as of the Closing Date, and such
employees shall be eligible to carryover all such unused and accrued paid vacation and other paid time off from year to year to the extent provided by
Buyer’s paid time off and vacation policies.

(c) Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries shall be responsible for providing required continuation coverage and notices under COBRA to any
Person who is or becomes an “M&A Qualified Beneficiary” (as defined in Treasury Regulations Section 54.4980B-9) or loses medical and health
coverage as a result of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement.

(d) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create any third party beneficiary rights in any Person with respect to any right of
employment (including, without limitation, the compensation, terms and conditions of employment and benefits) or any other legal or equitable right,
benefit or remedy of any nature. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, (i) shall amend, or be deemed to amend, any benefit plan of the Buyer
or the Group Companies or any Employee Plan, (ii) is intended to, or does, constitute the establishment of, or an amendment to, any benefit plan of the
Buyer, or the Company or any Employee Plan, or (iii) limit in any way the right of the Company, Buyer, or their respective Affiliates to amend, modify,
or terminate any Employee Plan or Buyer Benefit Plan at any time.

Section 5.12 Directors’ and Officers’ Indemnification.

(a) The Buyer agrees to cause the Company and its Subsidiaries to maintain in full force and effect for a period of not less than six
(6) years from and after the Closing all rights to indemnification or exculpation now existing in favor of the directors, officers, employees and agents of
the Company, as provided in the Group Companies’ Governing Documents, and shall cause the Company to perform and discharge the obligations to
provide such indemnity and exculpation after the Closing; provided, however, that all rights to indemnification and exculpation in respect of any Action
arising out of or relating to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the Closing Date and asserted or made within such six-year period shall continue
until the final disposition of such Action. From and after the Closing, the Buyer shall not, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries and Affiliates
(including the Company) not to, amend, repeal or otherwise modify the indemnification provisions of any Group Company’s Governing Documents as
in effect at the Closing in any manner that would adversely affect the rights thereunder of individuals who at the Closing were directors, officers,
employees, or agents of the Group Companies.
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(b) For a period of six years from the Closing Date, the Buyer shall either cause to be maintained in effect the current policies of directors’
and officers’ liability insurance maintained by the Company or cause to be provided substitute policies or purchase or cause the Company to purchase, a
“tail policy,” in either case of at least the same coverage and amounts containing terms and conditions that are at least as favorable as the policy
currently in effect with respect to actions and omissions occurring prior to the Closing Date. The fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with
such “tail policy” shall be paid by the Buyer and shall not be deemed a Transaction Expense.

(c) The Buyer covenants, for itself and its Affiliates, successors and assigns, that it and they shall not institute any Action in any court or
before any administrative agency or before any other tribunal against any of the current directors of the Company, in their capacity as such, with respect
to any liabilities, actions or causes of action, judgments, claims or demands of any nature or description (consequential, compensatory, punitive or
otherwise), in each such case to the extent resulting from their approval of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

(d) In the event the Buyer, any Group Company or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any
other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity in such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of
its properties and assets to any Person, then and in either such case, the Buyer shall make proper provision so that the successors and assigns of the
Buyer or the applicable Group Company, as the case may be, shall become responsible for or assume the obligations set forth in this Section 5.12.

(e) The provisions of this Section 5.12 shall survive the consummation of the Closing and continue for the periods specified herein. This
Section 5.12 is intended to benefit the directors, officers, employees and agents of the Company and any other Person or entity (and their respective
heirs, successors and assigns) referenced in this Section 5.12 or indemnified hereunder, each of whom shall be an express third party beneficiary of the
provisions of this Section 5.12 and may enforce the provisions of this Section 5.12 (whether or not parties to this Agreement). Each of the Persons
referenced in the immediately preceding sentence are intended to be third party beneficiaries of this Section 5.12.

(f) Nothing in this Section 5.12 shall limit the Buyer’s rights to indemnification pursuant to Article VIII.

Section 5.13 Further Assurances. If at any time after the Closing any further action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes hereof, each
party will take such further action (including the execution and delivery of such further documents) as any other party reasonably requests, all at the sole
cost and expense of the requesting party (unless the requesting party is entitled to indemnification therefor under Article VIII).
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Section 5.14 Release. Except for the obligations of the Buyer and, only following the Closing, the Group Companies (i) arising under this
Agreement or the Ancillary Documents or (ii) arising under the director and officer indemnification provisions of the Group Companies’ Governing
Documents, each Shareholder, on his, her or its own behalf and on behalf of his, her or its trust beneficiaries, successors, assigns and heirs, shall in the
Support Agreement or Letter of Transmittal irrevocably, unconditionally, voluntarily, knowingly, fully, finally and completely forever release and
discharge each of the Buyer and the Company, individually and collectively (the “Released Parties”), from, against and with respect to any and all
actions, causes of action, complaints, charges, contracts, covenants, agreements, liabilities, injuries, interest, judgments, penalties, promises,
reimbursements, remedies and suits, of whatever kind or character, whether in law, equity or otherwise, direct or indirect, fixed or contingent,
foreseeable or unforeseeable, liquidated or unliquidated, known or unknown, matured or unmatured, absolute or contingent, determined or determinable,
that such Shareholder, or his, her or its trust beneficiaries, successors, assigns and heirs, ever had or now has, against the Released Parties that arise out
of any matter, cause or thing, act or failure to act whatsoever with respect to any Group Company or any of its affairs occurring at any time on or prior to
the Closing Date, including such Shareholder’s ownership of shares of the Company Capital Stock or the ownership, operation, business, affairs,
management, prospects or financial condition of the Company.

ARTICLE VI
TAX MATTERS

Section 6.1 Preparation of Returns.

(a) The Company or the Buyer, as appropriate, shall prepare and file all Returns relating to the Group Companies, in each case in a manner
consistent with prior practice to the extent permitted under applicable Law, and shall pay or cause to be paid all Taxes shown as due with respect to all
such Returns.

(b) Each Shareholder, severally and not jointly (except to the extent that recourse is made against the Escrow Amount in accordance with
Section 8.6, in which case the liability of the Shareholders under this Section 6.1(b) shall be joint and several to the extent of such recourse), to the
extent of their Transaction Percentage, shall reimburse Buyer for any Taxes shown as due on such Returns with respect to Pre-Closing Tax Period Taxes,
including its share of any Straddle Period Taxes, as determined in Section 6.1(c), within ten Business Days after receipt of written notice of payment of
such Taxes by Buyer or a Group Company, except, in each case, to the extent such Taxes are included in Indebtedness or Net Working Capital to reduce
the Purchase Price. At least 45 days prior to the due date of any Straddle Period Returns or any other returns relating to the Pre-Closing Tax Period
(including the final C Corporation income tax Return of the Group Companies for the period ending on the Closing Date), the Buyer will provide a copy
to the Shareholders’ Representative of such Returns for the Shareholders’ Representative’s review and comment, and the Shareholders’ Representative
will, within fifteen days of receiving such Returns, provide to the Buyer any comments on such Returns and comments on the amount of any
Pre-Closing Tax Period liability. The Buyer and the Shareholders’ Representative shall negotiate the Shareholders’ Representative’s comments in good
faith with a view to resolving their disagreements over such Return. In the event that the parties are unable to resolve any dispute with respect to such
Return, such dispute shall be resolved by the Independent Accounting Firm
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in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.10(d). If any dispute with respect to a Pre-Closing Tax Period Return is not resolved prior to the
applicable filing due date (including applicable extensions), such Return shall be filed in the manner that the Buyer in good faith determines is correct
and consistent with this Agreement. Without the prior written consent of the Shareholders’ Representative, which shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned, or delayed, the Buyer will not and will not permit any Group Company to make, change or rescind any Tax election, amend any Return or
take any position on any Return, take any action, omit to take any action, or enter into any other transaction that would have the effect of increasing the
Shareholders’ Straddle Period Tax liabilities or Pre-Closing Tax Period liabilities.

(c) In the case of any Straddle Period: (i) exemptions, allowances or deductions that are calculated on an annual basis (including
depreciation and amortization deductions computed as if the Closing Date was the last day of the Straddle Period) shall be allocated between the portion
of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date and the portion of the Straddle Period thereafter in proportion to the number of days in each such
portion, (ii) any Property Taxes for the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be equal to the amount of such Property Taxes for such entire Straddle Period
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days during the Straddle Period that are in the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the
denominator of which is the number of days in the Straddle Period, and (iii) all other Taxes for the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be determined based on
an actual closing of the books used to calculate such Taxes as if such Tax Period ended as of the close of business on the Closing Date. To the extent
permitted by applicable Law, the Tax deductions attributable to the Closing Bonuses (and any other Transaction Expenses) shall be allocated to the
Pre-Closing Tax Period.

Section 6.2 Contests.

(a) If (i) a Governmental Authority asserts a claim for Taxes against a Group Company and (ii) the Shareholders or the Company could be
responsible for any portion of those Taxes (any such claim, a “Tax Claim”), then the party hereto first receiving notice (whether directly, or indirectly
through an Affiliate of such party) of such Tax Claim shall promptly provide to Buyer, the Company and Shareholders’ Representative written notice
specifying in reasonable detail the basis for such Tax Claim and shall include a copy of the relevant portion of any correspondence received from the
Governmental Authority in respect of such Tax Claim; provided, however, that the failure of such party to give such prompt and detailed notice shall not
relieve the other party of any of its obligations under this Article VI, except if and only to the extent that the other party is actually and materially
prejudiced thereby.

(b) If, within thirty (30) days after Shareholders’ Representative receives notice of a Tax Claim, which relates to Taxes for which the
Shareholders would be responsible, Shareholders’ Representative provides to Buyer a written notice in which Shareholders’ Representative elects to
contest, and to control the defense or prosecution of, such Tax Claim, then, subject to the provisions of this Section 6.2, Shareholders’ Representative
shall have the right to defend or prosecute and the right to control, at Shareholders’ Representative’s sole cost and expense, such Tax Claim by all
appropriate proceedings. For any Tax Claim the defense or prosecution of which the Shareholders controls (a “Shareholder Controlled Proceeding”),
(i) Shareholders’ Representative shall defend or prosecute the Tax Claim diligently and in good faith; (ii) Shareholders’ Representative shall not, without
the prior written consent of Buyer, which
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consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, enter into any compromise or settlement of such Tax Claim that could reasonably be
expected to result in any material Tax for which Buyer or a Group Company would be responsible; (iii) Shareholders’ Representative shall inform Buyer
of all material developments and events relating to such Tax Claim (including providing to Buyer copies of relevant portions of all written materials
relating to such Tax Claim); (iv) Buyer and its Affiliates (including after the Closing, the Group Companies) shall cooperate with Shareholders’
Representative in good faith in order to contest effectively such Tax Claim; (v) Buyer or its authorized representative shall be entitled, at the expense of
Buyer, to attend and participate in, all conferences, meetings and proceedings relating to such Tax Claim; and (vi) in the event that Buyer reasonably
withholds consent to a compromise or settlement pursuant to clause (ii) above, Buyer shall be entitled to assume the defense or prosecution of such Tax
Claim provided that the Shareholders’ Liability shall not exceed that of the proposed settlement and Buyer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the
Shareholders for any such excess Liability.

(c) If Shareholders’ Representative elects not to direct the Tax Claim, the Buyer may pay, compromise or contest such asserted Liability.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein (including, without limitation, Article VIII), this Section 6.2 shall control the parties
rights and obligations in respect of Tax Claims.

Section 6.3 Tax Cooperation and Exchange of Information. Buyer shall cooperate fully with Shareholders’ Representative in connection with the
filing of any Return, in any audit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to Taxes, and in allowing the Company to review Returns of the Company
for Pre-Closing Tax Periods and Straddle Periods to determine or verify the proper amounts payable as refunds hereunder. Such cooperation shall
include the retention and the provision of records and information that are reasonably relevant to any such audit, litigation or other proceeding and
making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any materials provided hereunder.
Buyer will, and will cause the Group Companies to, retain all books and records with respect to Tax matters pertinent to the Group Companies and
which relate to a Pre-Closing Tax Period (and, if notified in writing by another party, any extensions thereof), and to abide by all record retention
agreements entered into with any Governmental Authority. The Company agrees to give Shareholders’ Representative reasonable written notice prior to
transferring, destroying or discarding any such books and records, and if another party so requests, to give such other party possession of such books and
records. Buyer and the Company further agree, upon the Shareholders’ Representative’s request, to use their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain
any certificate or other document from any Tax authority or any other Person or take any other action as may be necessary to mitigate, reduce or
eliminate any Tax that could be imposed on any party hereto (including with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement). Any
information obtained under this Section 6.3 shall be kept confidential, except as may be otherwise necessary in connection with the filing of Returns or
proceedings in respect of Taxes.
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Section 6.4 Conveyance Taxes. The Buyer shall pay any and all Conveyance Taxes that may be imposed upon, or payable or collectible or
incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. Each Shareholder, severally and not jointly (except to the extent
that recourse is made against the Escrow Amount in accordance with Section 8.6, in which case the liability of the Shareholders under this Section 6.4
shall be joint and several to the extent of such recourse), to the extent of his or her Transaction Percentage, shall reimburse Buyer for fifty percent (50%)
of such Conveyance Taxes. The Buyer and the Company agree to cooperate in the execution and delivery of all instruments and certificates necessary to
enable the Buyer to comply with any pre-Closing filing requirements.

Section 6.5 Tax Treatment of Certain Payments. All amounts paid pursuant to Section 2.10 or Article VIII shall, to the extent permitted by Law, be
treated for all purposes as adjustments to the cash proceeds received by the Shareholders in the transaction contemplated by this Agreement.

ARTICLE VII
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 7.1 General Conditions. The respective obligations of the Buyer, Merger Sub and the Company to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions, any of which may, to
the extent permitted by applicable Law, be waived in writing by either the Company or the Buyer, in their sole discretion:

(a) No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law (whether temporary, preliminary or
permanent) that is then in effect and that enjoins, restrains, makes illegal or otherwise prohibits the consummation of the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement.

(b) All material consents of, or registrations, declarations or filings with, any Governmental Authority legally required for the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have been obtained or filed.

(c) No Action shall be pending or threatened in writing before any Governmental Authority in which an unfavorable judgment would
prevent consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 7.2 Conditions to Obligations of the Company. The obligations of the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions, any of which may be waived in writing by
the Company:

(a) The representations and warranties of the Buyer and Merger Sub (other than the Fundamental Representations) contained in this
Agreement shall be true and correct both when made and as of the Closing Date, or in the case of representations and warranties that are made as of a
specified date, such representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such specified date, except where the failure to be so true and correct
(without giving effect to any limitation or qualification as to “materiality” (including the word “material”) or “Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein)
would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect and (ii) the Fundamental Representations of
the Buyer and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects both when made and as of the Closing Date
(without giving effect to any limitation or qualification as to “materiality” (including the word “material”) or “Material Adverse Effect” set forth
therein). The Buyer and Merger Sub shall have performed all obligations and agreements and complied in all material respects with all covenants and
conditions required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it prior to or at the Closing.
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(b) The Company shall have received from the Buyer and Merger Sub a certificate (the “Buyer Bring-Down Certificate”) that the
conditions set forth in Section 7.2(a) have been satisfied, signed by a duly authorized officer thereof.

(c) The Company shall have received an executed counterpart of each of the Ancillary Agreements, signed by each party thereto other than
the Shareholders and the Company.

Section 7.3 Conditions to Obligations of the Buyer and Merger Sub. The obligations of the Buyer and Merger Sub to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions, any of which may be
waived in writing by the Buyer in its sole discretion:

(a) (i) The representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement (other than the Fundamental Representations) shall
be true and correct both when made and as of the Closing Date, or in the case of representations and warranties that are made as of a specified date, such
representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such specified date, except where the failure to be so true and correct (without giving effect
to any limitation or qualification as to “materiality” (including the word “material”) or “Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) the Fundamental Representations of the Company
contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects both when made and as of the Closing Date (without giving effect to any
limitation or qualification as to “materiality” (including the word “material”) or “Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein).

(b) The Company shall have performed in all material respects all obligations and agreements and complied in all material respects with
all covenants and conditions required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by them prior to or at the Closing.

(c) Since the date of this Agreement, there shall have been no Effect of any character (whether or not covered by insurance) that,
individually or in the aggregate, has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(d) The Buyer shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by an executive officer of the company (the “Company
Bring-Down Certificate”) stating that the conditions set forth in Sections 7.3(a) and 7.3(b) have been satisfied.

(e) The Buyer shall have received an executed counterpart of each of the Ancillary Agreements, signed by each party thereto other than the
Buyer; provided, however, that, the condition in this Section 7.3(e) with respect to Support Agreements shall be deemed to be satisfied upon receipt by
Buyer of Shareholders owning at least 90% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company Capital Stock as of the Closing.
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(f) The Company shall have transferred the Excluded Assets to Shareholders or one or more Affiliates of Shareholders other than any
Group Company on terms and pursuant to documentation reasonably acceptable to the Buyer.

(g) The Company shall have obtained the consents of third parties under the Contracts set forth on Schedule 7.3(g) of the Disclosure
Schedules to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(h) The Buyer shall have received a termination and release agreement in the form acceptable to Buyer from each of the individuals set
forth on Schedule 7.3(h) of the Disclosure Schedules.

(i) The Buyer shall have received written documentation, in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer, of the formal termination of (a)
the Executive Medical Reimbursement Plan (the “MERP”), provided that effective date of the termination of the MERP shall be December 31, 2021, (b)
the two CIGNA Plans made available exclusively or predominantly to highly compensated employees or members of the Board of Directors of the
Company and their respective dependents, (3) the executive life insurance coverage and (4) executive long-term disability coverage and the
communication of such terminations to all affected participants.

Section 7.4 Frustration of Closing Conditions. No party may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in this Article VII to be satisfied if such
failure was caused by such party’s failure to use efforts to cause the Closing to occur as required by Section 5.9.

ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION

Section 8.1 Survival of Representations, Warranties and Covenants.

(a) The representations and warranties of the Company and the Buyer contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing for a period of
twelve (12) months after the Closing Date; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing:

(i) the representations and warranties set forth in Sections 3.1, 3.2(a)(i), 3.3, 3.4, 3.24, 4.1, 4.3 and 4.8 and the first sentence of
Section 3.12(c) (collectively, the “Fundamental Representations”) shall survive until the date that is the six-year anniversary of the Closing Date or sixty
(60) days following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations (giving effect to any waiver, mitigation or extension thereof), whichever is
later;

(ii) the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.15 shall survive until the close of business on the sixtieth (60th) day
following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations with respect to the Tax liabilities in question (giving effect to any waiver, mitigation or
extension thereof); and

(b) The covenants and agreements of the Company and the Buyer contained in this Agreement with respect to matters to occur prior to the
Closing shall not survive the Closing and the covenants and agreements of the Company and the Buyer contained in this Agreement with respect to
matters to occur after the Closing shall survive the Closing in accordance with their respective terms.
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(c) The survival periods set forth in this Section 8.1 are in lieu of, and the parties expressly waive, any otherwise applicable statute of
limitations, whether arising at law or in equity. Any claim for breach of representation or warranty hereunder shall be deemed to have accrued as of the
Closing. No claim for breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement may be brought after expiration of the survival periods set forth in
this Section 8.1. Claims for indemnification asserted prior to the end of the applicable survival period set forth in this Section 8.1 shall survive until the
final resolution thereof.

Section 8.2 Indemnification by the Shareholders.

(a) The Shareholders, severally, to the extent of their respective Transaction Percentage, and not jointly (except to the extent that recourse
is made against the Escrow Amount in accordance with Section 8.6, in which case the liability of the Shareholders under this Article VIII shall be joint
and several to the extent of such recourse), and, only prior to the Closing, the Company, shall save, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Buyer and
its Affiliates (including the Company), Representatives, successors and assigns (collectively, the “Buyer Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and
all Losses to the extent arising out of or resulting from:

(i) any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty made by the Company contained in Article III of this Agreement or
in any Ancillary Agreement or in any certificate delivered by the Company at the Closing pursuant to this Agreement;

(ii) any breach of any covenant, obligation or agreement of the Company contained in this Agreement requiring performance by the
Company;

(iii) the Excluded Assets or the Retained Liabilities;

(iv) Pre-Closing Taxes;

(v) any Action or proceeding instituted, commenced, filed or threatened (whether verbally or in writing) by or on behalf of
Shareholder involving (A) any claim, entitlement or other right (whether based on a theory at law or in equity) with respect to or otherwise involving
any dissenters’, appraisal or other similar rights arising in connection with the Merger or other transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (B) an
alleged breach in connection with the Merger or other transactions contemplated by this Agreement of any fiduciary duty or other duty imposed at law
or in equity on the Group Companies or any officer, manager or director of the Group Companies;

(vi) any Fraud committed by the Company under this Agreement; and

(vii) any Liabilities relating to the Subsidiaries listed on Schedule 8.2(a)(vii), including, without limitation, all documented costs
relating to the winding down, closure and dissolution of such Subsidiaries.
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(b) From and after the Closing, each Shareholder, severally and not jointly (except to the extent that recourse is made against the Escrow
Amount in accordance with Section 8.6, in which case the liability of the Shareholders under this Article VIII shall be joint and several to the extent of
such recourse), to the extent of its Transaction Percentage, shall save, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Buyer Indemnified Parties from and
against any and all Losses to the extent arising out of or resulting from (i) any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty made by such
Shareholder contained in any Ancillary Agreement, (ii) any breach of any covenant, obligation or agreement of such Shareholder contained in this
Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement requiring performance by such Shareholder or (iii) any Fraud committed by such Shareholder in connection
with this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement.

Section 8.3 Indemnification by the Buyer. The Buyer shall save, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Shareholders and their respective
Affiliates, officers, directors, employees, agents, successors and assigns (collectively, the “Shareholder Indemnified Parties”) and, only prior to the
Closing, the Company, from and against any and all Losses to the extent arising out of or resulting from:

(a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty made by the Buyer contained in this Agreement or in any Ancillary
Agreement or in any certificate delivered by the Buyer at the Closing pursuant to this Agreement; and

(b) any breach of any covenant, obligation or agreement of the Buyer contained in this Agreement requiring performance by the Buyer or
the Company after the Closing.

Section 8.4 Procedures.

(a) In order for a Buyer Indemnified Party or Shareholder Indemnified Party (the “Indemnified Party”) to be entitled to any
indemnification provided for under this Agreement as a result of a Loss or a claim or demand made by any Person against the Indemnified Party (a
“Third Party Claim”), such Indemnified Party shall deliver notice thereof to the Shareholders’ Representative or the Buyer, as applicable (the
“Indemnifying Party”), promptly after receipt by such Indemnified Party of written notice of the Third Party Claim, describing in reasonable detail, to
the extent known and reasonably available (i) the facts giving rise to the claim for indemnification hereunder, (ii) the amount or method of computation
of the amount of such claim, (iii) each individual item of Loss included in the amount so stated, and (iv) the nature of the breach of representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement with respect to which such Indemnified Party claims to be entitled to indemnification hereunder (all of the foregoing,
the “Claim Information”), and shall provide any other information with respect thereto as the Indemnifying Party may reasonably request. The failure to
provide such notice, however, shall not release the Indemnifying Party from any of its obligations under this Article VIII except to the extent that the
Indemnifying Party is materially prejudiced by such failure.

(b) The Indemnifying Party shall have the right, upon written notice to the Indemnified Party within 30 days of receipt of notice from the
Indemnified Party of the commencement of such Third Party Claim, to assume the defense thereof at the expense of the Indemnifying Party with
counsel selected by the Indemnifying Party and reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of such
Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to employ separate counsel and to participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and
expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of the Indemnified Party; provided, that if in the reasonable opinion of counsel for the Indemnified
Party, there is a conflict of interest between the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party, the
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Indemnifying Party shall be responsible for the reasonable fees and expenses of one counsel to such Indemnified Party in connection with such defense.
If the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall cooperate with the Indemnifying Party in such
defense and make available to the Indemnifying Party all witnesses, pertinent records, materials and information in the Indemnified Party’s possession
or under the Indemnified Party’s control relating thereto as is reasonably required by the Indemnifying Party. If the Indemnifying Party assumes the
defense of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall agree to any settlement, compromise or discharge of such Third Party Claim that the
Indemnifying Party may recommend and that by its terms obligates the Indemnifying Party to pay the full amount of the liability in connection with
such Third Party Claim, and which releases the Indemnified Party completely in connection with such Third Party Claim; provided, that such settlement,
compromise or discharge (i) does not impose any equitable or other non-monetary remedies or obligations on the Indemnified Party but involves solely
the payment of money damages for which the Indemnified Party will be indemnified hereunder and (ii) does not involve a finding or admission of
wrongdoing or any violation of Law or any violation of the rights of any Person by the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense
of a Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall not admit any liability with respect to, or settle, compromise or discharge, or offer to settle,
compromise or discharge, such Third Party Claim without the Indemnifying Party’s prior written consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld).

(c) In the event any Indemnified Party should have a claim against any Indemnifying Party hereunder that does not involve a Third Party
Claim being asserted against or sought to be collected from such Indemnified Party, the Indemnified Party shall deliver notice of such claim containing
the Claim Information promptly to the Indemnifying Party, and shall provide any other information with respect thereto as the Indemnifying Party may
reasonably request. The failure to provide such notice, however, shall not release the Indemnifying Party from any of its obligations under this
Article VIII except to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is materially prejudiced by such failure. The Indemnified Party shall reasonably cooperate
and assist the Indemnifying Party in determining the validity of any claim for indemnity by the Indemnified Party and in otherwise resolving such
matters. Such assistance and cooperation shall include providing reasonable access to and copies of information, records and documents relating to such
matters and furnishing employees to assist in the investigation of such matters. For the avoidance of doubt, the Indemnified Party shall not be entitled to
commence any Action against the Indemnifying Party for indemnification pursuant to this Section 8.4(c) unless the notice and procedural provisions set
forth herein shall have been satisfied prior thereto.

Section 8.5 Limits on Indemnification.

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement:

(i) the maximum aggregate amount of indemnifiable Losses that may be recovered from the Shareholders and, prior to the Closing,
the Company by Buyer Indemnified Parties pursuant to Section 8.2(a)(i) and Section 8.2(b)(i) shall be an amount equal to the Escrow Amount, and in
the case of each Shareholder, such amount multiplied by such Shareholder’s Transaction Percentage; provided, however, that such maximum aggregate
amount shall not apply to any claim for indemnification by a Buyer Indemnified Party based on Fraud or a breach of any Fundamental Representation;
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(ii) the Shareholders and, prior to the Closing, the Company shall not be liable to any Buyer Indemnified Party for any claim for
indemnification pursuant to Section 8.2(a)(i) or Section 8.2(b)(i) unless and until the aggregate amount of indemnifiable Losses that may be recovered
from the Shareholders and, prior to the Closing, the Company pursuant to Section 8.2(a)(i) and Section 8.2(b)(i) equals or exceeds $1,000,000 (the
“Basket Amount”), in which case the Shareholders and, prior to the Closing, the Company shall be liable for all indemnifiable Losses including the
Basket Amount; provided, however, that any claim for indemnification by a Buyer Indemnified Party based on Fraud or a breach of any Fundamental
Representations shall not be subject to the Basket Amount;

(iii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein,

(A) with the exception of indemnification claims for Losses resulting from (1) a breach of a Fundamental Representation,
(2) Pre-Closing Taxes and (3) Fraud, the maximum aggregate liability of any Shareholder under this Article VIII shall be limited to an amount equal to
the Transaction Percentage of such Shareholder multiplied by the Escrow Amount;

(B) with respect to indemnification claims for Losses resulting a breach of a Fundamental Representation or Pre-Closing
Taxes, the maximum aggregate liability of any Shareholder under this Article VIII shall be limited to an amount equal to such Shareholder’s Transaction
Percentage of the Merger Consideration; and

(C) with respect to indemnification claims for Losses resulting the Fraud of a Shareholder and solely with respect to the
perpetrator who committed such Fraud, the maximum aggregate liability of such Shareholder under this Article VIII shall not be limited;

(iv) the Shareholders and, prior to the Closing, the Company shall not be obligated to indemnify any Buyer Indemnified Party with
respect to any Loss to the extent that the amount of such Loss was included as a current liability in Closing Net Working Capital as finally determined
pursuant to Section 2.10, or to the extent such claim for indemnification would result in a double recovery for such Loss;

(v) the Shareholders and, prior to the Closing, the Company shall not be obligated to indemnify any Buyer Indemnified Party with
respect to any Loss to the extent such matter was included in Indebtedness or Transaction Expenses in the calculation of the adjustment of the Merger
Consideration, if any, as finally determined pursuant to Section 2.10;

(vi) the Shareholders and the Company shall not be obligated to indemnify any Buyer Indemnified Party with respect to any Loss
relating to Pre-Closing Taxes (whether or not related to breach or failure of any of the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in
Section 3.15) to the extent (x) such Taxes were paid by the Company prior to the Closing or (y) the Buyer has been reimbursed by the Shareholder for
such Taxes, as provided in Section 6.1; and
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(vii) the Shareholders make no representations or warranties and shall have no obligation to indemnify any Buyer Indemnified Party
regarding the amount, utilization, or availability in any tax period other than a Pre-Closing Tax Period of any net operating loss carryforwards or other
tax attributes of the Group Companies attributable to or arising in any Pre-Closing Tax Period, except to the extent that the aggregate amount of
Pre-Closing Tax Period net operating loss carryforwards of the Group Companies utilized to offset any Pre-Closing Taxes for the tax years ending (i)
September 30, 2021, and (ii) the Closing Date exceeds the maximum amount of the Pre-Closing NOLs.

(b) The amount of any and all Losses under this Article VIII shall be determined net of (i) any Tax Benefits (as defined below) actually
realized by the Indemnified Party or its Affiliates with respect to the taxable year in which the relevant indemnification payment is made in connection
with the incurrence of such Losses, and (ii) any insurance proceeds or other similar recoveries actually received or recovered by the Indemnified Party
or its Affiliates in connection with the facts giving rise to the right of indemnification, provided that if following the payment of any amounts hereunder
by an Indemnifying Party to an Indemnified Party that subsequently recovers any such insurance proceeds or recovery, such Indemnified Party shall
promptly pay to such Indemnifying Party such insurance proceeds or recoveries to the extent of payments made by or on behalf of such Indemnifying
Party in respect of such Losses. Each party hereby waives, to the extent permitted under its applicable insurance policies, any subrogation rights that its
insurer may have with respect to any indemnifiable Losses. For purposes of this Section 8.5(b), a “Tax Benefit” shall be deemed to have been actually
realized if, and to the extent that, the hypothetical Tax liability, if any, of the Buyer Indemnified Parties (or any affiliated, combined, consolidated or
unitary group of which any Buyer Indemnified Party is a member) for any taxable year, calculated without taking into account any Tax items attributable
to the Losses (and, for the avoidance of doubt, without taking into account any net operating loss carryovers or carrybacks attributable to Losses
incurred in any prior or subsequent taxable year), exceeds the actual Tax liability, if any, of the Buyer Indemnified Parties (or any affiliated, combined,
consolidated or unitary group of which any Buyer Indemnified Party is a member) for such taxable year, calculated by taking into account any Tax items
attributable to such Losses (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any net operating loss carryovers or carrybacks attributable to Losses incurred in any
prior or subsequent taxable year (determined by treating such Losses as the last item claimed in any prior or subsequent taxable year)).

(c) The Buyer and the Shareholders shall cooperate with each other with respect to resolving any claim, liability or Loss for which
indemnification may be required hereunder, including by making, or causing the applicable Indemnified Party to make, all reasonable efforts to mitigate
any such claim, liability or Loss. In the event that the Buyer or the Shareholders shall fail to make such reasonable efforts, then notwithstanding
anything else to the contrary contained herein, the other party shall not be required to indemnify any Person for any claim, liability or Loss that could
reasonably be expected to have been avoided if such efforts had been made. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Buyer and the
Shareholders shall, or shall cause the applicable Indemnified Party to, use reasonable efforts to seek full recovery under all insurance policies covering
any Loss to the same extent as they would if such Loss were not subject to indemnification hereunder.

(d) The representations and warranties in this Agreement and each party’s indemnification obligations pursuant to this Agreement shall not
be affected by any investigation or performance of due diligence for or on behalf of any party or its Affiliates or Representatives, or the knowledge of
the party or its Representatives. No Shareholder may assert in response to any claim for indemnification submitted by any Buyer Indemnified Party that
the Buyer or any of its Affiliates or Representatives was negligent in conducting its due diligence or failed to conduct its due diligence properly or
adequately, and each Shareholder hereby expressly waives as a defense, counterclaim or otherwise any such claim or any claim that any investigation or
performance of due diligence limits any party’s indemnification obligations in this Agreement.
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(e) For the purposes of determining the existence of an underlying inaccuracy, misrepresentation or breach of representation or warranty
and determining the amount of Losses pursuant to this Article IX, any “materiality” or “Material Adverse Effect” qualifiers or words of similar import
contained in such representation or warranty shall in each case be disregarded and without effect.

Section 8.6 Manner of Payment; Escrow Funds. Any indemnification payment to any Buyer Indemnified Party or Shareholder Indemnified Party
pursuant to this Article VIII shall be effected by wire transfer of immediately available funds from the applicable Persons to an account designated in
writing by the applicable Buyer Indemnified Party or the Shareholder Indemnified Party, as the case may be, within 15 days after the determination
thereof; provided, however, that any indemnification payments owed by any Shareholder to any Buyer Indemnified Party after the Closing pursuant to
Section 8.2 shall be satisfied first from the remaining balance of the Escrow Amount, and thereafter from Shareholders in accordance with the terms of
Section 8.2(a) or Section 8.2(b), as the case may be. The Shareholders’ Representative and the Buyer shall promptly deliver joint written instructions to
the Escrow Agent instructing the Escrow Agent to make appropriate distributions from the Escrow Funds upon the resolution of any claim for
indemnification hereunder. Subject to the requirements of this Article VIII, unless previously distributed to Buyer or any other Buyer Indemnified Buyer
or the subject of an Unresolved Claim (as defined below), the Escrow Funds shall remain held by the Escrow Agent until the date that is twelve
(12) months after the Closing Date (the “Escrow Period”). As soon as reasonably practicable following the end of the Escrow Period, and in any event
within five (5) days thereof, the Buyer and the Shareholders’ Representative shall instruct the Escrow Agent to deliver to the Shareholders of Common
Stock, in accordance with each such Shareholder’s Transaction Percentage of the remaining Escrow Funds in excess of any portion of the Escrow Funds
that is necessary to satisfy Losses specified in any claim notice that was delivered pursuant to the terms hereof prior to the end of the Escrow Period but
that have not been finally resolved (an “Unresolved Claim”). The Escrow Agent shall retain possession of that portion of the Escrow Funds that equals
the total amount of Losses subject to any Unresolved Claim until such Unresolved Claim is resolved pursuant to the terms hereof, and thereafter shall
deliver Escrow Funds, in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement, to the Shareholders of Common Stock, in accordance with each such
Shareholder’s Transaction Percentage of such Escrow Funds not required to satisfy such Unresolved Claims.

Section 8.7 Exclusivity.

(a) Except as specifically set forth in this Agreement, including Section 10.12, in the absence Fraud, the indemnification provisions of this
Agreement constitute the sole and exclusive remedy any Buyer Indemnified Party may have against the Shareholders for any rights or claims hereunder,
regardless of the Law or legal theory under which such liability or obligation may be sought to be imposed, whether at law, in equity, contract, tort or
otherwise, relating to the Company and/or the transactions contemplated hereby.
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(b) The parties hereto agree that the provisions in this Agreement relating to indemnification, and the limits imposed on the Buyer’s
remedies with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby were specifically bargained for between sophisticated parties and
were specifically taken into account in the determination of the amounts to be paid to the Shareholders hereunder.

ARTICLE IX
TERMINATION

Section 9.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:

(a) by mutual written consent of the Buyer and the Company;

(b) (i) by the Company if the Buyer breaches or fails to perform in any respect any of its representations, warranties or covenants
contained in this Agreement and such breach or failure to perform (A) would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 7.2, (B) cannot be
or has not been cured within 15 days following delivery of written notice of such breach or failure to perform; provided that such 15-day period shall be
extended to an additional 30 days if the applicable breach or failure is capable of being cured and the Buyer has commenced and is continuing to pursue
such cure in good faith and (C) has not been waived by the Company or (ii) by the Buyer if the Company breaches or fails to perform in any respect any
of its representations, warranties or covenants contained in this Agreement and such breach or failure to perform (A) would give rise to the failure of a
condition set forth in Section 7.3, (B) cannot be or has not been cured within 15 days following delivery of written notice of such breach or failure to
perform; provided that such 15-day period shall be extended to an additional 30 days if the applicable breach or failure is capable of being cured and the
Company has commenced and is continuing to pursue such cure in good faith and (C) has not been waived by the Buyer;

(c) (i) by the Company if any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 or Section 7.2 shall have become incapable of fulfillment prior to
January 31, 2022 (the “Termination Date”) or (ii) by the Buyer if any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 or Section 7.3 shall have become
incapable of fulfillment prior to the Termination Date; provided, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.1(c) shall not be
available if the failure of the party so requesting termination to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement shall have been the cause of the failure of
such condition to be satisfied on or prior to the Termination Date;

(d) by either the Company or the Buyer if the Closing shall not have occurred by the Termination Date; provided, that the right to
terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.1(d) shall not be available if the failure of the party so requesting termination to fulfill any obligation
under this Agreement shall have been the cause of the failure of the Closing to occur on or prior to the Termination Date;

(e) by either the Company or the Buyer in the event that any Governmental Authority shall have issued an order, decree or ruling or taken
any other action restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and such order, decree, ruling or other
action shall have become final and nonappealable; provided, that the party so requesting termination shall have complied with Section 5.9;
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(f) by the Company if (i) the closing conditions set forth in Section 7.1 and Section 7.3 have been (and continue to be) satisfied or waived
by Buyer (or in the case of conditions that by their terms are to be satisfied at the Closing, either shall be capable of being satisfied or have been waived
by all parties entitled to the benefit of such conditions), (ii) the Company has irrevocably confirmed by written notice (and not revoked such notice in
writing) to Buyer that all conditions set forth in Section 7.2 have been (and continue to be) satisfied or waived by the Company (or in the case of closing
conditions that by their terms are to be satisfied at the Closing, either shall be capable of being satisfied or have been waived by all parties entitled to the
benefit of such conditions) and that the Company stands ready, able and willing to consummate the Closing in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement, and (iii) two (2) Business Days have elapsed since the Company delivered to Buyer such written notice, and the Closing has not been
consummated prior to the completion of such two (2) Business Day period.

The party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.1 (other than Section 9.1(a)) shall give prompt written notice of such
termination to the other parties.

Section 9.2 Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 9.1, this Agreement shall forthwith
become void and there shall be no liability on the part of either party except (a) for the provisions of Sections 3.24 and 4.8 relating to broker’s fees and
finder’s fees, Section 5.8 relating to confidentiality, Section 5.10 relating to public announcements, this Section 9.2 and Article X and (b) that nothing
herein shall relieve either party from liability for any breach of this Agreement or any agreement made as of the date hereof or subsequent thereto
pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 9.3 Termination Fee. If this Agreement is validly terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 9.1(f) (assuming the lapse of any time
periods to the extent required thereunder for the Company to exercise such termination right), then Buyer shall pay, or cause to be paid, to the Company,
as liquidated damages in connection with any such termination, all documented out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred by the Company in connection
with or related to this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby (including legal, accounting, investment
banking and financial advisory expenses) and thereby by wire transfer of immediately available funds in U.S. Dollars to an account designated in
writing by the Company within five (5) Business Days after such termination; provided, however, that the aggregate amount of fees and expenses
incurred by the Company and reimbursed by Buyer pursuant to this Section 9.3 shall not exceed $2,000,000.

ARTICLE X
GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 10.1 Fees and Expenses. Except as otherwise provided herein, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with or related to this
Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby shall be paid by the party incurring such fees or
expenses, whether or not such transactions are consummated; provided, that if the transactions hereby are consummated, Transaction Expenses shall be
paid as provided in this Agreement. Subject to Section 9.3, in the event of termination of this Agreement, the obligation of each party to pay its own
expenses will be subject to any rights of such party arising from a breach of this Agreement by the other.
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Section 10.2 Amendment and Modification. This Agreement may not be amended, modified or supplemented in any manner, whether by course of
conduct or otherwise, except by an instrument in writing specifically designated as an amendment hereto, signed on behalf of each party.

Section 10.3 Waiver; Extension. At any time prior to the Closing, the Company, on the one hand, and the Buyer, on the other hand, may (a) extend
the time for performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other party contained herein, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and
warranties of the other party contained herein or in any document, certificate or writing delivered by such party pursuant hereto, or (c) waive compliance
by the other party with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Any agreement on the part of any party to any such extension or waiver
shall be valid only if set forth in a written agreement signed on behalf of such party. No failure or delay of any party in exercising any right or remedy
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of
steps to enforce such right or power, or any course of conduct, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power.
Any agreement on the part of any party to any such waiver shall be valid only if set forth in a written instrument executed and delivered by such party.

Section 10.4 Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed duly given (a) on the date of
delivery if delivered personally, or if by facsimile or e-mail, upon written confirmation of receipt by facsimile, e-mail or otherwise, (b) on the first
Business Day following the date of dispatch if delivered utilizing a next-day service by a recognized next-day courier or (c) on the earlier of confirmed
receipt or the fifth Business Day following the date of mailing if delivered by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. All
notices hereunder shall be delivered to the addresses set forth below, or pursuant to such other instructions as may be designated in writing by the party
to receive such notice:
 

 (i) if to the Company, to:

Thomas Publishing Company
5 Penn Plaza
New York NY 10001
Attention: Mitch Peipert

E-mail: mpeipert@thomasnet.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Winston & Strawn LLP
200 Park Ave,
New York, NY 10166
Attention: Jonathan Birenbaum
E-mail: JBirenbaum@winston.com
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 (ii) if to the Buyer, to:

Xometry, Inc.
7529 Standish Place, Suite 200
Derwood, Maryland 20855
Attention: Legal Department
E-mail: legal@xometry.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Baker Hostetler LLP
One North Wacker Drive, Suite 4500
Chicago, IL 60606
Attention: Adam Skilken
Facsimile: (312) 216-9980
E-mail: askilken@bakerlaw.com

 

 (iii) if to the Shareholders’ Representative, to:

Shareholder Representative Services LLC
950 17th Street, Suite 1400
Denver, CO 80202
Attention: Managing Director
Email: deals@srsacquiom.com
Telephone: (303) 648-4085

Section 10.5 Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to a Section, Article, Exhibit or Schedule such reference shall be to a
Section, Article, Exhibit or Schedule of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement or in
any Exhibit or Schedule are for convenience of reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
All words used in this Agreement will be construed to be of such gender or number as the circumstances require. Any capitalized terms used in any
Exhibit or Schedule but not otherwise defined therein shall have the meaning as defined in this Agreement. All Exhibits and Schedules annexed hereto
or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth herein. The word “including” and words of similar
import when used in this Agreement will mean “including, without limitation,” unless otherwise specified. The words “hereof,” “herein” and
“hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to the Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision in this
Agreement. The term “or” is not exclusive. The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall.” References to
days mean calendar days unless otherwise specified. Except as otherwise provided herein, all accounting terms used herein and not expressly defined
herein shall have the meanings given to them under GAAP.
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Section 10.6 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the Exhibits and Schedules hereto), the Ancillary Agreements and the Confidentiality
Agreement constitute the entire agreement, and supersede all prior written agreements, arrangements, communications and understandings and all prior
and contemporaneous oral agreements, arrangements, communications and understandings among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof
and thereof. Neither this Agreement nor any Ancillary Agreement shall be deemed to contain or imply any restriction, covenant, representation,
warranty, agreement or undertaking of any party with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby other than those expressly set forth
herein or therein or in any document required to be delivered hereunder or thereunder, including, without limitation, any implied covenants regarding
noncompetition or nonsolicitation, and none shall be deemed to exist or be inferred with respect to the subject matter hereof. Notwithstanding any oral
agreement or course of conduct of the parties or their Representatives to the contrary, no party to this Agreement shall be under any legal obligation to
enter into or complete the transactions contemplated hereby unless and until this Agreement shall have been executed and delivered by each of the
parties.

Section 10.7 Parties in Interest. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each party hereto and the Shareholders,
and nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any Person other than the parties and their respective successors
and permitted assigns any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement, except with respect
to the provisions of Section 5.12 and Article VIII, which shall inure to the benefit of the Persons benefiting therefrom who are intended to be third-party
beneficiaries thereof.

Section 10.8 Governing Law. This Agreement and all disputes or controversies arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby (in contract or tort) shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of Delaware, without
regard to the laws of any other jurisdiction that might be applied because of the conflicts of laws principles of Delaware.

Section 10.9 Submission to Jurisdiction. Each of the parties irrevocably agrees that any legal action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this
Agreement brought by any party or its successors or assigns against any other party shall be brought and determined in the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware; provided, that if jurisdiction is not then available in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, then any such legal action or
proceeding may be brought in any federal court located in the State of Delaware or any other Delaware state court. Each of the parties hereby
irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts for itself and with respect to its property, generally and unconditionally, with
regard to any such action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. Each of the parties agrees
not to commence any action, suit or proceeding relating thereto except in the courts described above in Delaware, other than actions in any court of
competent jurisdiction to enforce any judgment, decree or award rendered by any such court in Delaware as described herein. Each of the parties further
agrees that notice as provided herein shall constitute sufficient service of process and the parties further waive any argument that such service is
insufficient. Each of the parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion or as a defense, counterclaim
or otherwise, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, (a) any claim that it is
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not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the courts in Delaware as described herein for any reason, (b) that it or its property is exempt or immune
from jurisdiction of any such court or from any legal process commenced in such courts (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to
judgment, attachment in aid of execution of judgment, execution of judgment or otherwise) and (c) that (i) the suit, action or proceeding in any such
court is brought in an inconvenient forum, (ii) the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is improper or (iii) this Agreement, or the subject matter
hereof, may not be enforced in or by such courts.

Section 10.10 Disclosure Generally. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Disclosure Schedules or in this Agreement, the
information and disclosures contained in any Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed to be disclosed and incorporated by reference in any other Disclosure
Schedule as though fully set forth in such Disclosure Schedule but only to the extent such information and disclosure is reasonably apparent on its face.
The fact that any item of information is disclosed in any Disclosure Schedule shall not be construed to mean that such information is required to be
disclosed by this Agreement. Such information and the dollar thresholds set forth herein shall not be used as a basis for interpreting the terms “material”
or “Material Adverse Effect” or other similar terms in this Agreement.

Section 10.11 Assignment; Successors. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement may be
assigned or delegated, in whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise, by either party without the prior written consent of the other party, and any
such assignment without such prior written consent shall be null and void; provided, however, that the Buyer may assign this Agreement to any Affiliate
of the Buyer or to any purchaser of the stock or all or substantially all of the assets of the Company without the prior consent of the Company; provided
further, that no assignment shall limit the assignor’s obligations hereunder. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon,
inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 10.12 Enforcement. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were
not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. Accordingly, each of the parties shall be entitled to specific
performance of the terms hereof, including an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and
provisions of this Agreement in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; provided, that if jurisdiction is not then available in the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware, then in any federal court located in the State of Delaware or any other Delaware state court, this being in addition to
any other remedy to which such party may be entitled at law or in equity. Each of the parties hereby further waives (a) any defense in any action for
specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate and (b) any requirement under any law to post security as a prerequisite to obtaining
equitable relief.

Section 10.13 Currency. All references to “dollars,” “U.S. Dollars,” “$” or “US$” in this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement refer to the
lawful currency of the United States dollars.
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Section 10.14 Severability. Whenever possible, each provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner
as to be effective and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect under any applicable Law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other
provision or portion of any provision in such jurisdiction, and this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such
invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or portion of any provision had never been contained herein. Upon such determination that any provision, or
the application of any such provision, is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to
effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law in an acceptable manner to the end that the
transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the greatest extent possible.

Section 10.15 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO
A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR
ANY OTHER AGREEMENTS EXECUTED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY AND
THEREBY. NO PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT SHALL SEEK A JURY TRIAL IN ANY LAWSUIT, PROCEEDING, COUNTERCLAIM OR ANY
OTHER LITIGATION PROCEDURE BASED UPON, OR ARISING OUT OF, THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY RELATED INSTRUMENTS. NO
PARTY WILL SEEK TO CONSOLIDATE ANY SUCH ACTION IN WHICH A JURY TRIAL HAS BEEN WAIVED WITH ANY OTHER ACTION
IN WHICH A JURY TRIAL CANNOT BE OR HAS NOT BEEN WAIVED. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT CERTIFIES THAT IT HAS
BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT OR INSTRUMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND
CERTIFICATIONS SET FORTH ABOVE IN THIS SECTION 10.15. NO PARTY HAS IN ANY WAY AGREED WITH OR REPRESENTED TO
ANY OTHER PARTY THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION 10.15 WILL NOT BE FULLY ENFORCED IN ALL INSTANCES.

Section 10.16 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same
instrument and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party.

Section 10.17 Facsimile or .pdf Signature. This Agreement may be executed by facsimile or .pdf signature and a facsimile or .pdf signature shall
constitute an original for all purposes.

Section 10.18 No Presumption Against Drafting Party. Each of the Buyer, Merger Sub and the Company acknowledge that each of the Buyer,
Merger Sub and the Company has been represented by legal counsel in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. Accordingly, any rule of law or any legal decision that would require interpretation of any claimed ambiguities in this Agreement against
the drafting party has no application and is expressly waived.

Section 10.19 Prevailing Party. If there shall occur any dispute or proceeding among the parties relating to this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby, the non-prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) of the
prevailing party.
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Section 10.20 Shareholders’ Representative.

(a) By virtue of its receipt of the portion of the Per Share Merger Consideration that is payable at Closing, each Shareholder shall be
deemed to have irrevocably appointed Shareholder Representative Services LLC, as of Closing, as the representative, agent and true and lawful attorney
in fact of and for such Shareholder in connection with this Agreement and any related agreements and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
and as the Shareholders’ Representative for all purposes under this Agreement including the full power and authority to act on such Shareholder’s
behalf: (i) to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) to negotiate disputes arising under, or relating to, this Agreement; (iii) to
withhold any amounts received on behalf of the Shareholders pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise to satisfy any and all obligations or liabilities
incurred by the Shareholders or the Shareholders’ Representative in the performance of its duties hereunder; (iv) to execute and deliver any amendment
or waiver to this Agreement (without the prior approval of the shareholders); and (v) to take all other actions to be taken by or on behalf of the
Shareholders in connection with this Agreement. The Shareholders further agree that such agency and proxy are coupled with an interest, are therefore
irrevocable without the consent of the Shareholders’ Representative and shall survive the death, incapacity, bankruptcy, dissolution or liquidation of any
Shareholder. All decisions and actions by the Shareholders’ Representative shall be binding upon all Shareholders, and no Shareholder shall have the
right to object, dissent, protest or otherwise contest the same. The Shareholders’ Representative shall have no duties or obligations hereunder, including
any fiduciary duties, except those set forth herein, and such duties and obligations shall be determined solely by the express provisions of this
Agreement.

(b) The Shareholders’ Representative will incur no liability in connection with its services pursuant to this Agreement and any related
agreements except to the extent resulting from its gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Shareholders’ Representative shall not be liable for any
action or omission pursuant to the advice of counsel. The Shareholders shall severally, for itself only and not jointly, based on the amount of the
Transaction Percentage received by each Shareholder compared to the amount of Transaction Percentage received by all Shareholders, indemnify the
Shareholders’ Representative against any reasonable, documented, and out-of-pocket losses, liabilities and expenses (“Representative Losses”) arising
out of or in connection with this Agreement and any related agreements, in each case as such Representative Loss is suffered or incurred; provided, that
in the event that any such Representative Loss is finally adjudicated to have been caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the
Shareholders’ Representative, the Shareholders’ Representative will reimburse the Shareholders the amount of such indemnified Representative Loss to
the extent attributable to such gross negligence or willful misconduct. Representative Losses may be recovered by the Shareholders’ Representative
from (i) the funds in the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Holdback Amount and (ii) any other funds that become payable to the Shareholders
under this Agreement at such time as such amounts would otherwise be distributable to the Shareholders; provided, that while the Shareholders’
Representative may be paid from the aforementioned sources of funds, this does not relieve the Shareholders from their obligation to promptly pay such
Representative Losses as they are suffered or incurred. In no event will the Shareholders’ Representative be required to advance its own funds on behalf
of the Shareholders or otherwise. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any restrictions or limitations on liability or
indemnification obligations of, or provisions limiting the recourse against non-parties otherwise applicable to, the Shareholders set forth elsewhere in
this Agreement are not intended to be applicable to the indemnities provided to the Shareholders’ Representative hereunder. The foregoing indemnities
will survive the Closing, the resignation or removal of the Shareholders’ Representative or the termination of this Agreement.
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(c) Upon the Closing, the Company will wire the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Holdback Amount to the Shareholders’
Representative, which will be used for any expenses incurred by the Shareholders’ Representative. The Shareholders will not receive any interest or
earnings on the Shareholders’ Representative Expense Holdback Amount and irrevocably transfer and assign to the Shareholders’ Representative any
ownership right that they may otherwise have had in any such interest or earnings. The Shareholders’ Representative will hold these funds separate from
its corporate funds and will not voluntarily make these funds available to its creditors in the event of bankruptcy. As soon as practicable following the
completion of the Shareholders’ Representative’s responsibilities, the Shareholders’ Representative will deliver any remaining balance of the
Shareholders’ Representative Expense Holdback Amount to the Exchange Agent for further distribution to the Shareholders. For tax purposes, the
Shareholders’ Representative Expense Holdback Amount will be treated as having been received and voluntarily set aside by the Shareholders at the
time of Closing.

(d) In the event that the Shareholders’ Representative becomes unable or unwilling to continue in its capacity as Shareholders’
Representative, or if the Shareholders’ Representative resigns as the Shareholders’ Representative, a majority-in-interest of the Shareholders may, by
written consent, appoint a new representative as the Shareholders’ Representative. Notice and a copy of the written consent appointing such new
representative and bearing the signatures of a majority-in-interest of the Shareholders must be delivered to the Buyer and each Shareholder. Such
appointment will be effective upon the later of the date indicated in the consent or the date such consent is received by the Buyer. For the purposes of
this Section 10.20, a “majority-in-interest of the Shareholders” means Shareholders holding rights to more than 50% of the Estimated Merger
Consideration based on their respective Transaction Percentages.

(e) From and after the Effective Time, Buyer shall cause the Surviving Company to provide the Shareholders’ Representative with
reasonable access to information about the Surviving Company for purposes of performing his or her duties and exercising his or her rights and
obligations under this Agreement, provided that the Shareholders’ Representative shall treat confidentially any nonpublic information the Shareholders’
Representative receives from Buyer regarding the Buyer and the Surviving Company.

(f) From and after the Effective Time, a decision, act, consent or instruction of the Shareholders’ Representative shall constitute a decision
of all Shareholders and shall be final, binding and conclusive upon each Shareholder, and Buyer may rely upon any decision, act, consent or instruction
of the Shareholders’ Representative as being the decision, act, consent or instruction of each Shareholder. Buyer and Surviving Company are hereby
relieved from any liability to any person for any acts done by Shareholders’ Representative and any acts done by Buyer or Surviving Company in
accordance with any such decision, act, consent or instruction of the Shareholders’ Representative.
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(g) The Buyer shall be entitled to rely upon any action or decision of, or instruction by, or any document or other paper delivered by, the
Shareholders’ Representative on behalf of the Shareholders (without any obligation to inquire into the authority of the Shareholders’ Representative or
the genuineness or correctness of such document or other paper or any signature of the Shareholders’ Representative), and the Buyer shall not be liable
to any Shareholder for any action taken or omitted to be taken by the Buyer in such reliance or with respect to actions, decisions and determinations of
the Shareholders’ Representative.

Section 10.21 Legal Counsel Privileged Information; Waiver of Conflict of Interest.

(a) The Buyer, for itself, Merger Sub, the Company, the Company’s Subsidiaries, and its and each of their respective successors and
assigns, hereby irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that all attorney-client privileged communications between the Shareholders, the Group
Companies and their respective counsel prior to Closing, including, without limitation, Winston & Strawn LLP (“Winston”), made in connection with
the negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery and closing under, or any dispute or proceeding arising under or in connection with this Agreement or
the transactions contemplated hereby shall continue after the Closing to be privileged communications with such counsel and neither Buyer, Merger Sub
nor any Person purporting to act on behalf of or through Buyer or Merger Sub, shall seek to obtain the same by any process on the grounds that the
privilege attaching to such communications belongs to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, and not the Shareholders.

(b) If the Shareholders’ Representative so desires, and without the need for any consent or waiver by the Company or the Buyer, Winston
shall be permitted to represent the Shareholders’ Representative after the Closing in connection with any matter, including without limitation anything
related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any disagreement or dispute relating thereto. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, after the Closing, Winston shall be permitted to represent the Shareholders’ Representative, any of its agents and affiliates, or any one or
more of them, in connection with any negotiation, transaction or dispute (“dispute” includes litigation, arbitration or other adversary proceeding) with
the Buyer, the Company or any of their agents or Affiliates under or relating to this Agreement, any transaction contemplated by this Agreement, and
any related matter, such as claims for indemnification and disputes involving employment or noncompetition or other agreements entered into in
connection with this Agreement, whether or not such matter is substantially related to any prior representation by Winston of the Company.

(c) The Shareholders’ Representative, the Company, the Buyer and Merger Sub (on behalf of the Surviving Company) consent to the
foregoing arrangements and waive any actual or potential conflict of interest that may be involved in connection with any representation by Winston
permitted hereunder.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company, the Shareholders’ Representative, the Buyer and the Merger Sub have caused this Agreement to be
executed as of the date first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.
 

THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY

By:   
 Name:                   
 Title:                   

SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE SERVICES LLC

By:   
 Name:                   
 Title:                   

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER]



BUYER

XOMETRY, INC.

By:  
Name:                   
Title:                   

MERGER SUB

NAASOM MERGER SUB INC.

By:  
Name:                   
Title:                   

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER]



Exhibit 99.1

Xometry Acquires Thomas, Accelerating the Manufacturing Industry’s Digital Transformation
 

 •  Accelerates Growth of Xometry’s Marketplace
 

 •  Creates Exceptional Scale of Buyers and Manufacturers
 

 •  Establishes End-to-End Suite of Seller Services, Including Additional Fintech, Digital Marketing Products
 

 •  Enhances Margins and Accelerates Path to Profitability

ROCKVILLE, MD – Dec. 8, 2021 – Xometry (NASDAQ: XMTR), the global marketplace for on-demand manufacturing, today announced the
acquisition of Thomas (Thomasnet.com®), a leader in product sourcing, supplier selection and digital marketing solutions. The cash and stock
transaction, valued at $300 million, is expected to close this week. Xometry’s rapidly growing digital marketplace provides real-time access to global
manufacturing capacity and demand, helping accelerate the digitization of the manufacturing industry.

The acquisition of Thomas is expected to rapidly expand Xometry’s buyer and seller base, significantly enhancing Xometry’s global digital marketplace
for manufacturers. Xometry also expects to leverage Thomas’ marketing and data services to deliver an unmatched suite of end-to-end services for
sellers with additional fintech and digital marketing products.

“Xometry and Thomas share a common mission of championing the digital transformation of the manufacturing industry, one of the largest sectors of
the global economy and the foundation for innovation everywhere,” said Randy Altschuler, CEO of Xometry. “Thomas brings strong brand equity,
trusted and extensive relationships, proprietary data and advanced full-funnel marketing services – assets that perfectly complement our digital
marketplace. Together, we will introduce new services, cross-sell to our combined base and expand our suite of products, particularly in fintech and
digital marketing.”

“Thomas has a long and proud history of bringing active buyers and sellers together on our Thomasnet.com platform and providing the data and
marketing services that inform decision-making,” said Tony Uphoff, President and Chief Executive Officer of Thomas. “In joining forces with Xometry,
we’re uniting our products with the power of the Xometry marketplace so we can do even more for industry together.”



An industry leader in on-demand manufacturing, Xometry connects enterprise buyers across industries such as aerospace, consumer products, defense,
industrial, automotive, medical, energy, robotics, green-tech and more with sellers of custom-manufactured parts worldwide. At the end of Q3 2021,
Xometry had 26,187 active buyers, including nearly 30% of the Fortune 500. Leveraging AI and machine-learning technology, the Xometry marketplace
provides immediate pricing, delivery lead times and quality assurance in a highly fragmented environment, as well as a suite of financial products that
enable manufacturers to grow their businesses.

Thomas brings deep relationships with highly qualified enterprise buyers and engineers. The company’s industry leading Thomasnet.com platform
boasts more than 1.3 million registered users (including 93 percent of Fortune 1000 companies) and more than 500,000 commercial and industrial
sellers, including 45,000 diversity certified sellers. Every year, more than 20 million sourcing sessions are initiated on Thomasnet.com, generating
extensive first-party buyer intent data across multiple sectors.

Transaction Details

Under the terms of the deal, Xometry is acquiring Thomas on a cash-free, debt-free basis for $300 million subject to customary adjustments –
approximately $198.5 million in cash and $101.5 million in Xometry’s Class A common stock.

The acquisition is expected to be immediately accretive to gross margin and Adjusted EBITDA margin. We expect the deal to accelerate our path to
profitability and expect full year profitability in 2023. Based on anticipated revenue synergies, we expect the pro forma company revenue growth rate to
be consistent with Xometry’s expected revenue growth on a standalone basis in 2022.

Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC acted as the financial advisor and BakerHostetler acted as the legal advisor to Xometry. DC Advisory US acted as the
financial advisor and Winston & Strawn LLP as the legal advisor to Thomas.

Investor Presentation & Conference Call

Xometry has published a presentation to its investor relations website at https://investors.xometry.com.

Xometry management will host a conference call at 8:30 a.m. today, Dec. 8, to discuss the acquisition.



Conference Dial-In Numbers:

Conference ID: 1193859

Participant Toll-Free Dial-In Number: 18773132061

Participant International Dial-In Number: 14704959537

# # #

About Xometry

Xometry is a leading digital marketplace for on-demand manufacturing, transforming one of the largest industries in the world. Xometry uses its
proprietary technology to create a marketplace that enables buyers to efficiently source on-demand manufactured parts and assemblies, and empowers
sellers of manufacturing services to grow their businesses. Xometry’s buyers range from self-funded startups to Fortune 100 companies.

Media Contacts:

Matthew Hutchison for Xometry
415-583-2119
Matthew.Hutchison@Xometry.com

Investor Contact:

Shawn Milne
240-335-8132
Shawn.Milne@Xometry.com

Source: Xometry, Inc.



Exhibit 99.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

We have issued our report dated December 2, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Thomas Publishing Company included in
the current report of Xometry, Inc. on Form 8-K dated December 7, 2021. We consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration
Statements of Xometry, Inc. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-258432 and File No. 333-257671).

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
December 7, 2021
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GRANT THORNTON LLP
757 Third Ave., 9th Floor
New York, NY
10017-2013
 

D    +1 212 599 0100
F    +1 212 370 4520   

 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

  

 
Board of Directors and Stockholders
Thomas Publishing Company
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Thomas Publishing Company (a
New York corporation) and subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of September 30,
2021 and 2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes in
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

 
Auditor’s responsibility
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

 
 
 

GT.COM
  

 

Grant Thornton LLP is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and each of
its member firms are separate legal entities and are not a worldwide partnership.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

 
Opinion
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Thomas Publishing Company and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2021 and 2020,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
/s/ Grant Thornton LLP
 
New York, New York
December 2, 2021
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets    
As of September 30, 2021 and 2020    
 
 
   2021    2020  
ASSETS     
CURRENT ASSETS     

Cash   $ 2,334,411   $ 5,638,544 
Short-term investments    632,900    1,042,938 

    
 

    
 

Total cash and cash equivalents    2,967,311    6,681,482 
Marketable securities    26,897,307    22,267,190 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,267,470 in 2021 and $1,096,234 in 2020    4,174,739    4,725,947 
Notes receivable and accrued interest    88,963    83,936 
Advance payments to contractors, net of the allowance of $27,391 in 2021 and $105,256 in 2020    1,482,000    2,086,849 
Prepaid and deferred salespersons’ commissions    4,788,601    4,756,597 
Other prepaid and deferred expenses    1,405,088    1,072,503 

    
 

    
 

Total current assets    41,804,009    41,674,504 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization    952,905    931,228 
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS     

Investments in and advances to joint venture    340,070    293,998 
Other assets    1,316,486    1,254,880 

    
 

    
 

Total    1,656,556    1,548,878 
    

 
    

 

   $ 44,413,470   $ 44,154,610 
    

 

    

 

The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated financial statements    
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets    
As of September 30, 2021 and 2020    
 
 
   2021   2020  
CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Line of credit   $ 6,000,000  $ 6,000,000 
Trade accounts payable    1,449,329   1,672,272 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    3,455,025   3,677,099 
Unearned revenues    4,059,004   4,145,225 

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    14,963,358   15,494,596 
LONG TERM LIABILITIES    

PPP Loan    —     4,337,500 
Deferred rent obligations    1,854,374   2,092,478 
Income taxes payable    1,516,003   1,173,989 
Deferred income taxes    16,341   55,361 

    
 

   
 

   3,386,718   7,659,328 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)    

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Second preferred stock, 6%, $100 par and liquidating value; authorized, issued and outstanding, 1,400 shares    140,000   140,000 
Class A common stock, $0.10 par value; authorized, 17,500,000 shares; issued, 2,025,000 shares, outstanding,

1,970,000 shares    202,500   202,500 
Class B common stock, $0.10 par value; authorized, 3,500,000 shares; issued, 405,000 shares, outstanding,

400,000 shares    40,500   40,500 
Retained earnings    26,346,797   21,518,082 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    53,597   (180,396) 

    
 

   
 

   26,783,394   21,720,686 
    

 
   

 

Less common stock in treasury, at cost    
Class A common stock, 55,000 shares    (660,000)   (660,000) 
Class B common stock, 5,000 shares    (60,000)   (60,000) 

    
 

   
 

   (720,000)   (720,000) 
    

 
   

 

   26,063,394   21,000,686 
    

 
   

 

  $ 44,413,470  $ 44,154,610 
    

 

   

 

 
The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated financial statements    
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES    
Consolidated Statement Of Operations and Comprehensive Income    
For the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020    
 
 
   2021   2020  
Revenue   $66,585,827  $64,688,929 
Cost of revenue    9,809,072   8,606,712 

    
 

   
 

Gross profit    56,776,755   56,082,217 
    

 
   

 

OPERATING EXPENSES    
Product development    4,724,230   4,899,740 
Operations and support    10,938,519   9,770,385 
Sales and marketing    23,617,555   21,043,949 
General and administrative    19,648,307   19,713,254 

    
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    58,928,611   55,427,328 
    

 
   

 

(Loss)/income from operations    (2,151,856)   654,889 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)    
Gain on forgiveness of paycheck protection loan payable    4,337,500   —   
Gain on marketable securities    4,197,108   1,839,436 
Other income (loss), net    201,475   (196,253) 

    
 

   
 

Total other income, net    8,736,083   1,643,183 
    

 
   

 

Income before equity in income of joint venture    6,584,227   2,298,072 

Equity in income of joint venture    746,072   324,074 
    

 
   

 

Income before income tax provision    7,330,299   2,622,146 

Income tax provision/(benefit)    312,784   (184,600) 
    

 
   

 

Net income    7,017,515   2,806,746 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)    
Foreign currency translation adjustments    230,987   (170,908) 
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on debt securities, net of tax   

Net unrealized gain (loss) arising in period    18,141   (28,459) 
Reclassification adjustment (loss) gain included in net income    (15,135)   2,957 

    
 

   
 

Comprehensive income   $ 7,251,508  $ 2,610,336 
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated financial statements    
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement Of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity    
For the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020    
 
 

   Preferred Stock   
Class A & B

Common Stock   
Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)   Treasury Stock  

Total
Stockholders’

Equity  
Balance at September 30, 2019   $  140,000   $  243,000   $ 10,855,279  $ 10,060,871  $  (720,000)  $ 20,579,150 
Cumulative impact from adoption of ASU

2016-01 - reclassification of realized gain on
equity marketable securities        10,044,857   (10,044,857)    —   

Net income        2,806,746     2,806,746 
Dividends declared on          

Preferred Stock @ $6 per share        (8,400)     (8,400) 
Common stock @ $0.92 per share        (2,180,400)     (2,180,400) 

Other comprehensive income (loss)          
Foreign currency adjustment         (170,908)    (170,908) 
Change in unrealized gain on debt securities          

- Net unrealized loss arising in period         (28,459)    (28,459) 
- Reclassification adjustment: loss

included in net income         2,957    2,957 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at September 30, 2020    140,000    243,000    21,518,082   (180,396)   (720,000)   21,000,686 
Net income        7,017,515     7,017,515 
Dividends declared on          

Preferred Stock @ $6 per share        (8,400)     (8,400) 
Common stock @ $0.92 per share        (2,180,400)     (2,180,400) 

Other comprehensive income (loss)          
Foreign currency adjustment         230,987    230,987 
Change in unrealized gain on debt securities          

- Net unrealized gain arising in period         18,141    18,141 
- Reclassification adjustment: gain

included in net income         (15,135)    (15,135) 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at September 30, 2021   $ 140,000   $ 243,000   $ 26,346,797  $ 53,597  $  (720,000)  $ 26,063,394 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated financial statements    
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows    
For the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020    
 
 
   2021   2020  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Net income   $ 7,017,515  $ 2,806,746 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in Operating activities   
Depreciation and amortization    250,125   287,523 
Investment written off    —     500,000 
Gain on forgiveness on paycheck protection program loan    (4,337,500)   —   
Provision for losses on trade accounts receivable    348,421   321,808 
Equity income of joint venture    (746,072)   (324,074) 
Gain on marketable securities    (4,193,933)   (1,839,436) 
Deferred rent obligations    (238,104)   (94,115) 
Deferred income taxes    (39,020)   479 
Income tax payable    342,014   (195,440) 
Dividends received from joint venture    700,000   300,000 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities    

Trade accounts receivable    202,787   (2,824,415) 
Advance payments to contractors, net    604,849   383,454 
Prepaid and deferred salesmen’s commissions    (32,004)   (506,995) 
Other prepaid and deferred expenses    (332,585)   399,779 
Other assets    (61,606)   (23,911) 
Trade accounts payable    14,124   408,458 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    (222,074)   (431,988) 
Unearned revenue    (86,221)   (1,321,266) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (809,284)   (2,153,393) 
    

 
   

 

   
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Acquisition of marketable securities    (25,232,126)   (1,704,971) 
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities    24,798,948   1,925,864 
Acquisition of property and equipment    (271,802)   (140,703) 
Change in notes receivable    —     4,841 

    
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities    (704,980)   85,031 
    

 
   

 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from line of credit    —     4,000,000 
Repayment of line of credit    —     (1,000,000) 
Proceeds from paycheck protection program loan    —     4,337,500 
Payment of dividends    (2,188,800)   (2,188,800) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities    (2,188,800)   5,148,700 
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate on foreign cash    (11,107)   (4,548) 
    

 
   

 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents    (3,714,171)   3,075,790 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    6,681,482   3,605,692 
    

 
   

 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 2,967,311  $ 6,681,482 
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 
1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Thomas Publishing Company (“TPCO”), a New York corporation, and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) is an Internet information intermediary
dedicated to enhancing buying and selling processes in the industrial sector. Its primary source of revenue derives from a Website designed for
supplier discovery into which it sells advertising to vendors located in the United States. In addition, it provides a wide range of Web services,
including cloud based software for advanced product data management and distribution. While its revenues are predominantly U.S. based, the
Company through its subsidiaries, engages in similar activities internationally.

Effective December 31, 2003, the Company formed a wholly owned subsidiary, Thomas Publishing Company, LLC (“TPCO LLC”), and
transferred all of TPCO’s assets and liabilities, except for its interest in: (i) its Intellectual Property (as defined in the Agreement) and (ii) certain
assets owned by TPCO, including marketable securities and other short-term investments. All assets and liabilities were transferred at their
respective book values since the entities are under common control.

As part of the agreement, TPCO and TPCO LLC entered into a licensing agreement to use the Intellectual Property and the Thomas Publishing
name. In consideration of the agreement, TPCO LLC will pay TPCO an annual license fee based on a mutually agreed-upon percentage of TPCO
LLC’s revenue. The fees and the corresponding expense of $3,000,000 for 2021 and 2020 are eliminated in consolidation.

In addition, in July 2007, TPCO LLC entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with TPCO whereby TPCO LLC could initially borrow up to a
maximum principal amount of $12 million at the prevailing prime rate plus 1%. On November 26, 2014, the maximum principal amount was
extended to $48 million. On June 30, 2021, through 6th amendment to this Loan and Security Agreement, the board resolved to increase the
maximum amount of this credit facility from $48 million to $57 million. At September 30, 2021 and 2020, $48 million was outstanding under this
agreement, as well as approximately $20,507,000 and $18,438,700, respectively, in accrued interest. The intercompany receivable and payable and
interest income and expense are eliminated in consolidation.

A summary of the significant accounting policies consistently applied in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements
follows.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of TPCO and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany account
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

The following is a listing of the Company’s subsidiaries as of September 30, 2021:
 

Name of Company   Report Caption
Thomas Publishing Company   TPCO
Thomas Publishing Company LLC (a subsidiary of Thomas Publishing Company)   TPCO LLC
Subsidiaries of Thomas Publishing Company LLC   

ThomComp Inc.   TCI
Thomas Industrial Network, Inc.   TIN
Industrial Information Network   TIN(1)
Business Communications Inc.   BCI
Product Information Network Inc.   BCI(2)
Thomas Regional Directory Co. Inc.   TRD
Thomas International Publishing Company Inc.   TIPCO
Thomas International Publishing Co. BV   TIPCO(3)

Thomas Global Register, LLC   TGR
Tarkmomas European Publishing Co.   Tarkmomas
Tarkpapas European Publishing Co.   Tarkpapas
Thomas International Publishing Co. - Japan KK   TIPCO Japan
Thomas International Publishing Co. - India Private Limited   TIPCO India
Thomas Industrial Networking Germany   TIN GmbH

Genicad, S.R.O.   TIN GmbH(4)
ThomasNet Incorporated   ThomasNet
TL Publiçaões Eletrônicas Ltda   TLPE
Incom Co. Ltd.   Incom(5)
Other   

Thomas International Publishing Company Europe V.O.F.   VOF(6)
Thomas International Publishing Company - Mexico   TIPCO Mexico(6)

 
(1) Combined into TIN for financial reporting purposes.
(2) Combined into BCI for financial reporting purposes.
(3) Combined into TIPCO for financial reporting purposes.
(4) Combined into TIN GmbH for financial reporting purposes.
(5) The Company holds 66.67% interest in Incom
(6) Partnership owned equally by Tarkmomas and Tarkpapas.

Investments in joint ventures and investments in more than 20%-owned affiliates are accounted for by the equity method. Under the equity
method, the Company recognizes its share of net income or loss of the entity for each period. Dividends received from these investments are
accounted for as a reduction of investments in and advances to joint ventures (See Note 4).
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Accordingly, short-term investments of approximately $633,000 and $1,043,000 at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, have been
reflected as cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.

Cash payments for income taxes were approximately $1,000 for each of the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020. Cash payment for interest
was $97,000 and $125,000 for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at year end and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. Significant estimates include the allowance for doubtful accounts, recoverability of advance payments made to outside contractors, the
valuation of the Company’s investment in joint ventures and the valuation of deferred income taxes.

Marketable Securities

The Company’s marketable securities include equity securities and debt securities. Equity securities with readily determinable fair values are
valued at such fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on equity securities are included in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income. Debt securities are accounted for as available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities represent those securities
that are actively traded and are carried at fair value, as determined by quoted market prices as of the end of the last trading date of the period. The
cost basis used in determining the net gain or loss on the sale of the marketable securities is the specific-identification method. Unrealized gains
and losses on debt securities are excluded from earnings and are reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity, net of applicable taxes,
until realized. The Company recorded a net unrealized gain and (losses) on available-for-sale debt securities of approximately $3,000 and
$(26,000) in stockholders’ equity for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are stated at historical value which approximates fair value. The Company does not generally require collateral for its
accounts receivable.

Accounts receivable have been reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the future. The allowance is based on a
combination of write-off history and aging analysis. Accounts receivable are written off when they are deemed to be uncollectible.
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

Deferred Salespersons’ Commissions

The Company capitalizes incremental costs of obtaining a revenue contract with a customer. The capitalized amounts consist of sales commissions
paid to the Company’s sales force. The Company amortizes such costs on a straight-line basis over the average customer life of two years for new
customers and over the renewal period for existing customers which is generally one year.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Major renewals and improvements of property, plant and equipment are capitalized, and repairs and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is provided principally using an accelerated method over the following useful lives:

 
   Years
Computer hardware and software   3 - 5
Furniture, fixtures and equipment   5 - 7

Amortization of leasehold improvements is provided on the straight-line method over their respective lives or over the terms of the applicable
leases, whichever is shorter.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically reviews the recoverability of long-lived assets, including property and equipment, whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. This evaluation is based on undiscounted cash flow projections.
The carrying amount is not recoverable if it exceeds the undiscounted sum of cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition
of the asset. If it is determined impairment has occurred, an impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the
asset exceeds its estimated fair value.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes the current and deferred tax consequences of all transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements using
the provisions of the enacted tax laws. Deferred tax assets are recognized for temporary differences that will result in deductible amounts in future
years. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for temporary differences that will result in taxable income in future years. Foreign taxes paid which
are available for credit are treated as a reduction of the federal income tax payable.

The Company follows the provisions related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, which require that income tax positions recognized in an entity’s tax returns have a
more-likely-than-not chance of being sustained prior to recording the related tax benefit in the financial statements. Tax benefits would be
derecognized if information became available which indicated that it was more likely than not that the position would not be sustained.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties associated with income tax matters as components of income taxes.
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign currency financial statements of foreign operations where the local currency is the functional currency are translated using exchange rates
in effect at period end for assets and liabilities and average exchange rates during the period for results of operations. Related translation
adjustments are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, until such time that the Company substantially liquidates
its investment in the foreign operation, at which time the related cumulative translation adjustment is realized through the consolidated statement
of operations and comprehensive income.

Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in earnings.

Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from intercompany transactions with subsidiaries that are denominated in the currency of the
subsidiaries are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations, unless the intercompany advance is considered permanent in nature.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue primarily result from purchase orders with customers and is recognized when control of the promised product or service (“product”) is
transferred to the customer, in an amount reflecting the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for such product.

A purchase order with a customer may involve multiple performance obligations, including a combination of some or all of the products.
Judgment may be required in determining whether products are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for
separately or as one combined performance obligation. Revenue is recognized over the period or at the point in time in which the performance
obligations are satisfied.

Internet Advertising Revenue
Internet advertising revenue, which includes ranking charges, and advertising, link and hosting fees, is based on the Company’s established
rate card and is recognized over time and measures its progress utitlizing an input method based on the related service period, which is
generally one year.

Implementation Revenue
Implementation revenue includes web and catalog production and is recognized over time as the services are performed, which is generally
one year.

Print and Electronic Revenue
Print revenue is derived from advertising in print directories and magazines, is recognized at a point in time upon publication of the
directories and magazines.

Electronic revenue is derived from advertising on other miscellaneous publication such as email newsletters, is recognized at a point in
time upon release.
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring the product. Consideration is
typically determined based on a fixed unit price for the quantity of product transferred. Certain contracts may give rise to an element of variable
consideration in the form of discounts, but such are not considered significant. For contracts involving variable consideration, the Company
estimates the transaction price based on the amount of consideration to which it expects to be entitled.

For purchase orders involving multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on relative
standalone selling price, and recognized as revenue when each individual product is transferred to the customer.

Payments received in advance are recorded as unearned revenues. Unearned revenues, which totaled approximately $4,059,000 and $4,145,000 as
of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, consisting principally of billed amounts for internet advertising services which will be recognized
as revenues over the remaining contract period, which is less than one year as well as for implementation fees for which services have not yet been
completed.

The Components of revenue by medium are as follows:
 

   2021    2020  
Revenue     

Internet revenue   $54,497,780   $53,042,228 
Implementation revenue    2,380,233    2,209,100 
Print and electronic revenue    11,831,825    10,417,753 

    
 

    
 

   68,709,838    65,669,081 
Less discounts    (703,426)    (645,886) 

Net change in unearned revenue    (1,420,585)    (334,266) 
    

 
    

 

Revenue   $66,585,827   $64,688,929 
    

 

    

 

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue includes the direct cost incurred in connection with selling an incremental product or service to customers. Cost of revenue is
primarily related to website building, hosting, internal and external production, and related payroll costs. Similar to revenue recognition, cost of
revenue is recognized at a point in time or over time in connection with the term of customer contracts.
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

Advertising

The Company expenses the cost of advertising as incurred. During the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company incurred
approximately $556,000 and $600,000, respectively, in advertising costs, which are included within sales and marketing expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and short-term investments,
marketable securities, trade receivables and notes receivable. Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is generally diversified
due to the large number of entities comprising the Company’s customer base and their dispersion across geographic areas. The Company does,
however, estimate potential uncollectible accounts receivable based on the historical trend of collections.

The Company maintains its domestic cash balances primarily in one financial institution located in New York City. At September 30, 2021 and
2020, these balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000 for each entity at each institution. At September 30,
2021 and 2020, uninsured amounts held at this financial institution totaled approximately $1,357,000 and $4,742,000, respectively. At
September 30, 2021 and 2020, uninsured amounts held in foreign financial institutions totaled approximately $505,000 and $557,000,
respectively.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of net earnings, foreign currency translation adjustments, and unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale
debt securities and is presented net of applicable taxes.

Accumulated other comprehensive income at September 30, 2021 and 2020 is comprised of an unrealized gain on debt securities of $5,000 and
$2,000, respectively, and cumulative foreign translation adjustments of $49,000 and $(182,000), respectively.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, notes payable and
marketable securities. With the exception of marketable securities and notes payable, the carrying amount of these instruments approximates fair
value due to the relatively short period of time to maturity for these instruments. The carrying value of the notes payable is deemed to approximate
fair value because the interest rate is indexed based on the current market interest rates.
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

The Company measures the fair value of its financial instruments following a framework that requires the use of valuation techniques that
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Observable inputs consist of market data obtained from
independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s own market assumptions. These inputs create the following fair value
hierarchy:

 

 Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
 

 Level 2 - Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or all other inputs
that are observable

 

 Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data which require the Company to develop its own assumptions

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of a financial instrument fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the financial instrument is
categorized based upon the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The following tables present the financial assets the Company measures at fair value on a recurring basis, based on the fair value hierarchy for
2021 and 2020, respectively:

 

   

Fair Value Measured and Recorded
at

September 30, 2021      
   Level 1    Level 2   Level 3   Total  
Marketable securities         

Equity securities   $17,705,122   $ —     $ —     $17,705,122 
Bonds    9,192,185    —      —      9,192,185 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $26,897,307   $ —     $ —     $26,897,307 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

Fair Value Measured and Recorded
at

September 30, 2020      
   Level 1    Level 2   Level 3   Total  
Marketable securities         

Equity securities   $18,331,033   $ —     $ —     $18,331,033 
Bonds    3,936,157    —      —      3,936,157 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $22,267,190   $ —     $ —     $22,267,190 
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The new standard will
supersede the existing guidance for lease accounting and states that companies will be required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the
balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. ASU No. 2016-02 requires qualitative and quantitative disclosures to
supplement the amounts recorded in the financial statements so that users can understand the nature of the entity’s leasing activities, including
significant judgments and changes in judgments. Within ASU No. 2016-02 lessor accounting remained fairly unchanged. In adopting ASU
No. 2016-02, companies will be required to use a modified retrospective approach for leases that exist or are entered into after the beginning of the
earliest comparative period in the financial statements. ASU No. 2016-02 is effective for the fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021 with
early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this ASU on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and
disclosures.

Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncement

On October 1, 2019, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standard Codification Topic 606 - Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). This guidance outlines a single, comprehensive model for accounting for revenue from contracts with
customers, providing a single five-step model to be applied to all revenue transactions. The guidance also requires improved disclosures to assist
user of the financial statements to better understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue that is recognized, and is effective for
nonpublic entities for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 (and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019). The
Company adopted this guidance on October 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of ASC 606 resulted in a
cumulative effect adjustment of $202,362 to the October 1, 2019 consolidated retained earnings balance relating to the deferral of certain
incremental costs of obtaining customer contracts that were previously expensed.

Revision of Previously Issued Financial Statements

On October 1, 2019, the Company adopted the accounting standards update ASU 2016-01 issued by the Financial Accounting Standards that
resulted in reclassification of unrealized gains on equity investments. The Company revised its September 30, 2020 financial statements, which
resulted in an increase of $10,045,000 in opening retained earnings and $1,916,000 in other income, net, with a corresponding decrease of
$10,045,000 in opening accumulated other comprehensive income and $1,916,000 in other comprehensive income, resulting in an increase of net
income of $1,916,000 during the year ended September 30, 2020. The financial statements and accompanying notes reflect this change. The result
of this revision did not have a material effect on the financial statements issued in the prior year.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications were made to prior period amounts to conform to the current period presentation.
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 
2. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

A summary of the cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities held by the Company follows:
 

   
September 30, 2021

Aggregate    
September 30, 2020

Aggregate  
   Cost Basis    Fair Value    Cost Basis    Fair Value  
Cash and cash equivalents         

Cash   $ 2,334,411   $ 2,334,411   $ 5,638,544   $ 5,638,544 
Short-term investments    632,900    632,900    1,042,938    1,042,938 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total cash and cash equivalents   $ 2,967,311   $ 2,967,311   $ 6,681,482   $ 6,681,482 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Marketable securities         
Equity securities   $15,478,080   $17,705,122   $ 6,369,863   $18,331,033 
Bonds    9,186,362    9,192,185    3,934,192    3,936,157 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total marketable securities   $24,664,442   $26,897,307   $10,304,055   $22,267,190 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

At September 30, 2021, the market value of the marketable securities exceeded the cost of these securities by approximately $2,233,000. This is
comprised of gross unrealized gains on these securities of approximately $2,657,000 and gross unrealized losses of approximately $424,000.

At September 30, 2020, the market value of the marketable securities exceeded the cost of these securities by approximately $11,963,000. This is
comprised of gross unrealized gains on these securities of approximately $12,352,000 and gross unrealized losses of approximately $389,000.

Investment income, which is included in other income on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, is summarized as
follows:

 
   Years Ended  

   
September 30,

2021    
September 30,

2020  
Net realized gain from sales of equity and debt securities   $13,930,383   $ (76,877) 
Dividend income    147,566    220,800 
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of the Company’s investments with unrealized losses that are deemed to be
only temporarily impaired, aggregated by investment category and length of time that the individual securities have been in a cumulative
unrealized loss position at September 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

September 30, 2021:
 
   Less Than 12 Months    12 Months or Greater    Total  

Category   Fair Value    Unrealized Loss   Fair Value   Unrealized Loss   Fair Value    Unrealized Loss 
Equity securities   $1,710,000   $ 192,000   $ 74,000   $ 223,000   $1,784,000   $ 415,000 
Bonds    524,000    9,000    —      —      524,000    9,000 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $2,234,000   $ 201,000   $ 74,000   $ 223,000   $2,308,000   $ 424,000 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

September 30, 2020:
 
   Less Than 12 Months    12 Months or Greater    Total  

Category   Fair Value    Unrealized Loss   Fair Value   Unrealized Loss   Fair Value    Unrealized Loss 
Equity securities   $483,000   $ 153,000   $ 74,000   $ 223,000   $ 557,000   $ 376,000 
Bonds    515,000    13,000    —      —      515,000    13,000 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $998,000   $ 166,000   $ 74,000   $ 223,000   $1,072,000   $ 389,000 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Management does not believe that an other-than-temporary impairment exists as management currently intends to hold the securities while in a
loss position until market conditions improve and believes that the Company has the ability to do so. Accordingly, the unrealized loss for the
above debt securities continues to be reflected as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet as of September 30, 2021.

 
3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following:
 

   September 30,  
   2021    2020  
Computer hardware and software   $ 35,083,654   $ 34,968,798 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment    1,889,143    1,943,957 
Leasehold improvements    1,227,652    1,108,589 

    
 

    
 

   38,200,449    38,021,344 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization    (37,247,544)    (37,090,116) 

    
 

    
 

Property and equipment, net   $ 952,905   $ 931,228 
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 
4. INVESTMENT IN AND ADVANCES TO JOINT VENTURE

The Company has an interest in the following joint venture as of September 30, 2021:
 

Company   
Percentage of

Ownership   
Country of

Organization  
Industrial Media LLC (IM, LLC)    50%   United States 

Summaries of the Company’s investment in this joint venture and of assets, liabilities and results of operations included on the equity method in
the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

 
   IM, LLC  
Balance at September 30, 2019   $ 269,924 

Transactions for the year ended   
September 30, 2020   

Equity in undistributed income    324,074 
Dividend received    (300,000) 

    
 

Balance at September 30, 2020    293,998 

Transactions for the year ended   
September 30, 2020   

Equity in undistributed income    746,072 
Dividend received    (700,000) 

    
 

Balance at September 30, 2021   $ 340,070 
    

 

The operating expenses of the joint venture include charges for various services and allocations of general overhead expenses provided by the
other party to the joint venture.

Summaries of assets, liabilities and results of operations of Joint Ventures consists of the following:
 

   IM, LLC  
Assets   $2,167,000 
Liabilities    37,000 
Revenue    4,781,000 
Expenses    3,319,000 
Net income    1,463,000 
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 
5. INCOME TAXES

Income tax (benefit) provision consists of the following:
 

   2021    2020  
Current     

Federal   $ —     $ —   
State    342,014    (175,440) 
Foreign    —      —   

    
 

    
 

   342,014    (175,440) 
Deferred     

Federal      —   
State    (29,230)    (9,160) 
Foreign    —      —   

    
 

    
 

   (29,230)    (9,160) 
    

 
    

 

  $312,784   $(184,600) 
    

 

    

 

The Company’s effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate primarily as a result of state/local income taxes, prior year provision to
return adjustments, and a change in the valuation allowance.

As of September 30, 2021, our deferred tax assets were primarily the result of U.S. net operating loss (“NOL”), capital loss, and tax credit
carryforwards. A valuation allowance of $11,036,000 and $10,800,000 was recorded against our net deferred tax asset balance as of September 30,
2021 and September 30, 2020, respectively.

As of September 30, 2021, the Company had NOL carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of $45,269,000, expiring through 2035. As of
September 30, 2021, the Company had NOL carryforwards for New York State and New York City income tax purposes of $6,711,000 and
$24,279,000, respectively, expiring 2035.

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit
use of the existing deferred tax assets. As of each reporting date, management considers new evidence, both positive and negative, that could
affect its view of the future realization of deferred tax assets. Accordingly, Management has considered the Company’s taxable temporary
differences as the most objective form of future taxable income. As a result, the Company has provided a valuation allowance against its net
deferred tax asset, including those relating to NOL carryforwards. The Company increased the valuation allowance by $263,000.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various state and local jurisdictions that have various statutes of limitation. As of
September 30, 2021, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal tax examination for years before 2016. All state and local jurisdictions open
by statute remain subject to audit. The 2017 through 2019 tax years remain subject to examination by federal taxing authorities.
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

Upon adoption of the accounting guidance for uncertainty in income tax positions, the Company’s material tax positions met the recognition
criteria. The Company has recorded $904,268 for accrued tax liability, $227,000 for accrued interest and $318,000 for accrued penalties as of
September 30, 2021; $623,000 for accrued tax liability, $229,000 for accrued interest and $316,000 for accrued penalties as of September 30,
2020. The Company does not expect uncertain tax positions to change significantly over the next 12 months.

 
6. DEBT

The Company maintains a $9,500,000 line of credit with a bank, bearing interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1.50% per annum and is
repayable on demand. At both September 30, 2021 and 2020, the available amount under the line of credit was $3,500,000. Advances against the
line of credit shall be secured by cash, marketable securities and other assets held in accounts at the bank or affiliates thereof. At both
September 30, 2021 and 2020, the outstanding line of credit balance was $6,000,000, and accrued interest was $0.

On April 5, 2020, the Company entered into a loan agreement under the Small Business Administration’s Paycheck Protection Program totaling
$4,337,500. The loan carries an interest rate of 0.98% per annum and matures after 24 months from the date of the loan. The Company received
full forgiveness of the loan on August 16, 2021 and has included the gain from the loan forgiveness in other income on the consolidated statement
of operations and comprehensive income.

Total interest expense on third-party indebtedness was $97,000 and $125,000 for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

 
7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT AND BONUS PLANS

The Company sponsors a profit-sharing and 401(k) defined contribution plan (the “Plan”) covering substantially all of its employees. Eligible
employees are permitted, in accordance with the provisions of section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, to contribute up to 35% of their
earnings to the Plan. Employer contributions to the Plan are based upon the discretion of the board of directors. The employer contributions made
to the Plan for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were $255,000 and $233,000, respectively.

The Company provides a corporate officers’ incentive plan covering corporate office management personnel. Payments under this plan are based
upon the attainment of profit and performance goals established by the Executive Committee. There were no contributions under this plan for the
years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020.

 
8. CAPITAL STOCK

The holders of Class B common stock are entitled to one vote for each one share held on all matters requiring a vote of stockholders and the
holders of Class A common stock have only limited voting rights regarding the election of 30% of the Board of Directors and other matters under
certain circumstances.
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THOMAS PUBLISHING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020
 
 

The second preferred stock, $100 par and liquidating value, is preferred as to 6% before any dividends are paid on the common stock and is
noncumulative and nonvoting.

 
9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases

The Company has entered into several noncancellable operating leases for equipment and real property having a remaining term in excess of one
year. Certain leases for real property contain escalation clauses.

The minimum annual rentals under these leases at September 30, 2021, are as follows:
 

   
Operating

Leases  
Year Ending September 30,   
2022   $2,590,000 
2023    2,809,000 
2024    2,878,000 
2025    2,875,000 
2026    982,000 

Total rent expense charged to operations amounted to approximately $3,550,000 and $3,034,000 in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Litigation

From time to time, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings, claims, and litigation arising from the ordinary course of business. With
the advice of legal counsel, management believes that the ultimate liability, if any, in excess of the amounts already recognized is not likely to
have a material adverse effect on the financial position and results of operations of the Company.

 
10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management evaluated events or transactions that occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date, through December 2, 2021, the date the
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, for recognition or disclosure.

On October 16, 2021, the Company entered into a business combination agreement with Xometry, Inc. (“Xometry”), a publicly traded company.
The contemplated deal will result in Xometry purchasing all of the Company’s outstanding shares in exchange for a combination of cash and
shares of Xometry. The proposed transaction is expected to be completed during the fourth quarter of calendar year 2021, subject to, among other
things, satisfaction of the conditions stated in the purchase agreement and other customary closing conditions. There is no assurance that the
transaction will be consummated.
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Exhibit 99.4

Xometry, Inc
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Information

On December 7, 2021, Xometry, Inc. (the “Company”) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) by and among
the Company, Thomas Publishing Company, a New York corporation (“Thomas”), NAASOM Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, as the shareholders’ representative thereunder.
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will be merged with and into Thomas, with Thomas continuing as the surviving company and becoming
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Acquisition”).

The aggregate consideration payable in exchange for all of the outstanding equity interests of Thomas is $300 million subject to customary
adjustments as set forth in the Merger Agreement, payable in cash and shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. The Company expects to pay
approximately $198.5 million of cash and to issue approximately 2,073,422 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock to holders of Thomas
shares. Holders of Thomas shares that are not accredited investors will receive all-cash consideration.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and related notes present our historical combined financial
statements and Thomas’ historical consolidated financial statements, after giving effect to the Merger. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information gives effect to our acquisition of Thomas based on the assumptions and adjustments described in the accompanying notes to the
unaudited pro forma combined financial information.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of September 30, 2021 combines the historical consolidated balance sheets of the
Company and Thomas, giving effect to the acquisition of Thomas as if it had been completed on September 30, 2021. The unaudited pro forma
condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 combine the historical consolidated statements of operations of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the historical consolidated statements of operations of Thomas for the year ended September 30,
2020, as if the acquisition had been completed on October 1, 2019, the beginning of the earliest period presented. The unaudited pro forma condensed
combined statement of operations for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021 is presented as if the acquisition had occurred on January 1,
2021, the beginning of the earliest period presented. The historical financial information is adjusted in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information to reflect the accounting for the transaction under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The determination and preliminary allocation of the purchase consideration used in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information are based upon preliminary estimates, which are subject to change during the measurement period (up to one year from the Acquisition
Date). In addition, the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is also subject to change pending final analysis by the Company.
The differences between this preliminary allocation and our final allocation could be material. The Company will finalize the purchase price allocation
as soon as practicable within the measurement period, but in no event later than one year following the Acquisition Date.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and the accompanying notes are presented for informational purposes only.
Such information is not necessarily indicative of the operating results or financial position that actually would have been achieved if the Merger had
been consummated on the dates indicated or that the combined company may achieve in future periods. The unaudited pro forma combined financial
information does not reflect any revenue synergies, operating efficiencies or cost savings that we may achieve.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is based upon, and should be read in conjunction with:
 

 •  The accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed combined pro forma financial statements;
 

 •  Our audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, included in our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on June 4, 2021;

 

 •  Our unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, included in
our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021, filed with the SEC on November 11, 2021; and

 

 •  Thomas’ audited financial statements and accompanying notes as of and for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, included in
Exhibit 99.3.

Accounting Periods Presented

Thomas’ historical fiscal year ends on September 30 and, for purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, its
historical results have been combined with our December 31 fiscal year end:
 

 •  The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of September 30, 2021 combines our historical results as of September 30,
2021 and Thomas’ historical results as of September 30, 2021;



 
•  The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, combines our

historical results for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, and Thomas’ historical results for the nine months ended September 30,
2021; and

 

 •  The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020, combines our historical
results for the year ended December 31, 2020, and Thomas’ historical results for the year ended September 30, 2020.



XOMETRY, INC.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET

As of September 30, 2021
 
 

  

Xometry,
Inc.

Unaudited   Thomas   

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments 

  

  

Xometry, Inc. Pro
Forma

Combined    Notes
Assets        
Current assets:        

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 57,778  $ 2,334  $ (1,334)  (1)   $ 58,778 
Short-term investments    —     633   —       633 
Marketable securities    266,739   26,897   (225,397)  (1),(2)    68,239 
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts    25,157   4,175   —       29,332 
Notes receivable and accrued interest    —     89   (71)  (3)    18 
Inventory    1,427   —     —       1,427 
Advance payments to contractors, net of the allowance    —     1,482   —       1,482 
Prepaid and deferred sales commissions    —     4,789   —       4,789 
Prepaid expenses    4,988   1,405   —       6,393 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Total current assets    356,089   41,804   (226,802)     171,091 
Property and equipment, net    8,615   953   —       9,568 
Operating and finance lease right-of-use assets    3,101   —     17,123  (4)    20,224 
Other assets    204   1,316   249  (4)    1,769 
Investment in joint venture    —     340   4,901  (5)    5,241 
Intangible assets, net    1,455   —     77,520  (6)    78,975 
Goodwill    833   —     213,816  (7)    214,649 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Total assets   $ 370,297  $44,413  $ 86,807    $ 501,517 
    

 

   

 

   

 

     

 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity        
Current liabilities:        

Accounts payable   $ 5,198  $ 1,449  $ —      $ 6,647 
Accrued expenses    17,487   3,454   7,000  (8)    27,941 
Contract liabilities    3,379   4,059   —       7,438 
Operating lease liabilities, current portion    1,108   —     4,044  (4)    5,152 
Finance lease liabilities, current portion    5   —     14  (4)    19 
Short-term debt    —     6,000   (6,000)  (9)    —   

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Total current liabilities    27,177   14,962   5,058     47,197 
Loan payable    —     —     —       —   
Deferred rent    —     1,854   (1,854)  (4)    —   
Income taxes payable    —     1,516   —       1,516 
Deferred income taxes    —     16   —       16 
Operating and finance lease liabilities, net of current portion    2,197   —     15,168  (4)    17,365 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Total liabilities    29,374   18,348   18,372     66,094 
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 

Commitments and contingencies        
Stockholders’ equity        

Preferred stock    —     140   (140)  (10)    —   
Class A common stock    —     203   (203)  (10)    —   
Class B common stock    —     41   (41)  (10)    —   
Treasury stock    —     (720)   720  (10)    —   
Additional paid-in capital    490,175   —     101,500  (11)    591,675 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income    186   54   (54)  (10)    186 
Accumulated deficit    (149,438)   26,347   (33,347)  (8),(10)    (156,438) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Total stockholders’ equity    340,923   26,065   68,435     435,423 
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 370,297  $44,413  $ 86,807    $ 501,517 
    

 

   

 

   

 

     

 

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements



XOMETRY, INC.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021
 

   
Xometry, Inc.

Unaudited   
Thomas

Unaudited  

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments  Notes   

Xometry, Inc.
Pro Forma
Combined  

Revenue   $ 151,238  $ 50,364   —      $ 201,602 
Cost of revenue    115,033   7,484   —       122,517 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Gross profit    36,205   42,880   —       79,085 
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 

Sales and marketing    26,250   17,827   3,923  (6)    48,000 
Operations and support    15,594   8,147   —       23,741 
Product development    12,131   3,520   90  (6)    15,741 
General and administrative    18,343   14,447   588  (6)    33,378 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Total operating expenses    72,318   43,941   4,601     120,860 
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 

Loss from operations    (36,113)   (1,061)   (4,601)     (41,775) 
Other (expenses) income        
Interest expense    (799)   (73)   73  (9),(12)    (799) 
Interest and dividend income    457   152   —    (12)    609 
Income from unconsolidated joint venture    —     640   —       640 
Other (expenses) income, net    (1,021)   6,916   (2,478)  (13)    3,417 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Total other expenses    (1,363)   7,635   (2,405)     3,867 
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 

(Loss) income before tax benefit    (37,476)   6,574   (7,006)     (37,908) 
Income tax provision    —     (313)   —       (313) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Net loss    (37,476)   6,261   (7,006)     (38,221) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders   $ (37,476)  $ 6,261  $ (7,006)    $ (38,221) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

     

 

Net loss per share, basic and diluted   $ (1.87)      $ (1.72) 
    

 

       

 

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding used to compute net loss per
share, basic and diluted    20,092,600    (11)    22,166,022 

    

 

       

 

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements



XOMETRY, INC.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
 

 

  

Xometry,
Inc. 

For the year
ended

December 31,
2020   

Thomas 
For the year

ended
September 30,

2020   

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments 

  

  

Xometry,
Inc. Pro
Forma

Combined    Notes
Revenue   $ 141,406  $ 64,689   —      $ 206,095 
Cost of revenue    108,120   8,607   —       116,727 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Gross profit    33,286   56,082   —       89,368 
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 

Sales and marketing    22,567   21,044   5,230  (6)    48,841 
Operations and support    14,111   9,770   —       23,881 
Product development    12,186   4,900   120  (6)    17,206 
General and administrative    12,046   19,713   627  (6)    32,386 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets    1,592   —     —       1,592 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Total operating expenses    62,502   55,427   5,977     123,906 
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 

(Loss) income from operations    (29,216)   655   (5,977)     (34,538) 
Other (expenses) income        
Interest expense, net    (1,089)   (125)   125  (9),(14)    (1,089) 
Income from unconsolidated joint venture    —     324   —       324 
Other (expenses) income, net    (780)   1,768   (1,839)  (15)    (851) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Total other (expense) income    (1,869)   1,967   (1,714)     (1,616) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 

(Loss) income before tax benefit    (31,085)   2,622   (7,691)     (36,154) 
Income tax benefit    —     185   —       185 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Net (loss) income    (31,085)   2,807   (7,691)     (35,969) 
Deemed dividend to preferred stockholders    (8,801)   —     —       (8,801) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders   $ (39,886)  $ 2,807  $ (7,691)    $ (44,770) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

     

 

Net loss per share, basic and diluted   $ (5.32)      $ (4.68) 
    

 

       

 

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding used to compute net loss per
share, basic and diluted    7,492,876    (11)    9,566,298 

    

 

       

 

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements



XOMETRY, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Basis of Pro Forma Presentation

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of September 30, 2021 combines the historical consolidated balance sheets of the
Company and Thomas, giving effect to the acquisition of Thomas as if it had been completed on September 30, 2021. The unaudited pro forma
condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 combine the historical consolidated statements of operations of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the historical consolidated statements of operations of Thomas for the year ended September 30,
2020, as if the acquisition had been completed on October 1, 2019, the beginning of the earliest period presented. The unaudited pro forma condensed
combined statement of operations for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021 is presented as if the acquisition had occurred on January 1,
2021, the beginning of the earliest period presented. The historical financial information is adjusted in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information to reflect the accounting for the transaction under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In this unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, we have accounted for the acquisition of Thomas using the acquisition method
of accounting in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 805, Business Combinations
(ASC 805). In accordance with ASC 805, we use our best estimates and assumptions to assign fair value to the tangible and intangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed at the Acquisition Date. Goodwill as of the Acquisition Date is measured as the excess of purchase consideration over the fair
value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information contains estimated adjustments, based upon available information and certain
assumptions Xometry believes are reasonable under the circumstances, including assumptions relating to the consideration paid and the allocation
thereof to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from Thomas based on preliminary estimates of fair value. The final purchase consideration and
allocation of the purchase consideration will be determined after final valuation procedures are performed and certain components of working capital
including income taxes, are finalized and may differ from the estimates reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is provided for illustrative purposes only and does not purport to represent what the
actual consolidated results of operations or the consolidated financial position of the combined company would have been had the acquisition occurred
on the dates assumed, nor are they necessarily indicative of future consolidated results of operations or financial position.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not reflect any revenue synergies, or cost savings or operating efficiencies,
that could result from the acquisition. Upon the acquisition of Thomas, the Company plans to eliminate certain of Thomas’ executives and board of
directors which will result in pretax savings of approximately $2.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and $2.7 million for year
ended December 31, 2020. These amounts are estimates and include forward looking information that is subject to the safe harbor protections of the
Securities Act of 1934, and actual results could differ materially from our estimates.

For the period from October 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020, Thomas had revenue of $16.2 million and net income of $0.8 million.

Note 2. Preliminary Purchase Consideration and Related Allocation

On or about December 10, 2021, we expect to acquire Thomas, a leader in product sourcing, supplier selection and digital marketing solutions. The
aggregate consideration payable in exchange for all of the outstanding equity interests of Thomas is $300 million subject to customary adjustments as
set forth in the Merger Agreement, payable in cash and shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. The Company expects to pay approximately
$198.5 million of cash and to issue approximately 2,073,422 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock to holders of Thomas shares.

The preliminary allocation of the purchase consideration and the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is subject to change
pending final analysis by the Company. The differences between this preliminary allocation and our final allocation could be material. The Company
will finalize the purchase price allocation as soon as practicable within the measurement period, but in no event later than one year following the
Acquisition Date. The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of purchase price to the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the Acquisition Date (in thousands):
 

Cash   $198,500 
Class A common stock    101,500 

    
 

Total fair value of consideration transferred   $300,000 
    

 

Recognized amount of assets and liabilities assumed:  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,000 
Short term investments    633 
Accounts receivable, net    4,175 
Notes receivable and accrued interest    18 
Advance payments to contractors, net of the allowance    1,482 
Prepaid and deferred sales commissions    4,789 
Prepaid expenses    1,405 
Property and equipment, net    953 
Operating and finance lease right-of-use assets    17,123 
Intangible assets    77,520 
Investment in joint ventures    5,241 
Other assets    1,566 
Accounts payable    (1,449) 
Accrued expenses    (3,454) 
Contract liabilities    (4,059) 
Lease liabilities    (19,227) 
Income taxes payable    (1,516) 
Deferred income taxes    (16) 

    
 

Total identifiable net assets assumed    86,184 
Goodwill    213,816 

    
 

Net purchase price    300,000 
    

 



The estimated fair value of identifiable intangible assets are as follows:
 

Customer relationships   $69,300 
Developed technology    600 
Database    2,400 
Trade names    1,300 
In-place lease asset    3,920 

    
 

Total identifiable intangible assets   $77,520 
    

 

The excess of the purchase price over the tangible assets acquired, identifiable intangible assets acquired and assumed liabilities was recorded as
goodwill. We believe the goodwill is attributable to expanded product offerings resulting from the integration of customer relationships and technology
combined with our existing marketplace and increased opportunities to successfully integrate our platforms which we expect will provide an enhanced
experience for both buyers and sellers. The acquired goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

Note 3. Pro Forma Adjustments

The pro forma adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information are as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

1. To reflect estimated cash acquired and to eliminate approximately $26.9 million of marketable securities which the Company will not acquire in
connection with the acquisition.

 

2. To record purchase consideration relating to the acquisition of Thomas including cash paid of $198.5 million, which was funded by the sale of
marketable securities in the amount of $198.5 million.

 

3. To record the acquired note receivable at its estimated fair value.
 

4. To record operating and finance lease right-of-use assets of $17.1 million and related operating and finance lease liabilities of $4.1 million and
$15.2 million, current portion and non-current portion, respectively, to eliminate historical non-current deferred rent of $1.9 million and to
reclassify $0.2 million of deferred rent assets related to subleases to reflect the adoption of ASU 2016-02, Leases, (Topic 842), as amended (ASC
842). Finance lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not material to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet.

 

5. To record the investment in the joint venture at its estimated fair value.
 

6. To record the preliminary fair value of identifiable intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisition and associated amortization
expenses:

 
               

Amortization Based on Preliminary
Fair Value  

               

For the nine
month period

ended    
For the year

ended  
       Estimated useful Life (in years)   Operating Expense Account    2021    2020  
Customer relationships   $69,300    15     Sales and marketing    $ 3,465   $ 4,620 
Developed technology    600    5     Product development     90    120 
Database    2,400    5     Sales and marketing     360    480 
Trade names    1,300    10     Sales and marketing     98    130 
In-place lease asset    3,920    Remaining lease term     General and administrative    588    627 

    
 

        
 

    
 

Total identifiable intangible assets   $77,520       $ 4,601   $ 5,977 
    

 

        

 

    

 

 
7. To record the preliminary fair value of goodwill of $213.8 million.
 

8. To reflect the accrual of $7.0 million of estimated transaction costs in connection with the acquisition with corresponding adjustment to
accumulated deficit.

 

9. To record the elimination of a $6.0 million line of credit which will not be assumed by the Company.
 

10. To eliminate Thomas’ historical preferred stock, Class A and Class B common stock, treasury stock, accumulated other comprehensive income
and accumulated deficit.

 

11. To reflect the issuance of 2,073,422 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock with a market value of $48.95 per share in connection with
the acquisition.

 

12. To reclassify and eliminate approximately $0.1 million of interest expense associated with the line of credit that the Company will not assume in
connection with the Thomas acquisition. We reclassified $0.2 million interest and dividend income to conform with the Company’s presentation.

 

13. To eliminate $2.5 million of gains related to marketable securities that Xometry will not assume in connection with the Thomas acquisition.
 

14. To reclassify and eliminate approximately $0.1 million of interest expense associated with the line of credit that the Company will not assume in
connection with the Thomas acquisition.

 

15. To eliminate $1.8 million of gains related to marketable securities that Xometry will not assume in connection with the Thomas acquisition.


